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Financial Highlights
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Enterprise Culture
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Vision
To build a leading & modern
energy company in China
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Missions heomEm Create value for our
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Develop clean energy "W“IEE \EJE':.: customers
Create better life RIRALH BESMN EESTE Create platforms for our
Core Values employees

Create returns for our

Integrity shareholders

Customer Supremacy
Innovation
Value Orientation
Teamwork
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Principles of Workplace Culture

Respect Righteous
Disciplined Precise
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Passionate Ambitious
Practical Diligent
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Corporate Profiles
NAEN

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) (stock code: 603) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in investment
in natural gas and energy related business. Operations of the Group include
piped city gas business, pipeline design and construction; transportation,
distribution and sale of compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied
natural gas (“LNG"); and development, production and sale of crude oil and
natural gas and other upstream energy resources.

As a piped city natural gas service provider, the Group supplies city natural
gas through long-distance transmission pipelines. With 74 concession
rights, the Group has built up city pipeline networks which offer stable and
sufficient natural gas resources to local household, industrial, commercial and
other users. As a non-pipeline natural gas provider, the Group has established
2 LNG plants in Qinghai Province, the PRC. Meanwhile, the Group has also
built certain CNG primary stations to ensure a smooth supply of natural gas
all year round. These facilities support supplies of natural gas to cities not
yet covered by pipeline networks and are treated as emergency backup gas
sources for the Group.

As a major national operator of natural gas stations for automobile natural
gas filling, the Group has built 39 CNG stations, 10 LNG stations and 6 L/
CNG stations across the country. All kinds of automobiles, city buses and
long-distance buses can be converted into natural gas operation system
by paying an affordable fee. Some of the provinces will provide subsidy to
automobile owners who are willing to convert their automobile into natural
gas operating system. With support from the PRC government, the Group
offers inexpensive, clean and environmental friendly natural gas to the
transportation sector.

As an operator of natural gas branch pipelines, the Group has already
completed approximately 13,000 km natural gas pipelines in 16 provinces,
cities and autonomous regions. Apart from bringing in stable natural gas
transmission revenue, the branch pipelines constructions will also facilitate
the development of projects along the down-stream.

The Group has well established a large-scale developed natural gas transport
and logistics operation in the PRC, including the set up of LNG and CNG
fleets which have reinforced the mobility and coverage of our natural gas
supplies.

As an upstream energy resources producer, the Group engages in the
development, production and sale of crude oil and gas and other resources
in Alberta of Canada. The exploration and production business of the
Group has the proved reserves of approximately 26.02 million barrels of oil
equivalent and the proved plus probable reserves of approximately 41.00
million barrels of oil equivalent. Its average daily production was 5,169
barrels of oil equivalent in 2020. Our exploration and production business
possesses energy business in production, a very experienced management
team with proven tracking records, a stable production assets portfolio and
strong profitability with considerable potential for growth.
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Main trunk pipelines T E®# &£ &4

Natural Gas Distribution Business in China
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Oil and Gas Production Business in Canada
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

BUSINESS REVIEW

The year 2020 was an extraordinary year. In the face of the rampant
Covid-19 pandemic, the complex geopolitical situation and the global
economic downturn, the Group has risen to the occasion and forged ahead
with unity. Under the strong leadership of the Group’s management, the
Group made decisive decisions and then implemented them in a sound
manner to turn crises into opportunities, and all the staff overcame various
difficulties and performed efficiently and dedicatedly. The Group took
active actions in strategic planning, operation management and market
development, reducing costs, securing gas sources, expanding non-gas
businesses, improving systems, innovating management and nurturing
talents, and taking multiple diversified measures to achieve both quantitative
and qualitative improvements.

The Group had achieved encouraging results through its concerted efforts
and hard work. For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
had a turnover of HK$10,430 million (2019: HK$10,260 million), an increase
of 2% year-on-year; Its gross profit reached HK$1,680 million (2019:
HK$1,510 million), an increase of 11% year-on-year; and the Group's total
gas sales increased by 7% to 4,350 million cubic metres (2019: 4,080 million
cubic metres).

As the upstream assets in Canada were valued in accordance with
international oil price trends and the reserves report was prepared as of 31
December 2020, when the international oil prices were still weak, the oil and
gas assets in Canada recorded a one-off non-cash impairment of HK$626
million for the year. It is expected that when oil prices rebound, there will
be a possibility of reversal of the impairment. Due to the impairment, the
operating profit slumped 42% year-on-year to HK$647 million, and the profit
fell 34% year-on-year to HK$520 million. Sales and distribution of natural
gas and other related products’ segment results was increased by 20%.

Revenue
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CITY PIPELINE NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

Sales and distributions of natural gas

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded sales and
distribution of natural gas income of HK$9,385 million (2019: HK$9,255
million), representing a 1% increase and accounting for 90% of total
revenue. During the year, the Group’s total gas sales and transmission
volume increased by 7% to 4,350 million cubic metres (2019: 4,080 million
cubic metres).

Gas sales volume for industrial and commercial users increased by 6%,
residential users gas sales volume increased by 10% and gas stations
increased by 3%, with each representing 65%, 25% and 10% of the total
gas sales volume respectively (2019: 65%, 25% and 10%).

Chairman’s Statement
FEHE
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Gas Sales Volume Breakdown — By Province

AARHEEDH —REND

2020 2019
Province R —ECEF —E-nF
Qinghai 58 36.9% 38.3%
Shandong TS 8.7% 9.5%
Hunan A 8.0% 8.7%
Jiangsu T &R 16.3% 16.8%
Guangdong BR 3.7% 4.0%
Jiangxi pANi] 6.7% 7.2%
Hubei bl 3.1% 3.6%
Shanxi iTid) 12.3% 8.0%
Guizhou M 2.6% 2.6%
Others Hl 1.7% 1.3%
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (#&)

Development of new users

During the year, the Group developed 136,680 residential users and 1,595
industrial and commercial users. Total connections for residential users
and industrial and commercial users were 1,603,096 (2019: 1,466,416)
and 14,319 (2019: 12,724) respectively, which were increased by 9% and
13% as compared to 2019, respectively. With local government’s advance
to carry forward the green development and its industrial transformation
and upgrading continuously, the number of new users is expected to
maintain a stable growth in the future. Industrial and commercial users have
higher demand for natural gas compared to residential users, making their
development a priority task for the Group. In light of the increasing number
of users, the Group will continue to improve service quality and optimise
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New project expansion FEBERE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had established 131 natural gas project
companies in 16 provinces, cities and autonomous regions in the PRC, with
74 concession rights.

During the year, the Group managed to acquired four concession right
projects, namely Zhangye Economic and Technological Development Zone in
Gansu Province, and Jishan County, Wanrong County and Ruicheng County
in Yuncheng City, Shanxi Province.

During the year, the Group added five new projects, namely Futian Town,
Pingxiang City, Jiangxi Province; Penggao Town, Pingxiang City, Jiangxi
Province; Daozhen Shale Gas, Guizhou Province; Zhijin Coalbed Methane,
Guizhou Province; and Wuchuan State Power Investment Gas Supply Project,
Guizhou Province.
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The Group established a joint venture, Chongging Natural Gas Storage
and Transportation Company Limited* (£ B X A R # & B R 2 7)),
with PetroChina Company Limited (FF Bl 5 B K A R R 5 B R & 7)),
Chongging Gas Group Corporation Ltd (EE M R EE K H B R 2 7)),
Chongging Shale Gas Industry Investment Fund Co., Ltd (BB B & RE %
A HE e HRE A F) and Chongging Kaiyuan Petroleum and Natural
Gas Co., LLd (EE R A M AAR AR & T 2 A) to engage in the
construction, operation and leasing of underground natural gas storage
facilities, project management services, natural gas storage technology
development and consulting services, oil and gas storage, and natural gas
sales.

)

EXPLOITATION AND PRODUCTION OF CRUDE OIL
AND NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

In 2020, international crude oil price plummeted, and the Group realised
average crude oil price decreased by CAD23.22 per barrel to CAD43.66
per barrel (2019: CAD66.88 per barrel). Throughout the year, the average
daily production was 5,169 barrels of oil equivalent per day and the
average capital netback was CAD15.75 per barrel of oil equivalent in 2020
(2019: 5,625 barrels of oil equivalent per day, CAD25.92 per barrel of oil
equivalent), representing a decrease of 8% and 39% respectively. According
to the reserve report prepared by GLJ Petroleum Consultants for the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group has proved plus probable reserves
of 41.1 million barrels of oil equivalent (2019: 41.69 million barrels of oil
equivalent), representing a year-on-year decrease of 1%.

As the reserves report was prepared as at 31 December 2020, when the
international oil price was still weak, the oil and gas assets in Canada
recorded a one-off non-cash impairment of HK$626 million this year. It is
expected that the oil price will rebound and there will be a possible reversal
of impairment.

Average Annual Production

2 FFHER

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRSE
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The Group's upstream business average annual
production decreased to 5,169 BOE/Day by 8%
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (#&)

Proved Reserve (MMBOE)
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CREDIT RATINGS

Rating agencies Ratings

Standard & Poor
Moody's

BB (Stable)
Ba2 (Stable)

The Group was rated “BB” by Standard & Poor with a stable rating outlook,
and was rated “Ba2” by Moody'’s, and the rating outlook improved from
negative to stable, reflecting the Company’s healthy financial position and
promising operational prospects.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Looking back into 2020, the natural gas industry in China achieved a
growth in the face of adversity amidst the pandemic crisis and world
economic turmoil. Domestic natural gas production continued to grow,
reaching 188.8 billion cubic metres per annum, an increase of over 10
billion cubic metres for the fourth consecutive year; apparent consumption
of natural gas was approximately 325.9 billion cubic metres, an increase
of approximately 7% year-on-year; and imports of natural gas reached
approximately 139.2 billion cubic metres, an increase of approximately 5%
year-on-year. In 2020, China fully opened up its oil and gas exploration and
mining market. According to Opinions of the Ministry of Natural Resources
on Several Matters Concerning Promoting the Reform of Mineral Resources
Administration (for Trial Implementation) (B R #H E B E & R E E X
2% FEHEME R (A 17)), qualified domestic and foreign companies
may obtain oil and gas mineral rights in accordance with the relevant
regulations. The full liberalisation of market access will break new ground
in the field of oil and gas exploration and mining, with foreign-invested and

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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private companies expected to enter the upstream market as the market
barriers disappeared. In 2020, National Oil and Gas Pipeline Network Group
(B R A m KA R E 48 % E) took over the pipeline assets and personnel
of the three major oil companies and officially commenced its operations.
The operation of National Oil and Gas Pipeline Network Group is of great
significance to the reform of the oil and gas system and the pipeline network
operation mechanism, and will promote the formation of an “X+1+X" oil
and gas market system with more players and supply channels of oil and gas
resources upstream, efficient gathering and transmission by a unified pipeline
network mid-stream, and fully competitive consumer market downstream.
At the same time, National Oil and Gas Pipeline Network Group coordinates
and deploys, operates and manages the country’s major oil and gas pipeline
infrastructure in a unified manner, so that pipeline transmission prices can be
determined more accurately, facilitating the liberalisation of non-residential
gas prices and leading to an improved residential gas pricing mechanism.

Looking ahead into 2021, with the Covid-19 vaccine rolled out, the global
economy is expected to recover from its trough, commodity prices, including
oil prices, are expected to rebound in oscillation, and major economies are
expected to continue to implement easing economic policies. In terms of
the domestic macro economy, China’s economy will keep the momentum
of stable growth in the long term and there is ample room for growth
in natural gas demand. The development of a new pattern with a large
domestic circulation as the mainstay and a dual domestic and international
circulation to promote each other will inevitably place higher demands on
energy security and will further promote the construction and development
of an integrated natural gas supply, storage and sales system. In terms of
the business environment, the Central Government has continued to deepen
the reform of the “Decentralisation, Regulation and Services” and the
implementation of the “Business Environment Optimisation Ordinance” has
got off to a good start, with the business environment for private enterprises
improved continuously. In terms of domestic policy, the natural gas industry
is set to embrace several favourable developments. China has pledged to
achieve carbon neutrality by 2060 with carbon emissions peaked out by
2030. As a clean energy source, natural gas will have even greater scope
for development and play an active role in the transformation of national
energy consumption pattern. In the 14th Five-Year Plan and the 2035 Vision,
the State has clearly set out its plans to revitalise the countryside, including
the goal of improving rural gas supply and other infrastructure facilities. The
implementation of “gas-powered villages” and the promotion of “coal to
gas transition” will bring up diversified markets and broad growth prospects
for gas companies.

In 2021, China Oil And Gas Group will be celebrating its 20th anniversary. As
the years go by, the Group will continue to maintain its original commitment.
The Group will adhere to its mission of developing clean energy and creating
a better life, keeping in mind the objectives of creating value for customers,
creating platforms for employees and creating returns for shareholders, and
will work hard with one heart and soul to build on its strengths and create
further glory.

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The following discussions should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group and its notes and other
sections in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Leveraging its strong sales network and gas source advantages, the Group
has seized those favourable opportunities to achieve rapid business growth.
During the year of 2020, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$10,433
million (2019: HK$10,261 million), representing an increase of 2%. Gross
profit amounted to HK$1,680 million (2019: HK$1,505 million), representing
an increase of 12% comparing to last year. Profit for the year decreased by
34% to HK$515 million (2019: HK$779 million) as a results of a one-off non-
cash impairment of HK$626 million on oil and gas assets in Canada during
the year. Sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products’
segment results was increased by 20%.

The Group's principal activities are divided into three segments.

(1)  Sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products (“Sales
and distribution of natural gas”)

The Group’s natural gas sales were increased by 7% to 4,350 million
cubic metres, and transmission volume was decreased by 17% to 867
million cubic metres in 2020. Sales and distribution of natural gas
continued to be the Group’s principal source of revenue and
constituted around 90% of the total revenue (2019: 90%). Revenue
related to this segment showed an increase of 1% to HK$9,385 million
(2019: HK$9,255 million) and segment results increased by 20% to
HK$1,085 million (2019: HK$908 million), whereas segment profit
ratio was 12% (2019: 10%).

(2)  Gas pipeline construction and connection (“Connection”)

Revenue related to Connection business constituted around 7% (2019:
6%) of our total revenue in 2020 and amounted to HK$766 million
(2019: HK$567 million), increased by 35%.

(3)  Exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas (“Exploitation
and production”)

Revenue related to Exploitation and production amounted to HK$282
million (2019: HK$439 million) in 2020, with a decline of 36%. Crude
oil prices plummeted in 2020, while West Texas Intermediate (WTI)
averaging US$39.41 per barrel as compared to US$57.04 per barrel in
2019. The Group realised crude oil price of CAD43.66 per barrel in
2020, which declined 35% as compared to that of CAD66.88 per
barrel in 2019.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

It is the Group's policy to adopt conservative financial strategies by using the
cash flow generated from operations as the principal source of fund to
finance its capital expenditures. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total
indebtedness (including bank borrowings, other borrowings and senior notes)
was HK$7,749 million (2019: HK$6,846 million). Total available credit facility
amounted to HK$5,263 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$3,748
million) with a utilisation rate of 27% (2019: 25%).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and time
deposits with maturity over three months of approximately HK$3,763 million
(2019: HK$2,817 million). Total assets increased by 15% to HK$19,270
million (2019: HK$16,832 million), among which current assets were
HK$6,249 million (2019: HK$4,864 million). Total liabilities of the Group
were HK$11,924 million (2019: HK$10,389 million), and among which
current liabilities were HK$5,149 million (2019: HK$4,518 million). The
Group's debt-to-asset ratio, measured on the basis of total indebtedness
divided by total assets, was 40% (2019: 41%). The current ratio (current
assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 1.21 times (2019: 1.08
times).

The Group's financial and liquidity ratios remained stable, and hence the
Group is well prepared for its development in the future.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At the end of 2020, the Group employed a total of 4,443 (2019: 3,693) full-
time employees, most of whom were stationed in the PRC. Total staff cost
for the year amounted to HK$346 million (2019: HK$389 million). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance, working experience
and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of the
employees consist of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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(continued) (#&)

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the senior notes are guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, no assets of the Group have been pledged for the
outstanding borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2020.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY
POLICY

The Group is responsible for the financial risk management, and its treasury
function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of the major objectives of the
Group’s treasury policies is to manage its exposure to fluctuation in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. It is the Group’s policy not to
engage in speculative activities.

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The Group’s certain
bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
States dollars, and the Group’s offshore bank loans and senior notes are
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Canadian dollars.

Other than those disclosed, the Group does not have any material exposures
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend of
foreign currencies, consider adopting a significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no significant litigation.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the issued share capital of the Company was
approximately HK$57,670,438 divided into 5,767,043,834 shares with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors

CHAIRMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, aged 57, was appointed as an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 30 August 2006. He was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 4 November
2009. Mr. Xu is the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company (the “CG Committee”), also the chairman of China Oil
and Gas Investment Group Co., Ltd, China City Natural Gas Investment
Group Co., Ltd and Baccalieu Energy Inc. Canada and director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xu is also an Honorary Life Chairman of
Cross-Strait Peaceful Development Federation; vice chairman of Hong Kong
Energy, Mining And Commodities Association; Honorary Chairman of The
Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association (Shandong). Mr. Xu graduated
from Xi‘an Shiyou University ( P8 % & J#1 X ), and postgraduate from the
University of International Business and Economics ( f 9| 4% 75 & 5 K &),
and completed a doctorate course in law, postgraduate from Tsinghua
University School of Economic and Management (& 3 A £ 48 & £ 7 ), with
a master degree of advanced business administration. He is also a senior PRC
lawyer and certified public accountant. Mr. Xu has more than 31 years of
experience in management, investments, legal and finance.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Guan Yijun, aged 56, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 10 September 2010. She was appointed as the vice president
of the Company on 1 September 2006. Ms. Guan is a member of each of
the CG Committee and the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”). She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Ms. Guan was a postgraduate from Peking University, and
obtained a Master Degree in Advanced Business Administration. She has
extensive business operation management experiences over 21 years.

Mr. Liu Chunsun, aged 62, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 12 June 2018. He is a member of each of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
CG Committee. Mr. Liu graduated from China University of Mining And
Technology in 1987 and completed correspondence course at China
University of Petroleum in 1996. He is a certified accountant. Mr. Liu has
engaged in oil industry for 41 years and gas industry over 19 years. Since
2002, he joined China City Natural Gas Investment Group Co., Ltd. (4 J 7
TR REBEILE B R A F]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
served successively as deputy general manager of investment department,
manager of financial division, assistant to general manager, vice president,
director and chief member of remuneration and assessment committee. Mr.
Liu has extensive investment and financial management experiences.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Yunlong, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 18 April 2008. He is the chairman of each of
the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee.
Mr. Li graduated from the Accounting School of Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law (FR @ B 4% R % K 22 & 5T 2B ) with a Bachelor Degree
in Economics. He is a registered certified public accountant in the PRC and
possesses the qualification of PRC senior auditor. Mr. Li had been working
at the National Audit Office of the PRC for over 19 years in various audit
departments, and he is currently a partner of Hua Wen CPA Ltd (¥ B & &t
Rl == 7 FT) in the PRC. Mr. Li was employed as senior researcher (professor
grade) by The Institute of Modern Communication Research, Shandong
University. He is also a national financial expert of The Ministry of Science and
Technology of the PRC. Mr. Li is the financial consultant of various companies
in the PRC. He has extensive experience in legal, accounting, auditing and
finance aspects.

Mr. Wang Guangtian, aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 4 November 2009. He is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He held a master
degree in world economics from the Hebei University and has over 36 years
of experience in financial and administrative management. Mr. Wang is
currently the managing director of Gainful Investment Corporation and
Guofu (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited. He was an independent non-executive
director of ENN Energy Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 2688) from December 2000 to May 2015.
Mr. Wang was appointed as a managing director of Hebei Overseas Listed
Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd in June 2015 and Hebei Province Financing
Guarantee Fund Co., Ltd on 11 September 2020 respectively.

Mr. Yang Jie, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 18 May 2017. He is a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Yang held a bachelor degree at University of International
Business Economics. Mr. Yang is currently serving as director of MEC
Advisory Limited which is the sole advisor of Can-China Global Resource
Fund, and EMC Financial Limited, the general partner of Can-China Global
Resource Fund respectively. Mr. Yang has more than 21 years of experience
in mining investment and capital operation. He served as a board member
of several Canadian listed mining companies and senior adviser of several
Chinese companies for their overseas investment. Mr. Yang served as vice
chairman of Greater China Mining Group, a director and an executive vice
president of Continental Mineral Corp. and senior vice president and partner
in Hunter Dickinson Inc. He has participated in corporate financing, mergers
and acquisitions for numerous Canadian mining companies.
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The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in investments in natural gas and energy related
businesses.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the state of
affairs of the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 67 to 215.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Company’s Business

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 and a discussion on the Group's future business development, and also
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December 2020 using
the key financial performance indicators are provided in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 18.
No important event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of the
year under review.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Company

The Group's financial conditions, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those as shown below which are not known to
the Group or may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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Natural Gas Price Control Risk

The Group is principally engaged in distribution of natural gas in the PRC.
The city-gate price of natural gas is determined with reference to the
wellhead price and transmission charges. In China, wellhead prices for
residential and fertilizer users are fixed, while wellhead prices for industrial
and commercial users may vary from the benchmark price set by the PRC
National Development and Reform Commission. Piped gas end-user tariffs
are determined by local pricing bureaus. There may be risks that the Group
is unable to obtain approval for passing through any increase in natural gas
price which would deteriorate the Group’s profit.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s principal business is located in the PRC and Canada and its
major transactions are conducted in Renminbi. Most of its assets and
liabilities are denominated in Renminbi and Canadian dollars.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any dividends
it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted into foreign
exchange. The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to
manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The Group does not
consider that it has any significant exposure to the risk of fluctuation in the
exchange rate between HK$ and RMB.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential risk that the Group will be unable to meet its
obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors
cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional
and departmental levels.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The management
will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.
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Environmental Policy and Performance

Both the government and the public continue to pay utmost attention to
environmental issues, despite the fact that certain expensive and environment
friendly measures were planned and implementation will soon be taken
place. More stringent requirements may be put into practice to address these
issues.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2020 containing the information required under
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website within three months after the publication of the Company’s 2020
annual report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to The Bermuda Companies Act. In addition, the Company is
registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”)
and therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the Company
is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules, including the disclosure
requirements and corporate governance provisions therein. Under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the
"SFO"), the Company is required to maintain a register of interests in shares
and short positions and a register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests
and short positions and is obliged to make timely disclosure of inside
information.

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management are
concerned, there was no breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on its
businesses and operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus the
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.
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The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with business partners and bank enterprises to achieve its long term goals.
Accordingly, the management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when appropriate.
During the year under review, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its business partners or bank enterprises.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the shareholders to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Monday,
17 May 2021 (“2021 AGM"), the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 11 May 2021 to Monday, 17 May 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 10 May 2021.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 216. That
summary does not form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segments for
the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2019: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any share during the year ended 31 December
2020.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31
December 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and the restricted share award scheme of
the Group as set out in this Report of the Directors and in note 31(b) and
31(c) to the consolidated financial statements respectively, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group during the year or subsisting at
the end of the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
at the special general meeting of the Company held on 23 November 2011.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion offer
options to any eligible participant including, but not limited to any person
being an employee, executive directors or non-executive directors of the
Group or any invested entity (including independent non-executive directors
of the Group or any invested entity) and any suppliers, consultants or advisers
who will provide or have provided services to the Group or any invested
entity. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

BIRERT S

RAER-_F——F+—-A=-T=BETH
RERRERARE LRA— AR RETE ([B
BrEstEl) - REBREFSE  EF/A
HEREERETINAERSEE 8%
BETRAREEXRTIMNREERZER - #1T
EEYHNTEFT (BREESIEAREER
BIBIYNFATESE)  UREAKEXRE
RASERTMREERERRE 2HER -
HMALER - BREFEFBEIANGAR
KM E3D) °

Details of movements in the share options granted under the Share Option BEBREFSEEL CEREZHFEHT
Scheme are as follows: mr
Outstanding Outstanding
Name or as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
category of Exercise Date of Exercisable 1 January during during during 31 December
participants price grant period 2020 the year the year the year 2020
R-B-EF
R-B-BF +=A
SRERE —-A-H =+-8
EgY THE RHBH g3 fef R AT FARE ERTE EREH e R AT
(HKS)
(B7)
Director
%
Liu Chunsun 0.46 22/01/2016 22/01/2019 to 1,540,000 — — — 1,540,000
21/01/2026
NEF —ERE —ENE
—AZ+zZA —AZ+ZHZE
i Sy
—R=Zt-H
Employees 0.46 22/01/2016 22/01/2019 to 85,020,000 — — — 85,020,000
21/01/2026
ER —E-RE —E-NE
—AZ+ZH —-A=-+=H=Z
—EoRE
—RA=t—H
Total 86,560,000 - — — 86,560,000
@t
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Note:
These share options are exercisable in the following manner:

(i) 30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January 2018;

(ii) 30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January 2019; and

(ili)  40% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January 2020.

These share options were granted on 22 January 2016, the closing price of
the shares on 21 January 2016, being the date immediately before the date
of grant, was HK$0.43. During the year ended 31 December 2020, no share
options were granted, cancelled, exercised or lapsed.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 4 November 2011, the Board adopted a restricted share award scheme
(the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”) as an incentive to recognise the
contributions by employees and to give incentives in order to retain them for
their continuing operation and development and to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group, details of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme are set out in note 31(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-Laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of
the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2020.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the amount standing to the credit of the
Company'’s share premium account in the amount of HK$13,208,000 may
also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares, and the Company’s
contributed surplus account in the amount of HK$1,447,454,000 may be
distributed under certain circumstances.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers and customers are as follows:

BE  BEOxHEATLWES

RAREMBARRBEE-_Z_ZF+=A
=t-REFEAMERE  BOxBLEE
AR EHMES °

Al Dk 1
RZZE-_ZTEF+_A=+—H > 2ak®H
%8 B 2 ¥ BR & %E13,208,000% JT 7] 1% A 4%

RABREASIK  MARELREBEGESE
1,447,454,0008 L EE T IBERINAI FUAD IR °

TEREFPRAER

SETEHERREFPBAEZRBRHEER
BAOLWT :

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NEF
% %
Purchases E2d -

— the largest supplier — A ER 36.6 23.0
— five largest suppliers combined — A RMERET 68.9 54.4

Turnover EEH
— the largest customer — BARPF 5.1 4.1
— five largest customers combined — AREFEF 13.0 14.0

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholders (who, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interests in
the Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. LIU Chunsun

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LI Yunlong

Mr. WANG Guangtian

Mr. YANG Jie

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-Laws, Ms. Guan Yijun and Mr.
Li Yunlong shall retire from office as Directors by rotation at the 2021 AGM.
Mr. Li Yunlong would like to spend more time on his own business and will
not offer himself for re-election at the 2021 AGM. Ms. Guan Yijun, being
eligible, offers herself for re-election at the 2021 AGM.

Mr. Liu Chunsun will retire at the 2021 AGM pursuant to bye-law 87(2) of
the Bye-Laws due to retirement.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME",
“RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME” and "DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” in this report and in notes 31(b) and 31(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Xu Tie-liang entered into a service contract with the Company on 10
April 2017 for the appointment as an executive Director for a term of three
years commencing from 10 April 2017. Mr. Xu entered into a renewed
service contract with the Company on 10 April 2020 for the renewal of the
term of appointment as an executive Director for a further term of three
years commencing from 10 April 2020.

Each of Ms. Guan Yijun and Mr. Liu Chunsun entered into a service contract
with the Company on 1 January 2021 for the respective appointment as
an executive Director for a term of three years commencing from 1 January
2021.

Each of Mr. Li Yunlong, Mr. Wang Guantian and Mr. Yang Jie signed a letter
of appointment issued by the Company on 1 January 2021 for the respective
appointment as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2021.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has

a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Group or any of its subsidiaries was a party subsisted
at 31 December 2020 or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2020.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required to notify to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code"), are set out below:

Interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
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Number of  the Company’s
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B 14 ¥a/%E i 2E REABNEI FsEsEE
XU Tie-liang Interest in controlled Long position 1,2 1,494,634,130 25.92% US$3,540,000
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of  the Company’s
Name of Long position/ ordinary issued share Amount of
Director Capacity short position Notes shares held capital debentures held
REEBR HARB BT
BEEng g7 BE/%E i #E REBLNEIH &5 e
GUAN Yijun Interest of spouse Long position 1,2 1,494,634,130 25.92% US$3,540,000
HMEE B e 3,540,000% 7T
Interest of spouse Long position 2 — — US$1,500,000
FeiEHE s L) 1,500,000% 7T
Interest of controlled Long position 2 — — US$2,000,000
corporation
REGEEz #a iE 2,000,000% 7¢
LIU Chunsun Beneficial owner Long position 3 2,200,000 0.04% —
ANEF EnEBA e
Notes: Mat -

1.

1,494,634,130 ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) are held through
Sino Vantage Management Limited (“Sino Vantage”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is wholly-owned by Sino Best
International Group Limited (“Sino Best”) (a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability) which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned
by Mr. Xu Tie-liang (“Mr. Xu"). Therefore, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested
in 1,494,634,130 Shares pursuant to the SFO. Ms. Guan Yijun (“Ms. Guan”) is
the spouse of Mr. Xu, therefore, Ms. Guan is also deemed to be interested in
1,494,634,130 Shares pursuant to the SFO.

(i) An amount of US$2,000,000 of the US$350,000,000 4.625% senior notes
of the Company due 2022 (the “2022 Notes”) is held through Moral High
Limited, which is owned by Mr. Xu and Ms. Guan 50% each; (ii) an amount of
US$1,500,000 of the 2022 Notes is held through Sino Advance Holdings Limited
(which is wholly-owned by Sino Best and in turn wholly and beneficially owned
by Mr. Xu); and (i) an amount of US$3,540,000 of the US$320,000,000 5.5%
senior notes of the Company due 2023 is held through Sino Vantage.

These 2,200,000 Shares include (i) 660,000 Shares held beneficially by Mr. Liu
Chunsun; and (ii) 1,540,000 derivative shares which are derived from the share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on
23 November 2011, which carrying right to subscribe for 1,540,000 Shares at
the exercise price of HK$0.46 per share.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company which were recorded on the register required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2020.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2020, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors and chief executives,
the following shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company:

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
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ROAREEHTRAST 2 HERES :

RAFRMD RABBAR 0 <

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the Company’s
Long position/ ordinary issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity short position shares held capital
BEEER (LHOAREBRT
BREE BB &1 BE/RRE HE RABHEIL
Sino Vantage Beneficial owner Long position  1,494,634,130 25.92%
Sino Vantage E=EA A e
Sino Best Interest in controlled corporation Long position  1,494,634,130 25.92%
eI REHDEE =y
Note: ez -
Sino Vantage is wholly-owned by Sino Best which in turn is wholly and beneficially Si”? Vantage\EE FRERZEARAF - MFEREKA
HAEEZBERERER -

owned by Mr. Xu.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO as having
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as at 31 December 2020.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board of the Directors
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Exempt continuing connected transaction

The following continuing connected transaction constitutes an exempt
continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules:

Appointment of Trustee for Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Trustee (Note) was appointed by the Company as trustee for the
administration of the Restricted Share Award Scheme adopted by the Board
on 4 November 2011. Service fee will be paid by the Company to the Trustee
according to the share award trust deed entered into between the Company
and the Trustee on 4 November 2011. The payment of the service fees to the
Trustee by the Company constitutes a continuing connected transaction of
the Company, but is exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1)
of the Listing Rules.

HK$200,000 was paid/payable to the Trustee for the financial year ended 31
December 2020.

Note:
Best Thinker Limited (the “Trustee”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang, an

executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is
regarded as a connected person of the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had entered into
certain related party transactions but these transactions were not regarded
as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules or were exempt from reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details of
these related party transactions are disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year and
up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 37 to 53 of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code"), which is currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim and annual
reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting
function and their training arrangement and budget, and to review the risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang Jie.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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AUDITOR

There was no change in auditor of the Company in the past three years.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2021 AGM to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Oil And Gas Group Limited
Xu Tie-liang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2021
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure
in order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its
own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company was in compliance
with the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the
deviations as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the responsibilities
between chairman and chief executive officer should be divided. Mr. Xu
Tieliang is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive
Directors.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code provides that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but
they are subject to retirement from office by rotation at least once every three
years in accordance with the Bye-Laws. Nevertheless, the aforesaid deviation
from Code provision A.4.1 was rectified with effect from 1 January 2021.

Code provision D.1.4 of the CG Code requires directors should clearly
understand delegation arrangements in place, therefore that the Company
should have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the key
terms and conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have
formal letters of appointment for Directors (except for Mr. Xu Tieliang).
However, the Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. Nevertheless, the aforesaid deviation from
Code provision D.1.4 was rectified with effect from 1 January 2021. In
addition, the Directors are required to refer to the guidelines set out in “A
Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines
for Directors” and “Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if
applicable) published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing
their duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common law,
the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s
business and governance policies.
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Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
met the relevant code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company,
and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing
the operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved
for its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy,
major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim results,
approval of major capital transactions and other significant operational
and financial matters. The management was delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of six Directors including three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. LIU Chunsun

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LI Yunlong

Mr. WANG Guangtian

Mr. YANG Jie

Save for Ms. Guan Yijun is the spouse of Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. Such balanced Board composition is formed to
ensure strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of the
Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 19 to 20
under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans
and evaluates the Group’s financial performance and management. Specific
tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management include the
implementation of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring of
operating budgets, the implementation of internal controls procedures, and
the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other
rules and regulations.

Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 31

December 2020 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out below:

Name of Director

TEERKE

(continued) (#)
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EZEEZEBEIDHEEHI DT ¢

Attending or participating in seminars/
inhouse briefing or reading materials
relevant to the Group’s business/
director’s duties

HERSHEEEEELE

EEREHEZEE

Esng 70 3B 75 $R = =k B 78 A BE A1 R
Mr. XU Tie-liang FFERR K .
Ms. GUAN Yijun MEE Z+ .
Mr. LIU Chunsun BIEFLE .
Mr. LI Yunlong FEELE 'a
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLE .
Mr. YANG lie m AR .

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer,
and Mr. Xu Tie-liang currently performs these two roles. The Board believes
that by taking the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person, it has the benefit of maintaining a consistent leadership
and enables a more effective and efficient overall strategic planning within
the Group. The Board believes that the present arrangement will not impair
its balance of power and authority, and this is ensured by current Board
members, which comprise experienced and high calibre individuals with
sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors.
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Non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are high caliber individuals,
with academic and professional qualifications and experience in the fields
of accounting, finance and investment. With their accumulated experience
gained from various sectors, they can provide strong support towards
the Board’s effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities. Each
independent non-executive Director has given an annual confirmation of
his independence to the Company, and the Company considered that each
of them is independent based on the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
not appointed for specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-Laws.

Subsequently on 1 January 2021, each of the independent non-executive
Directors signed a letter of appointment issued by the Company for the
appointment as independent non-executive Directors for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2021.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 26 August 2013 (the
"Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve its diversity. The Company
recognises that increasing diversity at Board level will support the attainment
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including, but not limited, to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration its own
business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the
optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegates certain duties to the Nomination Committee under the
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss and review the necessity to
set measurable objectives for the implementation of the Policy from time to
time, to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards these
objectives are achievable and ascertainable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
its continued effectiveness from time to time.

Board Meetings

The Board has four scheduled meetings held quarterly each year, and
additional meetings will take place as and when required. These Board
meetings are planned in advance. During the regular meeting, the Board
examines the Company’s operation and financial performance, reviews and
approves its annual and interim results.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board held 8 meetings. All
Directors were given opportunities to include any matters in the agenda
for the regular Board meetings, and were given sufficient time to review
documents and information relating to matters to be discussed in the Board
meetings.

Name of Director

TEERKE

(continued) (#)

BE_Z_TFFT_A=1+—HLFE &
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Number of attendance

EEgA HEEB XY
Mr. XU Tie-liang FFERR K 8/8
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFTEHAEZR)
Ms. GUAN Yijun BMEE Lt 8/8
Mr. LIU Chunsun BEFLE 8/8
Mr. LI Yunlong FEELE 8/8
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLE 8/8
Mr. YANG Jie BAREE 8/8
Board minutes are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board EZRERCBAHESEN - 5REER

member is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

General Meeting
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company held 1 general

meeting, being the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16 June
2020 (the “2020 AGM").

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

BEEAR HESBERY
Mr. XU Tie-liang FFERR ST A
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFITHAEE)
Ms. GUAN Yijun ARE T 1/1
Mr. LIU Chunsun BIEFTE 0/1
Mr. LI Yunlong FERERLE 0/1
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLA 0/1
Mr. YANG lie BAREE 0/1

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, making use of the annual general meetings
or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation. Mr. Xu Tie-liang, being the Chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the CG Committee, attended the 2020 AGM and answered
questions and collected views of shareholders.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board takes into account
the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the natural gas industry
and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 15 March 2006
and currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wang Guangtian (as chairman) and Mr. Li Yunlong and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Liu Chunsun.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review and monitor the
structure, size and diversity of the Board; to provide recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board in order to complement the Group'’s strategy;
to identify qualified individuals in becoming members of the Board; to assess
the independence of independent non-executive directors; to review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the Policy, and
the progress on achieving the objectives; and to provide recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment
of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation
of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.
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The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified
shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the
effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular,
are set out as follows:

(@)  participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c)  serving on the Audit Committee, and the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
nonexecutive Director) and other relevant Board committees, if invited;

(d)  bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board,
giving the Board and any committees on which he or she serves the
benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and
qualifications and diversity through attendance and participation in the
Board/committee meetings;

(e)  scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

(f) ensuring the Committees on which he or she serves to perform their
powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

(g0 conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or
the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise for filling the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or expertise
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee
held 1 meeting. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, considered and provided recommendations to the Board
on the re-election of Directors.

Name of Director

BHE-_ZT_ZTF+_A=Z+—8BLtEE &
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HITEFZBISD EREFETEIRIL
MEERIRLEBEZ -

Number of attendance

EEng HESEXE
Mr. WANG Guangtian (Chairman) FTEBEE(EE) 0/1
Mr. LI Yunlong FEERE 1/1
Mr. LIU Chunsun BIEFLE 1/1

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13 January 2006
with written terms of reference and currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman) and Mr. Wang
Guangtian, and one executive Director, namely Ms. Guan Yijun.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to provide
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy, the
remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management, and the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for formulating the
remuneration policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee
held 3 meetings. The Committee reviewed the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management and discussed the grant of awarded shares
under the restricted share award scheme.
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EEng HESERE
Mr. LI Yunlong (Chairman) TERLE(FE) 3/3
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEBELE 2/3
Ms. GUAN Yijun FRE LT 3/3
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 23 November
2011. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards, for
their contributions to the Group. The Board has also adopted the Restricted
Share Award Scheme on 4 November 2011 as an incentive to recognise the
employees’ contributions, in order to retain them for the Group’s continuing
operation and development, and to attract suitable personnel for its further
development.

Details of the Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share Award Scheme
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The emolument payable to Directors and senior management will depend on
their respective contractual terms under the employment agreements, if any,
and is determined by the Board with reference to the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2020, by bands is set out in note (11(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management for the
year ended 31 December 2020 are also set out in notes 12 and 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang Jie.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are currently made available
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim and annual
reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting
function and their training arrangement and budget, and to review the risk
management and internal control system.
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The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss any area
of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and
annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses
not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and practices,
but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s interim and annual
reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee held 3
meetings.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

EEHRE HESBXRE
Mr. LI Yunlong (Chairman) TERLE(EE) 3/3
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEBLSE 3/3
Mr. YANG lie BAREE 3/3

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee reviewed
the 2019 annual results and 2020 interim results of the Group, and were in
the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and also noted that review of the same will be
carried out annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established the CG Committee with written terms of reference
on 20 March 2012. The CG Committee comprises three executive Directors,
namely Mr. Xu Tie-liang (as chairman), Ms. Guan Yijun and Mr. Liu Chunsun,
Ms. Law Yin Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and Ms.
Chan Yuen Ying Stella, the Company Secretary of the Company.

Terms of reference of the CG Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the CG Committee are to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; to comply
with the CG Code and other legal or regulatory requirements and make
recommendations to the Board; to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director; to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management to develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the CG Committee
held 1 meeting. The CG Committee reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; and also
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Name of Director
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EEsA

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman) SRR ST E(EE)
Ms. GUAN Yijun MEE L+

Mr. LIU Chunsun BEFEE

Ms. LAW Yin Shan Jenny R+

Ms. CHAN Yuen Ying Stella R 15 2 2 +

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor is
set out below:

Services rendered

IVl
VAl
Al
VAl
Al

AN BN &

AEERN - BN ENQRZEE 2B S
FIT

Fee paid/payable

P2 4 AR 3% g ENER
HK$'000

FET

Audit services EIZRTE 2,369
Non-audit services e IZ AR .
2,369

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance
and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist
the Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit
different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella (“Ms. Chan”), the representative of Uni-1, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Law Yin
Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the primary point
of contact at the Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance between
retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth and rewarding the
shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the following
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

—  the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition, working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity
position and future expansions plans;

—  the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to any
restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio.
The Company'’s dividend distribution record in the past may not be used as a
reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared or
paid by the Company in the future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment
by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the
Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An annual general
meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual
general meeting, shall be called a special general meeting. The Board may
call special general meetings whenever it thinks fit.
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Shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the Company
according to the provisions as set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies
Act of Bermuda. The procedures that shareholders can use to convene a
special general meeting are set out in the document entitled “Procedures
for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director”, which is
currently available on the Company’s website.

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send written enquires to the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by shareholders at
shareholders’ meeting

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting forward a
proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@  any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights at the date of the requisition; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be deposited,
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving
notice of the proposed resolution or circulating any necessary statement, at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks
before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.
The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the

requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed with the necessary
procedures.
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VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at
the general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman, in
good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural
or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the
resolutions to be set out in the notice of 2021 AGM will be voted by poll.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication
and reasonable disclosure of information to its shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders in the
following manner:

. Delivery of annual and interim reports to all shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results on
the Stock Exchange website, and issue of other announcements and
shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules; and

o The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the CG
Committee attended the 2020 AGM to answer questions of the meeting and
collect views of shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group, its financial performance
and cash flows for that year. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and prepared the
accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps

to safeguard the assets of the Group, to prevent and detect fraud, as well as
other irregularities.
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The Directors, after appropriate enquiries were made, considered that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2 of the CG Code
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control system. Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management
in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk
management and internal control system are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the

following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2020, no significant risk was
identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system in place which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group
to achieve objectives regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out the internal control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.
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o Control Activities: Activities established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives are carried out, objectives are
achieved, and risks are mitigated.

o Information and Communication: To provide the Group’s internal and
external communication, together with the information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether
each component of the internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information
policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of
the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2020, no significant
control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which consists of
professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control system
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually, and afterwards the results are reported to the Board via
Audit Committee.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control System

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control system
of the Group and ensuring review of the system’s effectiveness is conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board’s reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment, and (i) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control system.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
system were effective and adequate. Such system, however, is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Oil And Gas Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to
215, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2020;

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessments of loan and interest receivables from and
interest in an associate

o Impairment assessment of goodwill

o Impairment assessment of oil and gas properties
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter
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Impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an
associate

Refer to Note 4.2(b) credit risk,
Note 5(a) critical accounting
estimates and judgments and
Notes 20 and 23(d) to the
Group'’s consolidated financial
Statements.

The Group had gross loan
and interest receivables from
an associate of approximately
HK$955,070,000 and
HK$191,748,000 respectively,
and interest in this associate of
approximately HK$235,952,000 as
at 31 December 2020.

Management assessed the
provision of expected credit loss
of approximately HK$14,197,000
against the loan and interest
receivables from the associate.
Management estimated the level
of expected loss, with reference
to historical observed default
rates, loss given default rates
of comparable companies and
industry, and forward-looking
economic factors.

Our procedures in relation to
testing management’s impairment
assessments of loan and interest
receivables from and interest in this
associate included obtaining an
understanding of the management'’s
internal control and assessment
process of impairment assessment
of loan and interest receivables from
and interest in this associate and
assessing the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud.

We assessed the appropriateness of
the expected credit loss provisioning
methodology and reasonableness of
key assumptions, including default
rate and loss given default rate with
assistance of our valuation expert.

We challenged the appropriateness
of forward-looking economic factors
applied by management for the
adjustment of the level of expected
loss.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% BET R

To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an

associate (continued)

Management assessed the
recoverability of interest in
the associate based on the
recoverable amount of the
associate’s business valuation
applying the fair value less costs
of disposal method. The key
underlying assumptions were set
out in Notes 5(a) and 20 to the
Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

We focused on this area due
to the magnitude of the loan
and interest receivables from
and interest in this associate.
Moreover, significant judgments
and estimates were involved
in estimating the provision of
expected credit loss for the
loan and interest receivables,
and recoverable amount of the

interest in the associate.

Our procedures in relation to
management’s impairment assessment
of interest in the associate included
the evaluation of the appropriateness
of valuation methodology and
reasonableness of the key assumptions
used with assistance of our internal
expert.

We evaluated management’s
estimated commodity price growth
rate by challenging management’s
rationale to support their projections.
We researched the most up-to-date
commodity price and performed
independent market research on the
commodity price growth that was in
line with management's forecasts.

We compared the future production
profile against the reserve estimation
report conducted by management’s
expert and evaluated the competence,
capacity and objectivity of the expert.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter
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Impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an
associate (continued)

We evaluated the reasonableness
of the discount rate, applied by
benchmarking management’s
assumptions with those applied by
comparable companies and industry
forecasts.

We physically inspected the site and
discussed with local management
to understand the current status of
operation.

We challenged management’s
sensitivity analysis in consideration of
the potential impact of reasonably
possible downside changes in these
key assumptions.

We found the management’s
judgments and assumptions used
in the impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables from
and interest in the associate were
supported by the available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of

goodwill

Refer to Note 5(b) critical
accounting estimates and
Jjudgments and Note 19 to the
Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

The Group carried goodwill of
approximately HK$972,675,000
as at 31 December 2020, which
was allocated to a group of
cash generating units (“CGUs")
relating to the sales and
distribution of natural gas and
other related products business
(“Natural Gas Business”) CGUs.

Management estimated the
recoverable amount of the
Natural Gas Business CGUs based
on value-in-use calculations that
applied the key assumptions and
inputs set out in Note 19 to the
Group's consolidated financial
statements. Based on value-in-
use calculations, management
has concluded there was no
impairment of the goodwill as at

31 December 2020.

We focused on this area
due to the magnitude of the
goodwill balance and the
significant judgements made
by management in estimating
the recoverable amount of the

goodwill.

Our procedures in relation to testing
management’s impairment assessment
of goodwill relating to the Natural Gas
Business CGUs included obtaining an
understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment
process of impairment assessment of
goodwill and assessing the inherent
risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.

We evaluated the appropriateness
of valuation methodology and
reasonableness of the key assumptions
used with assistance of our valuation
expert.

We challenged management on the
estimated growth rate, expected
changes to selling prices and direct
costs assumptions and compared
cash flows generated during the year
ended 31 December 2020 with prior
years' performance. We evaluated
the reasonableness of the discount
rate applied by benchmarking
management’s assumptions with those
applied by comparable companies
and industry forecasts. Furthermore,
we evaluated the terminal growth
rate with reference to the long term
inflation rate.

We found the management’s
judgments and assumptions used
in the impairment assessment of
goodwill were supported by the
available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
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How our audit addressed the BMWE 5T W EE
Key Audit Matter Key Audit Matter AREETEE BREEEE
Impairment assessment of oil JH) 5 B R 1B AT A
and gas properties
Refer to Notes 5(b) and 5(d) We performed the following 2Z FEEHGE RMETTIENRE
critical accounting estimates and  procedures to address this key audit BBEHEZMAFSO)R F @ NEBZBARE
judgments and Note 16 to the matter: SAEAXEF IR FHEIE
Group’s consolidated financial HIBT L RHTEE16 o
statements. We obtained an understanding of the BT RREEE S
management’s internal control and REEREFTHHNA
The Group had oil and assessment process of impairment EEERN_ZT-_F FEZERFHAE -
gas properties with assessment of oil and gas properties F+ A=+ — U@EBEEMGETT®
amount of approximately and assessing the inherent risk of HEBREEN THREERFEMES
HK$1,656,263,000 (2019: material misstatement by considering 1,656,263,000% H i EAEKRREZK
HK$2,285,340,000) as at 31 the degree of estimation uncertainty T(ZE—NAF: FHHEERERD
December 2020 and impairment and level of other inherent risk factors 2,285,340,0007% Jt) BE K °
charges of approximately including subjectivity. EREBEE-ZT=F
HK$625,633,000 (2019: F+=-_A=+—H
HK$30,395,000) provided for the We evaluated and tested the key EFERBE RMTELNAERH
year ended 31 December 2020.  controls in respect of impairment B % #9625,633,000 i & & E B E T H W
assessment of oil and gas properties. BIL (ZE—NF - BT -
30,395,000/ 7T) °
We evaluated the competence, B A ET 1T R R
The Group allocates oil and capability and objectivity of EXEERBREE ERTRHEEGBED
gas properties to separate management’s expert engaged in PREESEBR BEEBERNES
identifiable asset groups and estimating the oil and gas reserves and PIEEARNILFEBR TRRTHMT
evaluate these asset groups value-in-use. EZRBREREE
for impairment indicators by AeemEEmE
considering events or changes We involved our internal e EREEHTH BMBEBFALHER
in circumstances indicating that valuation expert in evaluating ZEBEHAMNMRE RTHERITEEN
their carrying amounts may not the appropriateness of valuation BHR - LEEH OEEFESTEE
be recoverable. Such events methodology based on the industry FEREHAEER TE BB BREE
and changes in circumstances practice and the reasonableness REBEER - TN NITENBETFHEE
include the economic impact of the discount rates adopted by S E RN NN LA B AR AT kB IR B PR
on these asset groups resulting management by comparing the MERBEHETR RBEREXREEAE -
from lowered oil and gas prices, industry weighted-average cost of HZEEEMAD
increased discount or production capital for oil and gas properties. REZE -

costs and declining in oil and
gas reserve volumes.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment
of oil and gas properties
(continued)

For those asset groups where
an impairment indicator is
identified, the Group performed
an impairment assessment by
comparing the carrying amount
of individual asset group with
its recoverable amount, which
is estimated by calculating the
value-in-use using a discounted
cash flow forecast.

Management engaged an
independent external expert to
assist them in estimating the oil
and gas reserves and value-in-
use.

We focused on this area
because the impairment
assessment of oil and gas
properties involved significant
management judgment
and assumptions which are
subjective including changes to
future selling prices, production
costs for crude oil and natural
gas; future production profiles;
and discount rates.

We compared future crude oil and gas
prices against a range of published
crude oil and gas price forecasts.

We compared the future production
cost profiles against historical costs
and relevant budgets of the Group.

We compared the future production
profiles against the oil and gas
reserve estimation report approved by
management.

We evaluated the sensitivity analysis
prepared by the Group, and assessed
the potential impacts of a range of
possible outcomes.

Based on the procedures performed,
we found the management’s
judgments and assumptions used in
the impairment assessment of oil and
gas properties were supported by the
available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

i
pwc

To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% BET R

(continued) (#)

BERAE

BHHRREEERQARR
(RERZZMALZ HR A

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chung Kit Yi, Kitty.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BHZE TFE+A=+T—RHLFE
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHERT FHET
Revenue EER 6 10,432,777 10,260,654
Cost of sales 8 & A AR (8,753,637) (8,755,230)
Gross profit EM 1,679,140 1,505,424
Other income H b A 7 22,980 36,557
Other (losses)/gains, net Hih (BB s F58 8 (14,403) 22,194
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER (81,119) (66,727)
Administrative expenses THHAX (334,081) (359,625)
Impairment on oil and gas properties under ~ ¥1% - E MREE T
property, plant and equipment MR EERE 16 (625,633) (30,395)
Operating profit 78 & A 9 646,884 1,107,428
Finance income B 75 WL A 10 304,068 151,491
Finance costs BEER 10 (301,034) (281,773)
Share of losses of investments accounted for D 1E{F AEZAAEZ
using the equity method, net KENERE  F3 20 (19,002) (3,636)
Profit before taxation B A5 A1 5 A 630,916 973,510
Taxation IE 13 (115,601) (194,391)
Profit for the year F W A 515,315 779,119
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hih2HE e (EE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss W B DR R E A
Currency translation differences f?ﬁ%?@ﬁ%%ﬁ 582,458 (76,700)
Change in value of debt investments at BATFERFAEAM
fair value through other comprehensive 2HNE CEBRE
income BEZD (64,506) 31,358
Item that will not be reclassified to BT BB S HEZ B iy
profit or loss HA
Change in value of equity investments at BATFERFAEAM
fair value through other comprehensive 2EKEZRAEE
income EEE (14,885) (19,025)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FRHEMEEmKE
for the year, net of tax (E18) - IRTIE 503,067 (64,367)
Total comprehensive income for the year FALEWREE 1,018,382 714,752
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
ReEElEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_TE+_AZ+—RALEE

(continued) (#)

2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-hF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B E FHET FHT
Profit attributable to: FEAE & A
Owners of the Company NEEB A 28,757 330,984
Non-controlling interests FEE RS 486,558 448,135
515,315 779,119
Total comprehensive income for the year FARMEEWRBE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company UNSIEZ RN 303,595 309,104
Non-controlling interests I IR A 714,787 405,648
1,018,382 714,752
Earnings per share for profit attributable to A& # B AFNA
owners of the Company for the year FE(R & F 2 FRR AT 15
— Basic (HK cents) — EAX GBI 0.583 6.642
— Diluted (HK cents) — g (B 0.583 6.642
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read A TR R EERER I — T -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBMRRE
As at 31 December 2020
RZEZZTF+=_A=+—H

2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHERT FAT
Assets EE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE & 16 9,008,993 8,068,912
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 589,057 499,190
Exploration and evaluation assets MERFHEE 18 128,444 153,063
Intangible assets BVEE 19 1,024,062 970,166
Investments accounted for using the equity  FREREARE ZHRE
method 20 429,356 378,823
Financial assets at fair value through other BN AR AEAD
comprehensive income cEREZTBEE 21 633,995 693,942
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 23 1,201,201 1,195,673
Deferred tax assets REFTSHEE 29 5,810 8,968
13,020,918 11,968,737
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 328,386 262,850
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other EREE e BIHK
receivables H & kIR 23 2,151,734 1,777,940
Current tax recoverable & B ] e Bl 7 18 6,293 6,168
Time deposits with maturity over three FERAA=@EANU LR
months TE BRTE X 24 836,570 295,590
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEER 24 2,926,434 2,521,199
6,249,417 4,863,747
Total assets nEE 19,270,335 16,832,484
Liabilities =V
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H th fE N FRIE 25 1,286,205 1,289,056
Contract liabilities aHEE 26 2,306,032 1,571,197
Short-term borrowings RHEE 27 1,341,941 1,408,814
Current tax payable g HEA IR 196,968 236,649
Lease liabilities HEaE 17 18,116 12,761
5,149,262 4,518,477
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBEARRE
As at 31 December 2020
RZZEZZTFE+-_A=+—H
(continued) (#&)

2020 2019
et g 2 —E-hF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Senior notes BAERE 28 5,410,227 5,411,161
Long-term borrowings REEE 27 996,470 26,466
Lease liabilities HERE 17 58,444 48,113
Deferred tax liabilities BETRIABE 29 123,615 237,408
Assets retirement obligation & E R AR 30 186,103 147,844
. S
Total liabilities HwWesd 11,924,121 10,389,469
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners of the AREEAELESR
Company
Share capital [N 31 57,670 57,670
Reserves & 3,720,464 3,400,614
3,778,134 3,458,284
Non-controlling interests e 3,568,080 2,984,731
Total equity mags e e
Total equity and liabilities ERREEREE 19,270,335 16,832,484
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in LR E B ISR R R E BRI M s — F B
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The financial statements on pages 76 to 215 were approved by the Board of FICE2I5B 2 BHREER T —F =
Directors on 23 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf. ARZ+=ZBEEERIELEE -
Xu Tie-liang Guan Yijun R BEE
Director Director EZE o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-_Z-_ZTHE+_A=Z+—HALEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAEEARL
Shares held (Note) Exchange  Share-based Non-
Share Share for share Other fluctuation  compensation Retained controling Total
capital premium — award scheme TEserves Teserve reserve profits Total Interests equity
b v Py

EERE (WE)  EXR®  RERM
RE  RREE  FRRD  EHER i BERR B #E FEREE  RREE
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HKS000
TER ThR TEL TER TER ThR TEL TER TER TAR

As at 1 January 2019

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive incomel(loss):

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Changes in value of debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income

Changes in value of equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive incomefoss)
for the year

Transfer of fair value gain on equity
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income to retained profits
upon disposal

Vesting of shares under share award
scheme

Share repurchase

Value of employe senvices

Disposal of subsidiaries

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests

Final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2018

At 31 December 2019

H-E-nE-B-R 58 301 NI 08 1439 (533700 9440 257535 3194290 2714611 5908901
Epigd - - - - = N T A i S 79,119
Eh2EkE/ (58)
BERINERZE
= = = - B = — 3 @) 1670
RATEF AR 2ENEY
ERRERERD
= = = 31,35 = = = 31,35 = 31,35
RATEF AR 2ENEY
s ey El
= = = (19,005) = = - (1900 = (19,005)
Enzaks/ (58)4E
= = = 1233 (3213 —OB0%E0I0e 40588 714752
NHERERROTEHA
EpRENERERE
ATRARERE R
= = = (1393 = = 1393 = = =
et REEE)
= = 184 = = (184) = = = =
ke my  (19.12) = = = = = (19,846) = (19,846)
EERKEE - - - - = 2085 = 2,085 = 2085
HERELT - - - = (4193) = = 4193) = 4193)
EfReFHERER - - - - = = = - (13558)  (13552)
BEZ3-\#1zR=1-H
EEZRERS - = = (23,356) = = = (23,36) = (23,356)

RoZ-NEt2A=1+-8 57,670 13208 (420200 1460743 (572,108) N1 2907730 3458284 2984731 6443015
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBE X

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-FF+-A=+-ALER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ATERARS
Shares held (Note) ~ Exchange Share-based Non-
Share Share for share Other  fluctuation compensation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium award scheme  reserves reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
ARf WRA
£Bid (W)  EXR®  AEEN
Rx  REEE  FRRE  EeEE BF  BERE  RERA B8 FBRER  RRUE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TR Thn TEn T TR TEn T T
As at 1 January 2020 W-B%2E-F-A 57,610 13,208 (420202 1,460,743 (572,108) 1241 2907732 3458284 2,984,731 6,443,015
Profit for the year ERgAl = = = - - - 28,157 28,151 486,558 515,315
Other comprehensive income/(loss): £t 2E4E/ (58):
Exchange differences on translting foreign  BEENHE 28
operations - - - - 354,229 - - 354,229 28209 582,458
Changes in value of debt investments st~ ZATEHAZ (2 ENEL
fairvaue through other comprehensiie B REEEZE
income - - - (64,500) - - - (64,506) - (64,506)
Changes in value of equity investments ot~ AT B AZK2EREL
fair value through other comprehensie  RAREEEET
income - - - (14,885) - - - (14,885) - (14,885)
Total comprehensive incomefloss ER2ANE/ (BR)EE
for the year - - - (19,391) 354,229 - 28,757 303,595 74781 1,018,382
Transfer of fair value oss on equity RHERERRATEN
investments at fai value through other ~~ EH2EREZRARE
comprehensive income to retained profits AT EFEZRBE
Upon disposal - - - 129 - - (129) - - -
Transfer of air value oss on debt RHERERRATEH
investments at fai velue thiough other ~ EtEENEZ EERE
comprehensive income to profitsorloss ~ AFEFEEEE
upon disposal - - - 6,303 - - - 6,303 - 6,303
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (192,125)  (192,125)
Capital injection by non-controlling
interests - - - - - - - - 10,584 10,584
Non-controlling interests arising from
acquisition of business (Note 32) ] - - - - - - - - 66,696 66,696
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) il - - - - (3.281) - - (3.281) - (3.281)
Deregistration of a subsidiary HER-EN - - - - - - - - (3,360) (3,360)
Changes in the ownership interests in s
subsidiaies that do not resutina loss of ~ FTAEELEE
control (Note 37(d)) (370 - - - 13,233 - - - 13,233 (13.233) =
At 31 December 2020 AZEZEE+ZRZT-A 57,670 13,208 (420202) 1,401,017 (221,160) 1241 2936360 3778134 3568080 7,346,214
Note: B 5

RZZE-TE+_A=+—B HEEIES
FEB AR A 5 #93,316,0008 7T (ZZF — L4 -
63,042,000 ) & # A & #:1,397,701,0007% T (=
T — fL4 1 1,397,701,000% 7T) °

As at 31 December 2020, other reserves mainly comprise capital and other reserve
amounting to approximately HK$3,316,000 (2019: HK$63,042,000) and contribution
surplus amounting to HK$1,397,701,000 (2019: HK$1,397,701,000).

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ll‘l

Iﬁvﬁ/}lbii

For the year ended 31 December 2020
ZE+_A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EC-EH —NE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHExT FHT
Cash flows from operating activities KEEHRESRE
Profit for the year F R M 515,315 779,119
Adjustments for: HATEEELFE
Taxation IR 115,601 194,391
Finance costs BEER 301,034 281,773
Finance income ﬁﬂ%”ﬂl?\ (304,068) (151,491)
Share of losses of investments accounted SEEAEREARZ
for using the equity method KEBE 19,002 3,636
Equity-settled share-based payments LARE S S B AR 1D
REM K — 2,285
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 19 6,858 2,912
Depreciation and depletion of property, W - BB REE
plant and equipment mERER 16 412,946 488,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 17 23,208 27,457
Impairment on oil and gas properties W BEREZHET
under property, plant and equipment HMREERE 16 625,633 30,395
(Reversal of)/impairment loss of loan and —HBERARER L
interest receivables from an associate FEUF B /) (8=~
BEEE (5,800) 3,830
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEME BER
equipment BB EE 3,624 2,393
Losses/(gains) on disposal of financial HEZEAFEEETA
assets at fair value through other B2 EWms 2
comprehensive income MEEENEBE
(ezs) 8 12,869 (5,281)
Losses/(gains) on disposal of subsidiaries HERBRARNEIR,
(Wezm) 8 1,534 (16,913)
Written off of exploration and evaluation BR KA B E R
assets 18 26,379 19,377
Provision for assets retirement obligation BEWREAERE 30 2,263 6,307
1,756,398 1,669,154
Changes in working capital: HEESEH
Inventories ra (35,731) 16,616
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other EREE - Hz%
receivables H i JE YR 123,102 11,058
Trade and other payables E%&E@%H%ﬂlﬁ (501,119) (97,527)
Contract liabilities AHBE 580,454 116,082
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_TE+_AZ+—RALEE

(continued) (#)

2020 2019
et g 2 —E-hF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FHEIT
Cash generated from operations KEEER® 1,923,104 1,715,383
Taxation paid [RENEZRE (274,497) (269,412)
Net cash generated from operating activities & EKEL 2R EFHE 1,648,607 1,445,971
Cash flows from investing activities KEEHRERE
Interest received 2 U F B 408,847 110,651
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME  WEREE -
equipment, land use rights and prepaid T R LA K
construction costs TE A AR (951,302) (874,325)
Purchases of right-of-use assets BEGCRAEEE (53,038) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME - WE R
and equipment REFTRRIA 16,054 1,803
Net cash (outflow)/inflow as a result of HEWB QA
disposal of subsidiaries Be (Rd) RWAFEE 33 (44,136) 3,416
Purchases of other intangible assets BEEMEREEE 19 (15,703) (1,668)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERATEF AEAM
through other comprehensive income cEREZPBEEE (281,248) (472,144)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at ~ H &L A FE A A
fair value through other comprehensive TEHWECHMBEE
income FR1S5RIE 255,238 234,936
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, Ui B BT B8 2~ R RRIE
net of cash acquired MR EERS 32 (136,867) —
Loan to an associate BERT—RBE AR (170,421) (82,433)
Increase in time deposits with maturity over  FER A=A AL LK
three months TE H3 15 138 N (522,506) (138,315)
Site restoration expenditure Tk 18 X H (923) (3,448)
Net cash used in investing activities RERSMARFE (1,496,005) (1,221,527)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Fan Iﬁﬁﬂlbi '13«‘:2

For the year ended 31 December 2020

"= TFE+A=1+—HLFE
(continued) (#&)

2020 2019
—E-EE —NF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHERT FAT
Cash flows from financing activities MEFHRSNE
Interest paid 25 & (439,269) (239,585)
New borrowings raised FEEEE 2,159,432 754,397
Redemption of senior notes BOEELEER 28 — (2,370,532)
Repayments of borrowings EEEE (1,424,931) (835,603)
Capital injection by non-controlling R ERITE
interests 10,584 —
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests SRR B T IR (192,125) (135,528)
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net BITREZERAEGNRIA
of transaction costs (MNBRZFA) — 2,701,369
Principal elements of lease payments HENREAEIH S (14,296) (17,889)
Dividend paid [EEREES — (23,356)
Share repurchases fi% 17 B Bl — (19,846)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing BEFESHELE(FTA)Z
activities e FEE 99,395 (186,573)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RekBFeEEEE
E o ERE 251,997 37,871
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January Fé‘*ﬁ —BzRER
ReHEEHE 2,521,199 2,508,223
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREH) g & 153,238 (24,895)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+-A=+—HZ
RekReEHEER 24 2,926,434 2,521,199
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LR ARG R E R EEREN I —OFBIE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is at Suite 2805, 28th Floor, Sino Plaza,
255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaging in investment in energy related business in various regions in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and West Central Alberta,
Canada, including but not limited to 1) piped city gas business, pipeline
design and construction; 2) transportation, distribution and sales of
compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied natural gas (“LNG");
and 3) development, production and sale of oil and gas and other
upstream energy resources. The Company and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to the “Group”.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of certain financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following new standard, and
amendments to standards which are relevant to the Group's
operations and are mandatory for the financial year beginning
on or after 1 January 2020:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

Revised Conceptual
Framework for Financial

Reporting
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

New standard and amendments to standards not yet
adopted

The following are new standard and amendments to standards
that have been issued but are not effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2020 and have not been early adopted.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

2 WmREE (F)

(@)

(b)

AR EBERANETHT AT B A AERT 22 Rl

SEERMTIEEENKEESR

MER_ZF_FTHF-A—-HB=#x
1% & B B R SR B BLTT MY R AT
A RERTA
BREHENFIRL BEANESR
BRI ERFSHR
CHEN)
BAMBREER  XBMER
35 (7T K)
“E-\FHBREN CEIMBREL
RER BER
BAMBREERN  MRERERE

FOW - BAGHE
BIE39% R BEM
RS ERETH
CHEN)

LRI ZFETAHBESR
MEXNETRLAETANTE - ¥
AT EHERNKNRKRYRE
EEAFE -

faf AR B A 2 3 2E R R 22 BIB9S BT AR

AT RERNMERT A B
fERAR T _FTF—H—H
Ml e M BFEEERASLERR
A o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2

(b) New standard and amendments to standards not yet

adopted (Continued)

MBEE (1F)
(a) EBIBEREENEE (&
Effective for accounting periods

beginning on or after

RENTERRERFARNEF

HRM AW
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
BERPBEREERE 165 (BFIA) HCovid- 198BS ER ZEZTFRAH

Annual Improvements
F U
Amendments to HKAS 16

BB ENE 169 (BFIA)
Amendments to HKAS 37

BB EREITH (BFIR)
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BERUBREENEIR (BT X)
Amendments to HKAS 1

EREGHENE IR (BITR)

HKFRS 17

ERUBRELENENTR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEMBHELRIE105% K&
B G ERFE285 (BRI A)

The Group will apply the above new standard and amendments

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

ERUBREEN_Z-NFE_T_TFL
F 2 U

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use

1 January 2022

—E--F—H—H

1 January 2022

WE - BEREE  BERBRANMGEHE —TZ=%—A—H
Onerous Contract: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
ZEAH  BITRAMKAK —TZ=%—A—H
Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
B ERM R —TZ=Z%—A—H

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

1 January 2023

HEBEIERRDRIERD —E-=%—A—H
Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Riga 4 —TZ=%—A—H

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined

and its Associate or Joint Venture
WEEHEBENRNEEDEZHN %
BEHEITE

N

& E SR a3 2R & £ ANERT

to standards when they become effective. The directors of the
Company assess that the adoption of the new standard and
amendments to standards is not expected to have any significant
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

(@) Subsidiaries

()

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

4}

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e

(continued) (#)

3

B 7% R MY A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@

Consolidation (Continued)

4}

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)

) Consolidation (Continued)

4}

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

(continued) (#)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@

Consolidation (Continued)

(2)

(3

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the
owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, a joint venture or a
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
(i) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

3

(a)

e M RRME
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(b)

()

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised
in the profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements
in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted for
using equity method in the profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the profit or loss.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group
has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined
it to be joint venture. Joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

3

ES

(b)

(9]

EETBRRUE (&)

BrE T (A)

SEHEGRBRENIBRZN
BMRBEREPHER - HEGEREBER
Ht2HKRa8B AR Ede2®E
Weas iR UHREREEE
HAEHEE - 5B EN — B
BRRBEBEERNEBHEN X
ERBIMBEAES (BREME

hEERERZIE) K BT
BE-—JTHRIBE  BRIFEEAX

FERRTEBRARZBEA
AN -

SEREHREAYBERLGAE
MEBEERTNBEQRKRE
HIERE - MEEENL  £E8
REBE QR AW E S HEEE K
HEEZRTERESHINESR
TRERCREER R OB AR
EARZREGN o

SEEABEAFZELETER
HEEZENREEE N IFRE
BREERBERRZERZRRR
SEMBHRERABER -  RERB
BYUEE XBABREECD
BEREBEZRZERN - BEQA
B BRRCOHTEEE - R
BEBMRABERER B -

ERBELRBREEETINREN

HEER -

HEZH

SECHAMERARLTHERER
MM ELENENGR - RIEFE
BBmELENENR - RERZ
HeBRERFEREFEZANE
MEEEMOPBEREBEREHXRE
EhE - FECHEEARZH
ZHE - IHEARZHRER
BRELE -  AELERBAEDE
ABR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(9]

(d)

Joint arrangement (Continued)

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. The
Group’s investment in joint venture include goodwill identified
on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest
in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint
venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint
venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint venture have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the interest in the joint venture is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investment accounted for
using equity method in the profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3
POLICIES (Continued)

TESHHRRBE (&)

(e) HNEBRE

(e) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency () DEEREZHEK
ltems included in the financial statements of each of EEEERBIMBREME
the Group's entities using the currency of the primary HIER S DRZERBLE
economic environment in which the entity operates EZFEZEBRRCEE
("the functional currency”). The consolidated financial (e EB]) 2 - K46
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s FBBRRUARNG 2WEERE
functional and the Group's presentation currency. ZEBMEEAETEY o

(i) Transactions and balances (i) RBRAEE
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the INERXRGHBRRHHIBEE

functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated profit or loss within ‘administrative
expenses’.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Transaction
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equity held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of
the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equity classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iir)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

— income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation
reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the year
end closing rate. Currency translation differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3 FE®

(continued) (#)

ATHREE (&)
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(e)

()

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iv)  Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly buildings, plant
and machinery, oil and gas properties, pipelines and construction
in progress. Accounting policies for oil and gas properties are
set out in Note 3(g). All other property, plant and equipment is
stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment, if any.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed
in the profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.
Except for oil and gas properties and construction in progress,
depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12.5 to 40 years or remaining
lease period of the land where
applicable

Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years

Pipelines 20 years

Others 3 to 20 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement of
financial position. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note

30

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“administrative expenses” in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents, buildings under
development for future owner-occupied purpose and pipelines
under construction, which is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Costs comprise direct
and indirect incremental costs of acquisition or construction.
Completed items are transferred from construction in progress
to proper categories of property, plant and equipment when
they are ready for their intended use.

Oil and gas properties

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the
drilling of commercially proven development wells, is capitalised
within construction in progress under property, plant and
equipment. When development is completed on a specific field,
it is transferred to oil and gas properties under property, plant
and equipment. No depreciation and depletion is charged during
the development phase.

Oil and gas properties are aggregated exploration and evaluation
assets and development expenditures associated with the
production of proved reserves.
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(9)

e M RRME
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(9

(h)

Oil and gas properties (Continued)

Oil and gas properties are depreciated and depleted using
the unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates are
based on total proved plus probable reserves, which are oil,
gas and other mineral reserves estimated to be recovered using
current operating methods and taking into account estimated
future development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production. Future development costs are estimated taking
into account the level of development required to produce the
reserve.

Proven oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the successful efforts method of
accounting. Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field basis.
Geological, geophysical costs and pre-licence costs are expensed
as incurred. Costs directly associated with an exploration well,
and exploration and property leasehold acquisition costs, are
capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets until the
determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is determined that
commercial discovery has not been achieved, these costs are
charged to expense.

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration and evaluation
assets are tested for impairment and transferred to construction
in progress under property, plant and equipment. No
depreciation and depletion is charged during the exploration and
evaluation phase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

0]

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment
when reclassified to construction in progress, or whenever
facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the exploration and
evaluation assets’ carrying amount exceeds their recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration
and evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and their
value in use.

Intangible assets
) Gooadwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of businesses represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment
level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
and more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less cost of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

e M RRME
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

0]

)

Intangible assets (Continued)
(i)~ Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise mainly exclusive rights,
club membership and computer operating system.

Exclusive rights are shown at historical cost. Exclusive
rights have definite useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of exclusive
rights over their estimated useful lives ranging from 30 to
48 years for natural gas supply services.

Investment in club membership is shown at historical
cost. Investment in club membership has indefinite useful
life and is tested annually for impairment and carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is not
amortised.

Computer operating system is shown at historical cost.
Computer operating system has definite useful lives and is
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of computer operating system over its estimated
useful lives of 2 to 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example, goodwill or
intangible assets not ready to use — are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Investments and other financial assets

()

(ir)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income (“OCI")
or through profit or loss); and

3 those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity investments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(k)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iir)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in “other
(losses)/gains, net” together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

(continued) (#&)
3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESHEBREBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

RENRAMBMBEEE (&)

(k) Investments and other financial assets (Continued) (k)

(i) Measurement (Continued) (i)  FrE (8)

BEIAE)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in “other
(losses)/gains, net”. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “other (losses)/
gains, net” and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in profit or loss.
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(continued) (#)

3

B 7% R MY A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 4.2(b) for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

0)

(m)

(n)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and other direct costs. It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less all costs to completion
and all direct costs necessary make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for sales and
distribution of oil and natural gas and other related products or
gas pipeline construction and connection services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade and other receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant
risk of changes in value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(o)

(p)

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there
is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(@)

(r)

(s)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for the
sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products,
provision of gas pipeline construction and connection services,
and the exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas,
stated net of value added taxes.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customers and the payment by the customers exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheet as
a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the Group’s performance and the
customer’s payment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for goods that the Group has transferred to a customer.
Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contact, if recoverable, are
capitalised and presented as assets and subsequently amortised
when the related revenue is recognised.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment
is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier).
A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer the
promised goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the goods
and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
Control of the goods and services is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

J does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the
performance obligation:

o Direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

o The Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected
efforts or inputs.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group’s activity described below:

) Sales and distribution of natural gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised at a
point in time when control is transferred to customers,
which generally coincides with the time when gas is
transmitted and used by the customers, and is based
on the gas consumption derived from meter readings.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the
point the customer consume the gas. Payments received
in advance on pre-paid I/C cards that are related to sales
of natural gas not yet delivered are recognised as contract
liabilities and deferred in the consolidated statements of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ir)

Gas pipeline construction and connection

The Group provides gas pipeline construction and
connection services to its end-customers under fixed-price
contracts. Revenue from the provision of gas pipeline
construction and connection services is recognised over
time as the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation over time,
by measuring the progress using output method on the
basis of direct measurements of the value the customer
of the promised goods or services transferred to date
certified by internal engineers, relative to the value of total
goods or services promised under the contract with the
customer. The Group recognises revenue over time only
if it can reasonably measure its progress toward complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Estimates of costs or extent of progress toward completion
are revised if circumstances change. Any change in
estimation of progress are reflected in profit or loss in
the period which the circumstances that give rise to the
revision become known by management.

The customers are required to pay in advance for full or
certain contract amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the payment,
a contract asset is recognised. If the payment exceed the
services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

1(Q2 CHINAOILAND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)  Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iir)

(iv)

Revenue from exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas

The revenue from the sales of crude oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids is measured based on consideration
specified in contracts with customers. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time when customers obtain
legal title to the oil and gas which is when it is physically
transferred to pipeline or other transportation method
agreed upon.

Sales of equipment

Revenue from sales of equipment are recognised when
control of the equipment has transferred, being when the
equipment are delivered to the customers, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
equipment has been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customers, and either the customers has accepted
the equipment in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term
of 60 to 90 days, which is consistent with market practice.

No refund liability and right to the returned equipment is
recognised as insignificant amount of returns is expected
based on previous experience.

A receivable is recognised when the equipment is delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3
POLICIES (Continued)

TESTRRBE (&)

(t) Interest income 1 FEHA
Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated RBEX T ENMBEEE 2T
using the effective interest method is recognised in the BRURAERERNBEZSE 1B
statement of profit or loss as part of finance income. BEaxPRERANER -
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest MBWADRYBEEREAE
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except FUNEBRFERAE - RER
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. EERARENTEEERN - 3
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is TEGFRARENUFEEMS -
applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after ERMNEERUMBEEENERE
deduction of the loss allowance). FE (MkEEREER) -

(u) Employee benefits (v EEEF

) Retirement benefit costs

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and
the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of
the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the provincial
governments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued)

(@)

(i)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those qualifying employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
and who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, contributions to the
scheme by the Group and the employees are calculated
as a percentage of employee’s relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
retirement benefit scheme costs charged to consolidated
profit or loss represent contributions payable by the
Group in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Employee entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
payment are recognised when they accrue to the
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave and long service payment as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the statement of
financial position date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3
POLICIES (Continued)

TESHHRRBE (&)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued) () EEER (&)
(i) Share-based payments (i) AR BEREZ T
The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share- HEZHEUEREEN
based compensation plans, under which the entity BHBEMROBBMETE - B
receives services from employees as consideration for BE%ETE - BRKDRESR

equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant
of share options or restricted shares is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options or restricted
shares granted:

MRGAEREEESTA
MRE - BRESBERERE
P 8 = BRIl 1 B £ 0 32 4 AR
BHAFEERSER ° &
TRXHNBESEDIRL2ER
B AR SR M AR £ B 2
FEEETE

. including any market performance conditions (for e BHEETMMIERIREK
example, an entity’s share price); Hlm e BER
&)

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,

s TEEMEMRSE NI
mHRBEEBGE (I

profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an Bieh - HEEK

employee of the entity over a specified time period); BRALREEHME

and NHERERBEER) 2%
2Kk

. including the impact of any non-vesting conditions e BRMEMEREKMN

(for example, the requirement for employees to save 22 (flm - HiES

or holding shares for a specified period of time). ZERHEERER

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options or restricted shares that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over

HFaBRn) -

FTMEEBGHEREERR
B THEE 2 BRESLR
B EE 2BREA - &

the vesting period, which is the period over which all of YiHeHERNERBHAANER -
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At BN & P A I PR 2 5 B R 14
the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its WHRE - RE iﬁz HEHR
estimates of the number of options or restricted shares EREBIEMGEBKRGE

that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iir)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Share option scheme

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium when the options are
exercised.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity.

Share award scheme

When restricted shares are granted, the fair value of
restricted shares are recognised as expense with a
corresponding adjustment to equity over the vesting
period.

Where the Group purchases the Company’s shares from
the market, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares held
for award scheme” and deducted from total equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(v)

(w)

Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs
and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and
employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Group, its associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ir)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date
of the statement of financial position and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(continued) (#)

3 FESTHTHEME (&)

(w)

(ii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(w)

(x)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(i) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to the same
taxation authority.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use
by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESHEBREBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(x)  Leases (Continued) (x) & (&)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party financing was received,
and makes adjustments specific to the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3

(x)

Leases (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
Group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received

. any initial direct costs, and restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's
useful life.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(y)

Leases (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties,
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities as deferred government
grants and are credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

(x)

(y)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4 BriEREpeERE
4.1  Financial instruments by categories 41 REREZzEMIA

Financial assets

at fair value Financial Financial
through other assets liabilities
comprehensive at amortised at amortised
income cost cost
BATLEFA 3§ RE
Htt2EMEZ BATEZ BAHEZ
BHBEE BHBEE BHBAR
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
fit e TER TER TER
As at 31 December 2020 RZE_ZF
T-A=t-A
Debt investments BERE 21 513,514 — —
Equity investments RAKE 21 120,481 — —
Deposits, trade and other Be - BHREM
receivables B RE — 2,035,558 —
Time deposits, bank balances ~ FHTEH - FITEH R
and cash Re 24 — 3,763,004 —
Trade and other payables B REMEMNTIE — — 1,215,849
Borrowings EE 27 — — 2,338,411
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 — — 76,560
Senior notes BRER 28 — — 5,410,227
633,995 5,798,562 9,041,047
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Financial instruments by categories (Continued)

FREMBHRRIE
(continued) (#&)
4 BIBERERE (&
41 RERBSz&BMIA (&)

Financial assets

at fair value Financial Financial
through other assets liabilities
comprehensive at amortised at amortised
income cost cost
RATERA R R
Htz2EKHE 2 AR ELZ A EZ
HEEE HEEE HEasE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FitzE TEx TR TR
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
TZRA=+—-H
Debt investments BEREE 21 614,601 = =
Equity investments RAEE 21 79,341 = =
Deposits, trade and other Be BHREM
receivables JE U B = 1,933,779 =
Time deposits, bank balances ~ FHTER » RITHEH R
and cash RBe 24 = 2,816,789 =
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNTKIE — = 1,237,789
Borrowings R 27 = = 1,435,280
Lease liabilities HEEE 17 = = 60,874
Senior notes BEER 28 = = 5,411,161
693,942 4,750,568 8,145,104

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, price risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course
of its business and financial instruments. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Market risk

0]

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to United States dollars (“US$"”), Canadian
dollars (“CAD") and Renminbi (“RMB"). Currency
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments
in foreign operations. In addition, the conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. This currency
exposure is managed primarily through sourcing
supplies denominated in the same currency.

Management has set up a policy to require group
companies to manage their foreign exchange risk
against functional currency. It mainly includes
managing the exposures arise from sales and
purchases made by the relevant group companies
in currencies other than their own functional
currencies. The Group also manages its foreign
exchange risk by performing regular reviews of
the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures. The
Group has not used any forward foreign exchange
contracts to hedge its exposure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

0]

Currency risk (Continued)

Prices for oil and natural gas in Canada are
determined in global markets and generally
denominated in US$. Oil and natural gas prices
obtained by the Group are influenced by both
United States and Canadian demand and the
corresponding North American supply, and recently,
by imports of liquefied natural gas. The exchange
rate effect cannot be quantified but generally an
increase in the value of CAD as compared to US$
will reduce the prices received by the Group for its
petroleum and natural gas sales. At 31 December
2020 and 2019, there has no financial instrument
denominated in US$ in the books of subsidiaries
with functional currency denominated in CAD.

As US$ is pegged with HK$ under the Linked
Exchange Rate System, the Group has minimal
exposure to currency risk arising from USS$.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.
As at 31 December 2020, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been HK$690,000 (2019: HK$989,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of RMB denominated
cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from
debt and equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income amounted to HK$633,995,000 (2019:
HK$693,942,000). Most of these investments are
listed either on the stock exchanges of Hong Kong
or other countries.

Equity investments are held as long-term strategic
investments and have been chosen based on their
longer term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.

Debt investments are placed with counterparties
with sound credit quality. The Group closely
monitors the credit quality and financial positions
of counterparties and consider appropriate action
if the market value of those securities decline by a
pre-determined threshold.

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value
or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of
changes in commodity prices. Commaodity prices for
oil and natural gas in Canada are impacted by the
relationship between CAD and US$ as well as world
economic events that dictate the levels of supply
and demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets, except for short-term bank deposits, loans to
an associate and loans to third parties, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
Management does not anticipate significant impact
on interest-bearing assets resulted from changes
in interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from borrowings
and senior notes. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk.

Details of the Group’s borrowings and senior notes
are set out in Notes 27 and 28 respectively.

e M RRME

(continued) (#&)
M ERER (&)
42 BERBER (&)
@ w5EE (&)
(i) FRER

MR EBKEHRT
TR BERT —HEB
ERARERTE=
TN AEBKREFER
BE SERARE
ERERERITD T
XMBNEEHTE -

M TR H R 17 17 BRA

B ETEEF R E Y
FFEEETEERY
@ .

SENXZRARHEER
EEBEZEREE - &
FEBMBZEERS
B ERRSRENE
Bk - EBEE]E
SEmELFEMNX
[E B o

SERERELERRE

Z F B B R KR
27}%28 -

hEMAEBERAR 2020FFH 119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BIKRERER (&)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BiEREZE (&
(@) Market risk (Continued) (a) WHEEE (&)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk as the
interest rate risk exposure is not significant. In
order to manage the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group will repay the corresponding borrowings
when it has surplus funds.

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates on floating rate borrowings, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group's post tax profit for the year by approximately
HK$7,075,000 (2019: HK$3,126,000). The above
sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
date of the statement of financial position and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis points increase or decrease represents
management'’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the year until the next
annual statement of financial position date. The
analysis was performed on the same basis for 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BIRERER (&)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

42 HEREBRREE (&)

Credit risk ) EEmEE

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to SEzEERBFZEHSAR
contract assets, deposits, trade and other receivables, EHNEE - %z B R
debt investments at FVOCI, time deposits with maturity Hih U RIE - AT E
over three months, and cash at banks with a maximum qu)\E’rlﬂiﬁllﬁl“Zfo&
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these financial Z - HEBAR=EANKESN

instruments which are stated as follows:

EMEFERARBITRE -
HHZEERAREENZE
ERMIAZKREE S WTMRA

I
2020 2019
—Bo2F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Contract assets, deposits, trade and BRNEE e Bk
other receivables H h fE R IE 2,181,219 2,040,600
Debt investments at FVOCI BRAFEFAEM
PEHKREZEBERE 513,514 614,601
Time deposits with maturity over B A=MEA N LK
three months EHFER 836,570 295,590
Cash at banks RITHEE 2,924,813 2,518,640
Maximum exposure to credit risk T = 15 B B 6,456,116 5,469,431
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures EREEHERK ZEER
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. R WHZEEERBRHE
BE */L °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BBEBRER (&
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BiIREBEZE (&)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) FEREE (&)
(i)  Credit risk of cash at banks and time deposits (i) ZHEB=@ALKHR
with maturity over three months THEREHERZE
BER
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all of the RZTEZZTEFR=ZE
Group's bank deposits are deposited in major —hAE+=A=+—
financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong H SEBEmMBERTHE
Kong, which the management believes are of high FAGEHREREER
credit quality without significant credit risk. There REBEXNEERR
has been no recent history of default in relation to MEEEERZH
these financial institutions. The expected credit loss REBTESmEE -
is assessed to be insignificant. ZEemEBEERT
MEARESL - BHE
EBEBELHEATE
% o
The Group's bank deposits as at 31 December 2020 RZE_ZEFER_F
and 2019 were as follows: —hEF+ZA=+—
H SBEZRITEXR
N
2020 2019
et g 53 —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
State-owned or listed banks Bl ok T ERTT 1,944,447 1,746,755
Other banks H At $R17 1,816,936 1,067,475
3,761,383 2,814,230
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BBEBRER (&)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BI¥RBEZ (&)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) FEREE (&)

(ii)  Credit risk of loan and interest receivables from (i) RE—HBEEQARANERR

an associate EWFEZEERE

The directors of the Company consider the ARRAEZEREERY

probability of default upon initial recognition TR E A /] B

of asset and whether there has been significant Mo UEREBEEZZE

increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis during —EF+ A=+ —

the year ended 31 December 2020. To assess BEFEFEERR=

whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, BREBEEM - B

the Group compares risk of a default occurring on A EERBES R

the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of EEm - SEHERE

default as at the date of initial recognition. Especially ERHMEEELEEND

the following indicators are incorporated: B R B B 1) s TR

BEHWEORRET
L& o FRlMATI

BIZ
—  Actual or expected significant adverse change — XK MBEE
in business, financial economic conditions that Ak B BB sk T8
are expected to cause a significant change to HEXTHEE
the associate’s ability to meet its obligations; T8 5T 1% 18 B &

REAIBTEED
MEENELEEX

8 (1
—  Actual or expected significant changes in the — BEARKLEXE
operating results of the associate; BEHER K TES
BERE
— Significant changes in the expected — BEAQAEHE
performance and behaviour of the associate, BROTIBBWERKR
including changes in the payment status of 2 BEBHZ
the associate. YNN8 -850
21t -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk of loan and interest receivables from
an associate (Continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if the associate is
more than 30 days past due in making a contractual
payment/repayable demanded.

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments/
repayable demanded within 90 days of when they
fall due.

The management considers the credit risk on loan
and interest receivables from an associate after
considering the financial conditions of the associate
and concluded that there was no significant
increase in credit risk, and the expected credit
losses was limited to 12-months expected credit
losses. Management has applied the expected
credit risk model and estimated the probability-
weighted default rate of 2.2% (2019: 3.5%) and
loss given default rate of 60.2% (2019: 60.2%)
after considering the current economic environment
and the forward looking economic factors. Loss
allowance of approximately HK$14,197,000 (2019:
HK$20,360,000) is recognised as at 31 December
2020 and reversal of impairment loss amounted to
approximately HK$5,800,000 (2019: impairment
loss of HK$3,830,000) is recognised during current
reporting period.
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BBEBRER (&)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 HERMRREE (&)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) FEREE (&)
(iii) Credit risk of deposits and other receivables (i) ZEeRHEMEKRREZ
FERK
Deposits and other receivables were mainly rental ’e &HE MBI RIE =
deposits, refundable deposits placed to suppliers, ZRMEERS T A
loan to third parties, amounts due from associates, HEEMIERZS
consideration receivables and note receivables. BTE=ZAH %
The credit quality of deposits and other receivables FE Uy B = A R FROIE
has been assessed with reference to historical Fé”ﬁlﬁfﬁﬁﬁfﬂimﬁ%
information about the counterparties default rates ReREMERRZ

and financial position of the counterparties. Given
the track record of repayment in full, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the risk of
default by these counterparties is not significant and
does not expect any losses from non-performance
by the counterparties. Therefore, expected credit
loss rate of the deposits and other receivables is
assessed to be insignificant and no provision was
made as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

FEHRKLZ2EXS
HABNERRSY
THBRRAZELE
BHETHE - BEBEX
%@ By {48 50 8%
T§$WN&%§
%ﬁEWE&HM
Kéﬁ&ﬁﬁxgﬁ
REZHATEBHME
ZEMBEL - Bt -
e Rk EMEKKRIE
ZTEHEEEBBEH
FEAETERNRRZ
EEER-FT N
EF+-_A=+—8B%
METIREH o
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
receivables

For sales and distribution of natural gas and other
related products, and the provision of pipeline
construction and connection services in the PRC,
the Group generally requests advances from these
customers. For exploitation and production of crude
oil and natural gas in Canada, receivables from oil
and natural gas marketers are normally collected on
the 25th day of the month following production.
In circumstances of credit sales, to manage the
credit risk in respect of contract assets and trade
receivables, the Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit history and the Group performs
credit evaluations of its customers, and generally
does not require collateral from the customers on
the outstanding balances.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected credit loss provision for all contract assets
and trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses, contract
assets and trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. All customers of the Group are
assessed collectively using a provision matrix. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same types of
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that
the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets.

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. For customers
relating to the sales and distribution of natural gas
and other related products as well as the provision
of pipeline construction and connection services
in the PRC, the Group has identified the GDP
growth rate of the PRC to be the most relevant
factor. For oil and natural gas marketers relating
to the exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas in Canada, the Group has identified
that commodity price fluctuation to be the most
relevant factor. The Group adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors
accordingly.

e M RRME

(continued) (#&)
M ERER (&)
42 BBEBREE (&)
) EE@EE (&)

(ivy EREERESERR
B2 EERBRE

RIAERHEEER -
BRHEENRESREEK
RECRABEER
R RBHXED
B AKERBRF
B MR E R REETT
EEdhH a0EE
BRABEERTIE -
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HEROERFH -
At - KSEEERR
B 5 kWA R TR
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
receivables (Continued)

Contract assets and trade receivables are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan
with the Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period of greater than 1 year past
due.

Impairment losses on contract assets and trade
receivables are presented as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

Given the track record of regular repayment of
receivables and no history of material default from
the customers, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the risk of default by these
customers is not significant. Therefore, the expected
credit loss of contract assets and trade receivables is
assessed to be insignificant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Credit risk of debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are normally
only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised
stock exchange, except where entered into for
long-term strategic purposes. Management
considers “low credit risk” for listed bonds to be
an investment grade credit rating with at least one
major rating agency (Moody's: B3 or above and
Standard & Poor’s: B- or above). Other instruments
are considered to be low credit risk when they have
a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term. The Group also considered the
forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors including GDP and Purchase Price Index. The
Group has assessed that the expected credit losses
for these financial assets are not material under the
12-months expected credit loss method. Thus no
loss allowance provision was recognised as at the
balance sheet date.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

e M RRME
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(©)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s Board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BBEBRER (&)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BI¥RBEZ (&)
(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) © wEEzEE (&)
The following tables detail the remaining contractual T3k aF a5k B B TS B AR B
maturities at date of the statement of financial position BikAE& BB FHRE LR
of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on HAE DREGAORFTR
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest Ren=E (BECAEOFHN
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, RETEMH BN KRBT
based on rates current at the statement of financial B REBRKAKBHOR
position date) and the earliest date the Group can be TREAHE) REBEAAEEA
required to pay: XHHRE BB AKE
Total Less than
Total carrying contractual 1 year or Between Between Over
Group £5 amount undiscounted on demand 1t0 2 years 2to 5 years 5 years
BHFKITE 15R5
FE4E ) BERA 1528 255% SENL
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Ti#n T TR Thn Thr TR

Asat31 December 2000 W-Z-F

tZA=t-H
Trade and other payables 25 REHEMNZE 1,215,849 1,215,849 1,215,849 = = =
Borrowings g 2,338,411 2,466,078 1,406,672 157,786 901,620 -
Senior notes BrEE 5,410,227 5,917,835 296,669 2,905,655 2,715,511 -
Lease liabilties BEARE 76,560 91223 17,185 16,791 3,218 25,029
9,041,047 9,690,985 2,936,375 3,080,232 3,649,349 25,029
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-h %
tZA=+-A
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNFE 1,237,789 1,237,789 1,237,789 = = =
Borrowings BE 1,435,280 1,461,101 1,433,029 1,383 26,689 =
Senior notes BxE 5,411,161 6,214,316 295,547 296,669 5,622,100 =
Lease liabilties HEARE 60,874 71,999 15,045 10,297 28,088 18,569
8,145,104 8,985,205 2,981.410 308,349 5,676,877 18,569
Note: B &
The Group complied with senior notes covenant as at 31 RZZEZZTEFRZFT—NF
December 2020 and 2019 and did not trigger the callable terms. +ZA=+—8 £EBETE
EEBZORNEFBEERD
MEZIER -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4

4.3

Capital risk management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditure and projected strategic investment opportunities. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, repurchase
the Company'’s shares, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of available cash and
cash equivalents and current ratio as shown in and derived from

4

B EREE (&)

4.3

EXEBRER

SECZEAERTIZEERRE
SERBEEREQE 2N - K
Fr 8 3 IR 5 R B 3 o 4 EL A

I R+ & &

mEASEREME -
BARRBIABDERKA -
SEEBRERARSREEEAR
B AUKEEEEZARESS
i&§$ﬁ¥‘aw K T8 B & 7
EIREHZERERE - BY
ﬁ$ﬁi&ﬁ%%%&ﬁ%@ﬁ
BREBCEARBERRERE -
RERTRABEARE » KEXK
EREBEINTERRZBRESE -
EERRAED @ MERRE®REAR -
BITHBRRHEEEEARDER -

SERBEHEEMBRARAKRA TR
FEMGZARRERREEE

the consolidated statement of financial position. The table below EHERRBLEEREZTER - T%
analyses the Group’s capital structure: BREBEREBE 2D
2020 2019
—E-EF —NEF
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) RekBF&EMEEBEE (TETL) 2,926,434 2,521,199
Current ratio (Current assets divided by 7@ th =
current liabilities) (RBEERARISERE) 1.21 1.08
The Group’s strategy is to maintain the current ratio above EECABERABLEEREFE

1.00 and sufficient cash and cash equivalents to support the
operations and development of its business in the long term.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-asset
ratio. The ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total assets.
Total debt is calculated as total borrowings and senior notes. The
Group’s gearing ratio was 40% (2019: 41%) as at 31 December
2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4  Fair value estimation

()

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of the
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
statement of financial position date across the three levels
of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each
financial instruments categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement.

The levels are defined as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

° Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active market for similar financial instruments, or
using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
data.

o Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input
is not based on observable market data.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

B EREE (&)

44 NVEME (F)

() Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued) () URNFEIFRS 26T A (&)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—BIX EZBR FZEBIR @gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL
As at 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZF
+-B=+—8~
Financial assets at FVOCI: BATEFAEMEE
W HBEE -
— Listed equity investments ~ — EFWRAKRE 60,981 — — 60,981
— Listed debt investments — FTHERKERE 513,064 — — 513,064
— Unlisted equity investments — JF F AR AR A — — 59,500 59,500
— Unlisted debt investments — — 3F F M EKRE — 450 — 450
574,045 450 59,500 633,995
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—NEF
TZA=1—-H
Financial assets at FVOCI: BATEFAEMEZE
W MBEEE -
— Listed equity investments — FTRAERE 79,341 - - 79,341
— Listed debt investments — L EBRE 614,151 — — 614,151
— Unlisted debt investments ~— — JF FMERHERE = 450 - 450
693,492 450 — 693,942
During the year, there were no transfers between Z’SEF —ERX =
instruments in level 1, level 2 and level 3. TERRREZBRZEZT
A $E)E mEE o

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

) Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the date of the statement of financial position.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm'’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily
Hong Kong and Dow Jones equity and debt
investments classified as financial assets at FVOCI
(2019: same).

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)
() Financial instruments in level 3
Fair values for the unquoted equity investments

are estimated based on recent market transactions
adjusted for specific circumstances of the issuer.

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

4 BBERER (&)

44 NVEME (F)

(@)

(ii)

R FESRe 2/ ITA ()
() H=EXR&mIA
EREREIZRENDA
?fﬁﬁ}f@*ﬁ*”}\%
'_‘ 15 ﬁ/ uﬂ % E’] F
ZhEEH -

EHEX T B BRI A BUIEH

inputs (Level 3) N EEHE (F=R)
2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FHET

Unlisted equity securities FLETRAES

At 1 January mn—A—H — =
Addition NE 56,000 —
Foreign exchange adjustments NGRS 3,500 =
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 59,500 —

As at 31 December 2020, the amounts represented
the investments in unlisted equity securities issued by
a private entity. Included in the unlisted investments as
at 31 December 2020, the Group held approximately
10% of the share capital of EE X AR FE B R A A
("EEXARMEE") in the amount of RMB50,000,000
(equivalents to HK$59,500,000). Pursuant to the
investment agreement, the Group is required to contribute
RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$238,000,000) to the
registered capital of & & XA R # & . As at 31 December
2020, the commitment outstanding not provided for is
RMB 150,000,000 (equivalent to HK$178,500,000), E & Xk #X
R{F & is incorporated in the PRC and principally engages
in construction and operation of underground natural gas
storage facilities, oil and gas storage, and sales of natural
gas.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

(iir)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Since the investment transaction occurred near the year
end date, management considered that the fair value
of the unlisted equity securities approximated to the
consideration paid for the equity interest acquired.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments,
including non-current assets carried at cost or amortised
cost are not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing
at each statement of financial position date. Quoted
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are
used for long-term borrowings. Other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment
of current receivables and of current payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. Estimated
discounted cash flows at the current market interest
rate are used to determine fair value for these financial
instruments (i.e. level 3-lowest level).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgments in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS.
The assumptions, estimates and judgments are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. While the management reviews their judgments,
estimates and assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom
equal to the estimates.

Estimates and judgments are regularly evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The matters described below are considered to be the most critical
in understanding the estimates and judgments that are involved in
preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(a) Estimate of impairment of loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an associate

The loss allowances for loan and interest receivables from an
associate are based on assumptions about default rate and
loss given default rate. The Group uses judgment in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used are disclosed in Note 4.2(b).

The Group conducts impairment reviews of the interest in an
associate if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the investment (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows from the investment
that can be reliably estimated. Business valuation of the associate
was performed by management to determine the recoverability
of the interest in an associate after taking into account of
marketability and minority interest discount in interest held
which involves management estimates and judgments such as
commodity price growth, future production profile, and discount
rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Estimate of impairment of loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an associate (Continued)

Favourable changes to some assumptions may decrease the
impairment amount whereas unfavourable changes may increase
the provisions.

Estimation of impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. Property, plant and equipment which includes
oil and gas properties and other non-financial assets are also
reviewed for possible impairments whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Determination as to whether and how much an
asset is impaired involves management estimates and judgments
such as future prices of natural gas and crude oil. However, the
impairment reviews and calculations are based on assumptions
that are consistent with the Group’s business plans. Favourable
changes to some assumptions may allow the Group to avoid the
need to impair any assets in these years, whereas unfavourable
changes may cause the assets to become impaired.

The Group relied on experts to assess the geological prospects
for the discovery of oil in the oilfield and estimated the value
of oil to be produced in the future at a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. For drilling costs and
other exploration and evaluation assets, the Group determined
whether the related well costs are expensed if it is determined
that such economic viability is not attained after performing
further feasibility studies. Judgment is required by the Board to
determine key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections
and changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these
cash flow projections and therefore the results of the impairment
reviews.
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(continued) (#)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

5

(0

(d)

Estimation of useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment under the segment of “sales and
distribution of natural gas and other related products”

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group's property, plant and
equipment in the segment of “Sales and distribution of natural
gas and other related products”. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technological advancement and innovations in the natural gas
industry. Management will adjust the depreciation charge where
residual values vary with previously estimated, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. Actual residual values may differ
from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation in the future periods.

Estimate of petroleum reserve under the segment of
“exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas”

Estimates of petroleum reserves are key elements in the Group's
investment decision-making process. They are also one of the
elements in testing for impairment. Changes in total proved
plus probable petroleum reserves will affect unit-of-production
depreciation and depletion recorded in the Group's consolidated
financial statements for property, plant and equipment related
to oil and gas production activities. A reduction in proved plus
probable reserves will increase depreciation and depletion
charges. Petroleum reserve estimates are subject to revision,
either upward or downward, based on new information, such
as from development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including product prices, contract
terms or development plans.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(e)

Income taxes and deferred income tax

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be required. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not recognise deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses amounting to HK$127,019,000
(2019: HK$117,209,000) that could be carried forward against
future taxable income as the realisation of the related tax
benefits through future taxable profit is not probable. Estimating
the amount of deferred tax asset arising from tax losses requires
a process that involves determining appropriate provisions for
income tax expense, forecasting future year’s taxable income
and assessing our ability to utilise tax benefits through future
earnings. In cases where the actual future profits generated are
different from original estimates than expected, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax
charges in the year in which such circumstances are changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's principal activities are the sales and distribution of natural
gas and other related products and provision of construction and
connection services of gas pipelines in the PRC, and the exploitation
and production of crude oil and natural gas in Canada. Revenue for
the year comprises the following:

ERENRDEBER

EETERFHERDHERARLEM
HHEEMRRPERERHRREEZER
BERRE  URENMEARARRLEE
REARRKAR FREXBERBENUT
I

2020 2019
et g 53 —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Sales and distribution of natural gas and HE RBEARARK

other related products HA B E 9,385,246 9,254,902
Gas pipeline construction and connection MREBREEREK 765,633 566,807

Revenue from exploitation and production of FRK&KAEERBRKXAR
crude oil and natural gas TS WA 281,898 438,945
10,432,777 10,260,654

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance focuses more specifically on
sales of natural gas, gas pipeline construction and connection; and
exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The Group has presented the following three reportable segments for
the year ended 31 December 2020:

— sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products

— gas pipeline construction and connection
— exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above
reportable segments.

The executive directors assess the performance of the business
segments based on profit before taxation without allocation of other
(losses)/gains, net, interest income, finance costs, share of losses of
investments accounted for using the equity method, impairment losses
on oil and gas properties under property, plant and equipment, written
off of exploration and evaluation assets, reversal of impairment loss of
loan and interest receivables from an associate and other unallocated
corporate expenses, which is consistent with these in the consolidated
financial statements. Meanwhile, the Group does not allocate assets
and liabilities to its segments and report the sales from external
customers by geographical market, as the executive directors do not
use this information to allocate resources to or evaluate the
performance of operating segment. Therefore, the Group does not
report a measure of segment assets and liabilities for each reportable
segment and a measure of sales by geographical market.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided to
the executive directors for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 is set out below.
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 EXFENRIMBER (&
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020: HEZT_ZF+_A=1+—HILFE :
Sales and Exploitation
distribution and
of natural Gas pipeline production
gas and construction of crude oil
other related and and natural
products connection gas Group
HER BHER
BERRRR RREEB EERMBK
HittEEER BERER AR ]
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TER TER TER
Segment revenue and results PBUAREE
Segment revenue AEEA
Recognised at a point in time RE-FERHER 9,385,246 — 281,898 9,667,144
Recognised over time R—BR R AR — 765,633 — 765,633
Sales to external customers MBEFHER 9,385,246 765,633 281,898 10,432,777
Segment results NHPEE 1,085,473 317,325 18,334 1,421,132
Interest income FIEWA 304,068
Other losses, net Hige 38 (14,403)
Finance costs HEEHR (301,034)
Reversal of impairment loss of loan Y- ARERK
and interest receivables from an TSR EEEREE
associate 5,800
Impairment on oil and gas nE BERZHET
properties under property, BREERE
plant and equipment — - (625,633) (625,633)
Written off of exploration and BRRTMEEE
evaluation assets — — (26,379) (26,379)
Share of losses of investments AEEREREARL
accounted for using REBE 38
the equity method, net (19,002)
Unallocated corporate expenses APECERZ (113,633)
Profit before taxation BR B A& A 630,916
Taxation HIE (115,601)
Profit for the year F R 515,315
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

e
)
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

%

EXRFBROFER (&)

BE-T-NFT-A=+—HILEE :

Sales and Exploitation
distribution and
of natural Gas pipeline production
gas and construction of crude oil
other related and and natural
products connection gas Group
HER K
BRRRRAR MAEE EERAK
HiiEBER BEREK XAR £E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET THET THET
Segment revenue and results PBRAREE
Segment revenue AHBUA
Recognised at a point in time NE-BEEER 9,254,902 — 438,945 9,693,847
Recognised over time P — B R R R — 566,807 — 566,807
Sales to external customers MEFHER 9,254,902 566,807 438,945 10,260,654
Segment results AEBEE 908,005 263,972 77,841 1,249,818
Interest income FIEWA 151,491
Other gains, net Hitlhz - 38 22,194
Finance costs HEEH (281,773)
Impairment on loan and interest El—EEE AR BRI RE
receivables from an associate (3,830)
Impairment on oil and gas ME BEREBET
properties under property, BREERE
plant and equipment — — (30,395) (30,395)
Written off of exploration and BRRTEEERH
evaluation assets — — (19,377) (19,377)
Share of losses of investments DEERBREARL
accounted for using REEE 38
the equity method, net (3,636)
Unallocated corporate expenses ADBEAERZ (110,982)
Profit before taxation BREL AR I 973,510
Taxation HE (194,391)
Profit for the year FREF
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 EXENIBESR (A)
(Continued)
No external customers of the Group contributed over 10% of the BHEZZE-_ZTFRFE—NAF+ZA
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. =+—HILEFE  SEREIHNBEP

REBZWATEEEBI0% -

Analysis of the Group's assets by geographical market for the years HE_Z_ZER_FT-HLF+ZA
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is set out below: =+—BLEFEE  SEEMETS

DZEEZDWEHINMT :

2020 2019
e S 33 —E-NE
Additions to Additions to
non-current non-current
Total assets assets Total assets assets
RE RE
BEE FRBEE BEE ERBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TER AT FET
Hong Kong 9 103,866 5,084 139,269 =
Mainland China B A i 16,258,012 1,581,462 13,111,217 844,715
Canada mex 1,839,296 85,018 2,500,265 217,642
Total B 18,201,174 1,671,564 15,750,751 1,062,357
Unallocated AAE
Investments accounted for using the ~ FRAEZEARZLE
equity method 429,356 378,823
Deferred tax assets BREFMSHEE 5,810 8,968
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAZB2ERELZ
other comprehensive income BBEE 633,995 693,942
Total assets BEE 19,270,335 16,832,484
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

OTHER INCOME 7  HAygA
2020 2019
—EZEF —ZT-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Government subsidies BT 78 B 19,174 21,824
Service income AR 75 WA 169 6,034
Dividend income (Note 21) AR B U (FF5E21) 1,087 1,231
Others HAh 2,550 7,468
22,980 36,557
OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET 8 Hfth (F#B) W& - FH
2020 2019
—E_TF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(Losses)/gains on disposals of debt HERAFEFAHEM
investments at fair value through PEWECEBRE
other comprehensive income (B18) M= (12,869) 5,281
(Losses)/gains on disposal of LEWRB AR (BER) e
subsidiaries (Note 33) (B$5E33) (1,534) 16,913
(14,403) 22,194
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

9

OPERATING PROFIT 9 &KEHEA
Operating profit has been arrived after charging/(crediting) the KEREMEMBR, (GTA) A T&IER
following items: EE
2020 2019
et g 53 —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Employee benefit expenses (Note 11) EERAMAZ (ME11) 345,544 389,246
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAEAINEEKRAR 7,470,908 7,562,031
Auditor’s remuneration % ELRD B &
— Audit services — BR% 2,369 2,620
— Non-audit services — EEZRB — 1,400
Depreciation and depletion of property, plant  #1% - BEMERHITE X
and equipment (Note 16) B (ME16) 412,946 488,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) {FAEEEITE (WiE17) 23,208 27,457
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19) mEEEHE (ME19) 6,858 2,912
Short term lease expenses EHAERY 1,328 2,502
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEME  BEREZHD
equipment &8 3,624 2,393
(Reversal of)/impairment loss of loan and ER—HEERRERK
interest receivables from an associate B (EE) RERE (5,800) 3,830
Net exchange losses N B8 55 4,731 100
Write off of exploration and evaluation assets  #1F K& 5F (& & & b 4 26,379 19,377
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 10 IBKWAREHR
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Finance income from: BHBWAKRE :
Interest income on bank deposits IRITHE R F B A 90,431 50,834
Interest income on debt investments BATEFAEMEE
at fair value through other a2 BFRER
comprehensive income B A 39,785 33,671
Loan to an associate BRT—REBE QA 165,379 66,074
Loans to third parties BRTE=F 8,473 912
304,068 151,491
Finance costs from: MBEAKRSE :
Interest expense on: MEER:
Bank borrowings RITIEE (91,126) (63,972)
Other borrowings HtfEE (1,925) (1,107)
Lease liabilities HEAE (3,300) (3,252)
Senior notes BEER (295,547) (274,096)
Accretion of assets retirement B EWRBEATERM
obligation (Note 30) (fF#E30) (2,531) (3,112)
Less: Amounts capitalised (Note 16(ii)) S B A& 58 (B EE16(30) 93,395 97,632
(301,034) (247,907)
Loss on early redemption of a senior note REBEELEREER — (33,866)
(301,034) (281,773)
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(continued) (#)

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 11 EERFAFX @ BEESH
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS &
2020 2019
—EZ2F —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FAET
Salaries, wages and bonuses Fe IEKES 307,688 344,564
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RKENA — REH-KEE 37,856 42,397
Share option AR — 1,801
Share awards I8 15 428 — 484
345,544 389,246
(a) Five highest paid individuals () ITEERSHFHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in KEFANTEREMEZATE
the Group for the year include 1 (2019: 1) director whose S (:g’:_ﬂ% %) EE
emolument is reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12(a). HM£E# R Mﬂli12(a)% o)
The emoluments paid or payable to the remaining 4 (2019: 4) e FRENKENTHHRIE
individuals during the year are as follows: (ZT—NF:48) AT
m
2020 2019
—E-TF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #%& - 2R B WA 9,017 22,072
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R k4@ F| 5t 2 #t 5% 18 18
9,035 22,090
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the

following band was as follows:

11

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

EBERAFX - BRESH
% ()

(a) HEBRSHFMAL (H)

BATHEBEEZREABNOT :

Number of employees

HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000

2,000,001/ 7¢ £3,000,000/% 7T
5,000,001 7T £6,000,0007% 7T

No emoluments were paid or payable to the above highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the financial years ended

31 December 2020 and 2019.

Senior management’s emoluments

Details of remuneration paid to members of senior management

fell within the following bands:

58 AR
2020 2019
—g-%f —T-hE
4 _

BE_ZT_ZFRZZZ—-—NEF
+ZA=+—RHLEFBREE &
B BTN ERNEANE TE
ExtiissFMzAL - BA
HRERSENMBEESIEAR S
BotE -

(b) SREEERSFHHN

BATHzEEMNENSRER
BREMEFFRE :

Number of employees

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000

07872 1,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001/ 70 22,000,000 7T
2,000,00178 7T 23,000,000/ 7T
3,000,00178 7T £4,000,0007%8 7T
4,000,001/ 725,000,000 7T
5,000,001 7T £6,000,000/% 7T

EEAH
2020 2019
—E-ZTF —E-NF
8 9
6 1
6 3
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12 EERmkER (BEAQRMK
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF 5l (56622%) 26383f% + A F]
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (RBESARER) RA (F
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE 622GE) R EEB L mHRAIEXR
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF HE)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=SEe
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of person’s services as ENEERARKEMBARES
a director or services in connection with the management of the SRPEEREBEBRAORSE 2
affairs, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings: ATzMeskEERKMSHT -
For the year ended 31 December 2020: HEz—_ZT-_FTHF+-HA=+—H
IEFE -
Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefits benefit
Fees in kind scheme Total
EEHENK
e 2EER BRI &
ik ENHE # bl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TR
Executive directors: HITES:
Xu Tie-liang TR ITHAR)

(Chief Executive Officer) 120 10,164 18 10,302
Guan Yijun BHE 120 1,430 18 1,568
Liu Chunsun AEF 120 161 — 281
Independent non-executive BUFSTES:

directors:

Li Yun-long FTEE 120 — — 120
Wang Guang-tian TEA 120 — — 120
Yang lie A 120 — — 120
Total e 720 11,755 36 12,511
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12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF

THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE

OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

e M RRME

(continued) (#&)

12 EBFNERER (BBAEMK

Bl (%622F) 5383f% ~ AT

(HEBEESFEER) KA (8

622GE) REB LMHRAUER
W) (&

(a) ESME (&)

BE-_ZF-AF+=-A=1+—8

IEFE
Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefits benefit
Fees in kind scheme Total
EEHRIK
e Rk B ET B8
e EWHlE R k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT A TR
Executive directors: HTES:
Xu Tie-liang THR (THER)

(Chief Executive Officer) 120 7,325 18 7,463
Guan Yijun BHE 120 1,370 18 1,508
Liu Chunsun B 120 474 = 594
Independent non-executive BUFYFTES:

directors:

Li Yun-long FE 120 — - 120
Wang Guang-tian TEMH 120 — — 120
Yang Jie GEN 120 — — 120
Total B 720

No directors of the Company waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
of the Company as an accepting office as director or as a

compensation for loss of office as director.

9,169 36 9,925

BMEAREFRELAMNE - &
B EAEAAREEIIME
EREXEFBM Z RE K BEE
EEMCHE -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b)

(@]

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or received by any directors
in respect of their other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2019: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment during the year (2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors
for making available the services of them as a director of the
Company (2019: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors during the year (2019: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2019: Nil).
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12 EERmkER (BEAQRMK
5l (56622%) 26383f% + A F]
(WEESFZER) R (F
622GE) R EB LHHRAER
WE) (&

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

()

EBRNKEF

EEVENREABEEARAKE
MEARER HMREE N
FBEBERBEN (ZF—-NF:
&) o

EEBBEAN

FR - YEBABFFHEMKZL
EaeEE (ZE-NF &) -

HRENESRBAE=STANKE

VTEREREZFRATDNESRR
0 BR 75 M [7) H BT B X 4F B K
(ZE—h&F:8&) -

BEUES - RZESNT I
EREEERLTIRANER - &
ERREMRSHER

FR - BENEE  REEFEZ
XEGFEIENBEERRTHEA

CER EERRHEMR S (=
T-hEFE)

EENRG - ZHREHONERE

DB E R F R R F A R
AEEARAREEREFERRK
MEARENEARDEREH
XBEMZEARD - “HRA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 TAXATION

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax for
the year (2019: Nil).

Pursuant to the relevant PRC corporate income tax rules and
regulations, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profits earned by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards at 10% (2019: 10%). Certain entities of the
Group with Hong Kong business and directly owns at least 25% of the
capital of the PRC subsidiaries are entitled to the lower withholding tax
rate at 5% (2019: 5%).

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance note, subsidiaries in
Mainland China are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at
25% (2019: 25%). Certain subsidiaries are entitled to tax concessions
and tax relief whereby the profits of those subsidiaries are taxed at a
preferential income tax rate of 15% (2019: 15%).

Canada income tax has been provided for at the rate of 24% on
the estimated assessable profits for the year (2019: 26.5%), which
represented the tax rate in Alberta, Canada and the Canada’s federal
tax rate of 9% (2019: 11.5%) and 15% (2019: 15%) respectively.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

13 #iIE

7 & B A A 4R T A R AT ] AL
TENBHRZERBEN  HLER
BRANEGHRIEFREES (ZF—hF:
&) o

RIEAE R P B E TS ORI

—EENFE-—A—AR - gAaas
B KB~ B FT B ER 2 s B BRIk B iR
0% (ZZE—NF : 10%) 2 TR 4N
BRI ETHEAEXGEEER
EFEMBRARZEL%NBRAEEE
BZAHE% (ZE—NF 1 5%) 2RI
A o

BHEEERRECEMSTE - BAIR
EREMAA - RPRRALENE QA%
25% (ZZF— LF 1 25%) Z T EGHM
PRMCEMSER - ETHEARZA
BHEEERER B ZEWEBARQ
AZEMABEMEBRBEEI5% (ZF
—NE 15%) ] o

FRME KRB TIIE24% (5 5T ERE
mAER(ZE—NLF 265%) @ A
e X EAEAERERINE KB B
RHRAEI% (ZT—HE :11.5%) &
15% (ZZE—NF : 15%) °

2020 2019

—E-FF ZT-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current tax: EHITHIA -

PRC corporate income tax PR EMERH 222,596 225,987
Under provision in prior years BEFERETR 2,276 6,803
224,872 232,790
Deferred tax (Note 29) RIER IR (HF5E29) (109,271) (38,399)
Taxation M IE 115,601 194,391

There is no tax impact relating to components of other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

BHE_ZTZ-_ZF+_-_A=+—HIF
B o YEEEEMEEUWRISAEKLE D

ZHBRE (ZE-—NF &) -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

13 TAXATION (Continued) 13 ®IE (A&
The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation differs from the SERBA RN HIBRFEREAEHE
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax B ZMEFEBREEE 2 RReEE
rate applicable to profits of the Group as follows: BT
2020 2019
i g 53 —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Profit before taxation B 354 Al A 630,916 973,510
Tax calculated at the applicable rates in the tax 2 BB G a 2R Z
jurisdictions concerned ‘FTF?J%)“L¥§JF§E’J%FLIE 143,656 277,538
Tax effect of income not subject to taxation — $H7H =R T UL A BT 745 52 & (27,296) (27,845)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ~ FLFL 1M 5 A~ 71 I8 2 5 2 B9
purpose Mg 13,146 15,163
Tax effect of tax concessions MR B2 (37,003) (41,305)
Unrecognised tax losses RIERPIIAEE 9,810 4,397
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses B AARERNIEES (5,665) (7,524)
Withholding tax on dividend income f& B U A TE R 10,031 10,073
Effect on change in tax rate f EEHHNTE 6,646 (42,909)
Under provision in prior years BIFERETR 2,276 6,803
Taxation I 115,601 194,391

The weighted average applicable tax rate is 22.8% (2019: 28.5%).
The decrease is caused by change in the profitability of the Group’s
subsidiaries in respective jurisdictions, especially due to the decrease
in the loss before taxation for entities with zero tax rate in certain tax
jurisdictions, and the decrease in the Canada income tax rate.

14 DIVIDEND

The Board has decided not to propose final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s
profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$28,757,000 (2019: HK$330,984,000) and weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue less shares held under share award
scheme during the year of approximately 4,931,915,000 shares (2019:
4,983,413,000 shares).

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has two
categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options and
shares held under the share award scheme during the year. For the
share options, a calculation is performed to determine the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options and future service cost.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

15 BREF

B=RN

R EERERRMEDIERARES
A JE {5 % B % F 928,757,000 T (=
T — L ¢ 330,984,000 ) REFERE
BT BBORRGRBFEIETAFR
1 1% 2 NN F 19 £494,931,915,000/% (=
T — N4 © 4,983,413,0000%) °

s

BREERNDERRMELEEED
ZEBRCEEBEZEBERT » HELHR
BEBETEINEBRZ MEFHE -
RAEMBABFENZ2EBR  BR
BERFARKNEBEEMTANK
e sEREMNS  AFHRFEERE
FAEMRRITEBREZRBREZER
BERATE (URRAERMZEFTY
MEREFE) BAZKNDEE RRK
RISEAKEHE o

2020 2019
gt 3 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHET
Profit attributable to owners of the Company A & # B A FE15 % A 28,757 330,984
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  4F A & 8 17 3% 38 % 6l A% 19 £2 B
in issue less shares held under the share sTEIE SRR D12 2
award scheme during the year (thousands) nEEE(FRR) 4,931,915 4,983,413
Weighted average number of ordinary shares %% # 5% 2 | & 5@ A%
for diluted earnings per share (thousands) MEFHE(FR) 4,931,915 4,983,413

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: same) as the outstanding
share options did not have dilutive effect because the exercise price per
share option was higher than the average share price of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: same).

SRBEANSHBE T -24+—
A=+-BUHEEHSREREN (=
A& :R) - REAKSENER
HYLmBEED - kP EREHER
R TEEBRARRE S _BF
A=t -RLEEIFHBRE (=
T-—NE:R) -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 Y% - MEKRRE

(Note (if) (Note (i)
Plant and 0il and gas (Note (i) Construction in
Buildings machinery properties Pipelings Others progress Total
(Fex(in) k) (B
e HERES HAAE BE Ef EEIR g5t
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T Tin Tin Tin Tin Thn
As at 1 January 2019 R=2-nE-F-H
Cost s 841,702 1,062,561 3,980,739 3,661,474 386,037 1,554,159 11,486,672
Accumulated depreciation, ZiE BERAE
depletion and impairment (195,555) (460,173) (1,777.491) (875,984) (252,747) — (3,561,950)
Net book value FESE 646,147 602,388 2,203,248 2,785,490 133,290 1,554,159 7924722
Year ended 31 December 2019 HZ=E-AE
TZAST-ALEE
At 1 January 2019 RZE-nE-A-8 646,147 602,388 2,203,248 2,785,490 133,290 1,554,159 7924,722
Curency realignment Khan (6,854) (5,924) 64,621 (32519 (648 (10,947 779
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33)  HENBAR (33) (855) 10,049) - (23.929) 2,263) (154783) (191,879)
Additions RE 40,556 135,221 212,89 234,497 25,452 185,572 834,190
Transfers &% 52,282 28,267 - 192,331 1262 274142) -
Transfer from exploration and ERBURR
evaluation assets (Note 18) FEEE(HE8) - - 17,705 - - - 17,705
Disposalshwritten-off HE /Wi - (3,686) = = (510) = (4,1%)
Depreciation and depletion for the year E AT E R B (26,665) (80,102) (182,731) (165,013) (34.453) s (488.964)
Impairment loss nEER - - (30,395) = = = (30,395)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NETZA=T-F 704611 666,115 2,285,340 2,990,857 122,130 1,299,859 8,068,912
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+ZA=1-H
Cost s 924,691 1,182,399 4320517 4,014,360 396,946 1,299,859 12,138,772
Accumulated depreciation, ZiE BERAE
depletion and impairment (220,080) (516,284) (2,035,177) (1,023,503) (274,816) - (4,069,860)
Net book value EEFE 704,611 666,115 2,285,340 2,990,857 122,130 1,299,859 8,068,912
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 Y% - BWERRE (&)
(Continued)
(Note (iii)) (Note (ii))
Plant and 0il and gas (Note (i) Construction
Buildings machinery properties Pipelines Others in progress Total
(B&(ii)) (Hr&E() (B i)
EP BERER HREE gE -4 HEIE Eh
HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
THR THR THR THR THn THn THn
Year ended 31 December 2020 ~ BE-F-%f
TZAZT-BLEE
At 1 January 2020 RZF-FE-H-A 704,611 666,115 2,285,340 2,990,857 122,130 1,299,859 8,068,912
Currency realignment CE 39,251 36,218 13,814 185,512 16,775 124,995 416,565
Acquisition of business (Note 32) WEEE (M332) 57,350 13,236 - 288,113 2,552 82,628 443,819
Disposal of subsiciaries (Note 33~ HEMBA (F333) (19,203) (6,876) - (13573) (615) (8727) (48,994)
Additions RE 113 10,100 84,992 35,001 20,272 1,028,800 1,186,388
Transfers &g 110451 35,124 - 3357 2397 (371.929) -
Disposalsfuritten-off e/ (,068) (5,303) - - (1,466) (3,841) (19,678)
Depreciation and depletion ERfERER
for the year (41,912) (69,634) (102,250) (183,234) (15,916) - (412,946)
Impairment loss HEEE - - (625,633) - - - (625,633)
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-ZE+-A=1-H 849,203 679,580 1,656,263 3,526,033 146,129 2,151,785 9,008,993
As at 31 December 2020 RZB-FE+2A=1-8
Cost W& 1,135,924 1,301,659 4,444,602 4,867,835 442,249 2,151,785 14,344,054
Accumulated depreciation, EitE BEREA
depletion and impairment (286,721) (622,079) (2,788,339) (1,341,802) (296,120) - (5,335,061)
Net book value BEFE 849,203 679,580 1,656,263 3,526,033 146,129 2,151,785 9,008,993
Notes: B 2
(i) Others mainly represent motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures and (h HMETEEATE KM  BER
equipment, and tool and moulds with net book values amounting to FERIANANREKER  FEHEHFE
approximately HK$35,189,000 (2019: HK$30,240,000), HK$38,841,000 7 B #) A35,189,0008 7T (= T — A
(2019: HK$30,124,000) and HK$72,099,000 (2019: HK$61,766,000) 4 : 30,240,000 JT) - 38,841,000
respectively. B (Z T — A F 30,124,000
70) $&%72,099,000% T (Z & — L F :
61,766,0007% ) °
(i) During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting to (i A EEREGEREEELRLE
HK$93,395,000 (2019: HK$97,632,000) on qualifying assets. Borrowing B FK 4893,395,000 7t (ZZF — NLF
costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general 97,632,000 7T) ° fEERANIRE —RK
borrowings of 5.6% (2019: 5.9%). BEMMEFTAL E56% (ZT— A

F:59%) EXR -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#&)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes (Continued):

(iii)

The recoverable amount of oil and gas properties is determined at the
value in use using a discounted cash flow method and is assessed at the
cash generating units (“CGUs") level within the segment of “exploitation
and production of crude oil and natural gas”.

The Group regularly assesses market commaodity prices, costs to carry out
planned drilling programs, drilling results, and reservoir performance to
determine if there are any indicators of impairment of the Group's assets.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s oil and gas properties is
designated level 3 on the fair value hierarchy.

The key assumptions for the calculation are those regarding the discount
rates and expected changes in future oil prices which are made reference
to West Texas Intermediate (“WTI"”) prices. The expected future oil prices
for the next five years ranged from US$48.0 to US$59.0 per barrel (2019:
US$61.0 to US$69.5 per barrel). The Group used a pre-tax discount
rates ranging from 10% to 20% (2019: 8% to 20%) to discount
future cash flows from the Group’s CGUs. These rates differed based
upon classification of reserve type, commodity type, timing of future
development expenditures and operating burdens.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group determined that one of its
CGUs in the business segment of “exploitation and production of crude
oil and natural gas” has impairment indicator due to the decrease in the
commodity price forecast. As a result, impairment test was performed for
that CGU at 31 December 2020 and 2019 and the recoverable amount
was HK$1,428,015,000 (2019: HK$2,148,281,000). Impairment loss of
approximately HK$625,633,000 (2019: HK$30,395,000) was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, a one percent increase in the pre-tax discount
rate would result in an impairment of approximately HK$87,886,000
(2019: HK$46,488,000), while one percent decrease in the forecast oil
prices would result in an impairment of approximately HK$31,750,000
(2019: HK$65,010,000).
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

17 LEASES 17 A&

(i)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (i) REHEEHBERRREAZSEE
financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the GREMBMRARBRIATEEE
following amounts relating to leases: B FRIE:
2020 2019
—Bo2F —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHERT FHET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Land use rights T b A 518,191 443,934
Office and other properties MAERHEA Y 70,866 55,256
589,057 499,190
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current mE) 18,116 12,761
Non-current ERE 58,444 48,113
76,560 60,874
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 HE-_Z_FEHF+-_A=+—
December 2020 were HK$80,034,000 (2019: HK$67,291,000). BEFENEREEEERR

80,034,000/ v (= & — N F :
67,291,000 7T) °

hEMAEEERAR 2020555 161
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

(i)

17 LEASES (Continued) 17 HE (&)
Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss (i) REZXRERZEH
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the FEEHNERETATHEHAE
following amounts relating to leases: By FROE:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHEIT
Depreciation charge of ERREENEER
right-of-use assets
Land use rights -+ {5 B A 9,886 12,429
Office and other properties MAEREAYEE 13,322 15,028
9 23,208 27,457
Interest expense (included in FEEAGIAMBER) 10
finance costs) 3,300 3,252
Expenses relating to short term %2 B378 & /HRE 7 X 9
leases 1,328 2,502

(iii)

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$18,924,000 (2019:
HK$18,295,000).

The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted
for

The Group obtains right to control the use of office and other
properties for a period of time through lease arrangements.
Lease arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain wide range of different terms and conditions including
lease payments and majority of lease terms ranging from 1 to 10
years (2019: 1 to 10 years).

The Group also obtained the land use rights through lease
contracts with local governments in the PRC with 50 years term.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
depreciation of right-of-use assets has been charged in
“Administrative expenses”. The Group’s lease expenses are
primarily for short-term leases.
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(iii)

HE-_Z_ZTF+-_A=+—H
LtEEHHMAER S REBEY
418,924,000 7T (=& — L &F ¢
18,295,000 7T ) °

SEAEFHRIERAR

SEZEAHELHESN —BH
MEGRAEREMmEZ AR
RIRER] o THE ok B B AR
RS S ERBER RGNS
BREAENRERTS N F1E10
F(ZE—NLF 1210F) W H
,Hﬂ °

SENEBEPEM BT
HEAWESSH0FN L HE
Pt -

BE_T_ZTFRZ—NEF
+ZA=+—HLEFEE  FH#E
BEFES [TTHAX] K - £
EMHERSEIEZRAEHHEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

18 BRNFEEE

2020 2019
—Bo2F —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Cost N

At 1 January n—H—H 153,063 182,981
Currency realignment B 1,760 4,114
Additions NE — 3,050
Written off packis! (26,379) (19,377)

Transfer to oil and gas properties under HEEYE - BERRKER
property, plant and equipment (Note 16) THREE (MiE16) — (17,705)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 128,444 153,063

Exploration and evaluation assets represent the Group’s costs of
acquiring licenses and interests in undeveloped lands in West Central
Alberta, Canada, which are pending the determination of proven
or probable oil and gas reserves. The costs are accumulated in cost
centers by well, field, or exploration area pending determination of

technical feasibility and commercial viability.

The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resource is considered to be determined when proven reserves are
determined to exist. A review of each exploration license or field is
carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proven reserves

have been discovered.

BHEEFHEEESEBER MEKRME B
AR ARME LTI E LER
WERE  AFEECHEARTRHA
HRME - BRAKAEEMIT - hE
FHEBIRKAPOLRTE  FEE
BT EBEEATH -

EETFERARER  FAREESR
RERMEEERANTERRBCHEE -
ELBEHEYRFT I ESONAETR
o BREACERKFARE -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 BREEE
Other
(Note) intangible
Goodwill assets Total
(M aE)
He HBREE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHEL FHET
As at 1 January 2019 R-Z2-h%-A—H
Cost B AR 938,805 49,045 987,850
Accumulated amortisation S b — (13,324) (13,324)
Net book value REFE 938,805 35,721 974,526
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z-NF+=ZA=1t—H
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NFE—A—H 938,805 35,721 974,526
Currency realignment BAE (2,854) (262) (3,116)
Additions NE = 1,668 1,668
Amortisation for the year FNEHE (M)

(Note 9) = (2,912) (2,912)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF+-_A=+—H 935,951 34,215 970,166
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hF+=-A=+-—-H
Cost B AR 935,951 50,281 986,232
Accumulated amortisation REHEEGH = (16,066) (16,066)
Net book value REFE 935,951 34,215 970,166
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-E-Z2H

+-A=+-HLEE
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF—A—H 935,951 34,215 970,166
Currency realignment BB 20,988 6,973 27,961
Acquisition of business (Note 32) o B 2 75 (B 3E32) 15,736 1,354 17,090
Additions NE — 15,703 15,703
Amortisation for the year Fr i (f5E9)

(Note 9) == (6,858) (6,858)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZE-EF+-A=+—H 972,675 51,387 1,024,062
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZB-EBF+=-A=+—8H
Cost DN 972,675 77,510 1,050,185
Accumulated amortisation Rt = (26,123) (26,123)
Net book value REFE 972,675 51,387 1,024,062
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Note:

Goodwill is allocated to a group of CGUs identified for sales and distribution
of natural gas and other related products business, which is also an operating
segment, representing the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is determined from the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the year.
Management estimates a discount rate of 12.6% (2019: 13.0%) using pre-tax
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to this group of CGUs. The growth rate of 2.6% (2019: 3.0%) for
the next five years are based on industry growth forecasts.

The value-in-use calculations is derived from cash flow projections based on the
most recent financial budgets for the next 5 years approved by management.
Cash flows beyond 5-year period have been extrapolated using growth rates of
2.6% (2019: 3.0%) per annum, which is based on industry growth forecasts.
The Board considered no impairment loss is necessary as at 31 December 2020.

With all other variables held constant, if the expected selling prices used in the
value-in-use calculation were decreased by 8%, direct costs used in the value-in-
use calculation were increased by 10% or the discount rate used in the value-in-
use calculation had been increased to 19%, then the management estimates the
headroom would drop to zero as at 31 December 2020.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

19 BEEE (&)

GEZ

BHEORINRFEERBERAR[ALEMAE
EREBMANN AR EEEFEN (T2
—EgENE  REBELSANBEEBROMY
HEEREZENRERBR) -

SECZERSELEUNATRESERE
EATERHEEXRFAEERBEEMELRS
o ERBEIZHERBRRSIRFATRE
EREREBEREERAZBHRES - §18
EEAREZEAMTSIGRESHBERZ
HRSEEBME T RRZTATA 5T
HEI26% (TE—AE : 13.0%) o kKA
F26% (ZE—NE :3.0%) 2 ERHE
RITEEREA -

{5 PR 18 1 54 073 4R RO B R0 R R ELOF
PO 2 B 75 TR T R B3 % 7 B T 47
AR o BBSTHRE RS F26%
SE AT 30%) MMRERE WD
ERITEEREN EERRAR-F_F
FT-A=t—0  LRLEOHAEER -

EREEMEERFTTENBERT © MitE
FHEEMANESHEERLP8% @ AltE
EREEMBNEERANEIMNI0%H M E
FREBFAMIERENEI9% @ AEE
BN _Z-_FTF+_-_A=+—H®HHH

THEREEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

20 EREREARCKRE

REEMBRANKRERZ BEWT:

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:
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2020 2019
—E_TfF —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Associates /N 420,903 369,629
Joint venture B 8,453 9,194
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8 429,356 378,823
The amounts recognised in the consolidated profit or loss are as FEBRRERZSBENT:
follows:
2020 2019
—E_E4F —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Associates iR /NE] (17,748) 2,751
Joint venture SETE (1,254) (6,387)
For the year ended 31 December BEt+-_A=1+—HLt&EE (19,002) (3,636)
Interests in associates e N TR
2020 2019
ol ~Yong<¥- —T-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Share of net assets: L EEFE
At 1 January n—HA—H 369,629 296,922
Currency realignment B AR 3,595 (2,484)
Share of (losses)/gains of associates JE(REEE DR (B51E)/ drzs (17,748) 2,751
Fair value of retained investment upon HENBARBREKREZ
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) ANE (MF3E33) 65,427 72,440
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 420,903 369,629
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

20 EREREARZKE

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

(#&)

EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Nature of investments in associates, which are unlisted limited liability
companies, as at 31 December 2020:

REE N TR
RZEZETE+_A=+—8 B
ENA (RIELTAEBRRAR) REZMHE

Percentage of

Country of interest held
Name Registered capital establishment Principal activities indirectly
MiERE
28 FMER RIZER TEEK EmBot
SEFHRMERER A RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
("R EEIR")
FEPmRWERAERIAF  AK20,0000007T HE ARREE
(rzwaeRl)
Sino Director Limited (Note (a)) ~ US$10,000 BVI Investment holding 25%
Sino Director Limited (Hf#E(a)) 10,0003 7T REXARARES REZERK
THEEXRARER DA RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 20%
THEBEXRARER DA AR #80,000,000t HE AARREE
FORMMRR (AR) ERAA RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
("mhE R ") (Note (b))
FomMR (AR) ARAE AR #80,000,0007T FH ARREE
(THomm sl ) (M b)
MNP RRARERA RMB30,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
@ Ty Note (b))
%M¢EWHE@ AR #30,000,0000T AAREE
(T#Mepsh]) (Mﬁ( )
SRLPHRAREER RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
DNE("HEILFE"
(Note ())
SRELPEBTAEBRLA ARKES0,000000w *HEH ARREE
(THERLRAE]) (K@)
=PIl uﬁ Hom R R AR RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
BRAR ("=FIRAEIR")
(Note (d))
=PRI R R R AR #20,000,0007c FE ARREE
BRAR ([=MEKaER])
(Ft 3 (d))

FoHRREBAER DT 2020F F3f
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 FRAEZZEARZERE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued) REENBIER ()

Notes: Bt 5

(@)  As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group invested in 25% equity @ RZZEZZEFR_ZFTE-NLF+A
interest in Sino Director Limited as an associate. The subsidiary of Sino =+ —H ' & & & & » Sino Director
Director Limited is the beneficial owner of the mining rights granted by Limited (fEABE & QA A)) B25% R4 -
the local government authority of the PRC. Sino Director Limited and its Sino Director Limited 2 Fff B 72~ & /& 7 F
subsidiary are collectively regarded as the “Sino Director Group”. E ih 45 BA AT P P AT IR W B R AT

AEFEZE®EAR A o Sino Director
Limited & H M B 2 7] % 8 A& [Sino
Director £ [@ | -

A business valuation was performed for the underlying assets of Sino Sino Director Limited &) 48 B8 & &= & # 17
Director Limited. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair EBEE TS BENEENRT
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount BEREEXNAREFAEENRSE °
is determined based on fair value less costs of disposal using discounted AlEEBELOEANBEReREER
cash flow method. The key assumptions are discount rates, marketability BAFTEREEXNREE - BEMRRE
and minority interest discount rate, forecasted production volume and RIFAE - MBIWRE - PEEET
forecasted commodity prices. Management estimates a discount rate BE - BAEERBAFTRER - &
of 11.1% (2019: 11.1%) using a post-tax rates that reflects current BECARBER ™S EREEET
market assessment of time value and the specific risks relating to the & Z R 1% F & % Sino Director & B Z
Sino Director Group. Marketability and minority interest discount rate of FRBHBHITRENIA% (ZF—H
24% (2019: 24%), forecasted production volume of 31.75 (2019: 31.75) F:11%) - FTAMH R DERERIT
million tonnes and forecasted commodity prices growth of 2.6% (2019: WMERHB24% (ZF—NF : 24%) + &
3.0%) were used. BESE3175(ZFE—NF 3175 8
EMEEAERERER26% (ZF
—NEF :3.0%) °
The commodity price growth rate of 2.6% (2019: 3.0%) used in the HRERERERAR26% (ZT—NF
calculations is based on inflation growth forecasts. The Board considered EPRANERERIERE30% (=
no impairment loss on the Group’s total investment in associate is T—NF :30%) DERBRERTE
necessary as at 31 December 2020. Al e RZFEZFEF+=-ZA=+—8 -

EERRASERBERRNBKRE
TEABZHREER -
As at 31 December 2020, the Group determined that the recoverable RZTEZZEF+=ZA=+—8" &
amount of Sino Director Limited amounting to approximately # 7 Sino Director Limited B 7] 4 [l
HK$650,825,000 (2019: HK$555,100,000) exceeded its carrying value % %8 %) /650,825,000 T (Z & — 1
amounting to approximately HK$235,952,000 (2019: HK$254,974,000). % : 555,100,000 7t) © MR HEKE
1B £9235,952,000 7T (= & — L F :
254,974,000 7T) ©
(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed its 51% by REBEE-_ZFE—AF+_A=+—81
equity interests in both 1 i @ 5 and 8 M| 71 Jd, previously wholly-owned FE - SEEEERZEAMBARR (P
subsidiaries, at aggregate cash considerations of approximately RMB66, 137,000 R OB N R OlR) M5 1% R AE - 428
(equivalents to HK$75,396,000). The remaining equity interests in both 1 5 BE&READHARKE6137,0007T (18
3 5 and 7 M| 7 i were then re-measured at their fair value as of the date & 575,396,000/ ) © AN FRMER
of disposal and accounted for using equity method of accounting. For details, EEMPaRERZENEERSEN
please refer to Note 33. ATFEENHELFARTETEA

B - ARFFIE  H2HMES -
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Notes (Continued):

©

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed its 51% equity
interests in its previously wholly-owned subsidiary, 5 %% 1L 5 2%, at aggregate cash
consideration of approximately R\MB39,985,000 (equivalent to HK$44,784,000).
The remaining equity interests in &5 &% | 1| 7 Z& were then re-measured at fair value
as of the date of disposal and accounted for using equity method of accounting. For
details, please refer to Note 33.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered into a
capital injection agreement with an independent investor which agreed
to contribute a total of approximately RMB20,816,000 (equivalent to
HK$23,314,000) into = P BEJR, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary.
Upon the completion of the transaction, the Group's equity interest in =
P9 1B &% )R decreased from 100% to 49% with a loss of control. On the
same day, the Group's retained interest over = 9 It 8¢ JJ& was remeasured
to its fair value, which became the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for such retained interest as an associate
because the Group has significant influence over = P9I 82 J%.. For details,
please refer to Note 33.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

20 EREREARZKRE (B)

© NREBEEZZT=ZEF+_A=+—HL
FE - SERHEHTAEZENBR
ANEHILAENS1%EE  BRS
KRB A K AR 39,9850005t (FHE R
44,784,000 L) - R TH B ILAED
BRERZENHEARNAFEETH T
BUFHESSEAR - BHEFE -
L iR

d REEZTZ_FTF+_A=+—H1L
FE AEEHE-—FBUREETY
FEWE  REMARANMEEZR
EWBAR=PIKERIEAEXDHA
R 20,816,000 (18 % 723,314,000
BIL) c ERRHEEER - AKER
=PIk g R 2 BB M & 100% [ =
49% - RAAB » FER=FIBKERD
REBEZCEHAEZTHEAFE ' @
RAEEH=FIKEREFEAFE -
AZeBEXEBVREESE  BE
HERBEEARNREERAR - A
B B2HME3S -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 FRAEREARZKRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
Interests in associates (Continued) REFENTRERE (18)
Other than Sino Director Limited, other associates are considered % Sino Director Limited 7p - b G/
individually immaterial to the Group. The aggregated financial AE R E #AR R EARE l TEEW -
performance for associates which accounted for using the equity FRAESEAENBE A ERTIKEE
method was as follows: =R N
Sino Director Limited Others Total
Hi @
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
- - 33 “E-hE “E-EE t- 5 3 “ECEE “E-hE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FATL A ThEL TR TAL
Current assets RHEE 206,551 228,388 21173 203,589 433,724 431,977
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,288,780 1,033,309 377,133 256,465 1,665,913 1,289,774
Current liabilities EIEY (499,260) (104,681) (165,734) (187,864) (664,994) (292,545)
Non-current liabilities FREAR (908,722) (943,196) (397) (12,179) (909,119) (955,375)
Net assets EEFE 87,349 213,820 438,175 260,011 525,524 473,831
Group's share of net assets AEENREETE 21,838 53,455 177,39 107,543 199,232 160,998
Goodwil B 214,114 201,519 7,557 7112 221,671 208,631
Carrying amount BHEE 235,952 254,974 184,951 114,655 420,903 369,629
Revenue EEL 171,152 = 330,084 112,003 507,236 112,003
(Loss)/profit for the year R (EE)/ &f (121,708) - 8,261 9,243 (113,447) 9,243
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EzEks/ (58) 4,763 (1,800) 17,263 498 22,026 (1,302)
Total comprehensive (loss)income 2E(BB)/ hinsg (116,945) (1,800) 25,524 9,741 (91,421) 7,941

There are no material commitments or contingent liabilities relating to
the Group's interests in associates.

VTHEESERGEZCXBSARIEM
BERAEXLRAE -
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 ERAEREARZKRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
Interest in a joint venture R-RBeEtERR
2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Share of net assets: JEEEEFE
At 1 January R—H—H 9,194 15,832
Currency realignment B 513 (251)
Share of loss of a joint venture Eih—EAE QA EE (1,254) (6,387)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8H 8,453 9,194

Nature of investment in a joint venture, which is an unlisted limited
liability company, as at 31 December 2020:

R-Z_FEFT-_A=+T—H &
B (RIELETERAA) KEZMH
g

Percentage of

Country of interest held
Name Registered capital establishment Principal Activities indirectly
BEEE
=1 HEMER M ZBR FTEXEH EEEDHL
IR EE E RE AL AR AR RMB PRC Trading of coalbed 35%
methane
A EEERBEARAR AR Y KEREER
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 FRAESEARZRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued) R—BaEtEfR ()
The joint venture is currently considered not material to the Group. AETESIHMEERAHESEBE
The summarised financial information for the joint venture which R FAESEARNEECENK
accounted for using the equity method was as follows: BRBmT
2020 2019
—EZH —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets BN & E 192,792 170,176
Non-current assets FERBEE 468,576 416,052
Current liabilities pEIR=RE (625,317) (559,960)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (11,900) —
Net assets BEFE 24,151 26,268
Revenue = 3 310,995 125,253
Loss for the year FAEE (3,583) (18,246)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hi 2wz, (E8) 1,466 (717)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year A EE K 2 HEEESE (2,117) (18,963)
There are no material commitments or contingent liabilities relating to TEESERAECERRBH 2 EM
the Group's interest in the joint venture. BAREXIAREE -
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21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

0]

(i)

Classification of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise:

o Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to
recognise in this category. These are strategic investments
and the Group considers this classification to be more
relevant.

o Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely
principal and interest and the objective of the Group’s
business model is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

21 BAVEFAHMEEREZ
MBEE

() ELFEFARMEZEARSEZHH
BEZDE

BAFEFAEME2ZE KRS ZHM
BEERE :

e U IFREEMNKRAEZS
REB SRV T ERE DA
B & EASE R E R A
BRORAES - ZFEF
REEKE  BEERRBU
DEREEMREINL -

s AKNREREMABER/IMNA
ERFEMEHKES  BE
BEBEANEFTAKERE
HREREMNHEVBEE
MATAER -

(i) BELAFPEFARMEARZZBRAE
RE

BAFEFAEMEZEKRS ZK

income comprise the following investments: AREBFBUTHRE
2020 2019
—BoBF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Equity securities: RARFES

— listed in Hong Kong — &A™ 56,172 79,341
— listed outside Hong Kong — BB ET 4,809 =
— unlisted — ¥ Em 59,500 —
120,481 79,341

On disposal of these equity securities, any related balance within
other reserves is reclassified to retained earnings.

HTEZEREAESK - HMRFEHEAZ
EREREREHROBERERET -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(iii) Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise the following investments in listed and unlisted

21

BAPEFAREMEEREZ
MBEE (&)

(i) BRAFEFAHMEEKREZER
RE

BAFEFAHEMCEZE RS 2E
BREBE T EMRIFLTE

bonds: HFHRE
2020 2019
—E-SE —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Debt securities: BBFES

— listed in Hong Kong —BEEM 83,091 60,554
— listed outside Hong Kong — BB ET 429,973 553,597
— unlisted — 3L 450 450
513,514 614,601

On disposal of these debt investments, any related balance
within the fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21 BAFEFAEMEZAREZ

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued) MBEE (&)
(iv)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other (ivy REZREMEZEHRZFERZS
comprehensive income L
During the year, the following (losses)/gains were recognised in FR - TH (EBB) REENE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. EREMEEREPER
2020 2019
it —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Losses)/gains recognised in other E’Q\Ef 2EKEFER
comprehensive income B8 s (79,391) 17,614
(Losses)/gains on disposal of debt tb"%?fi@zﬁﬁﬁr)\ﬁ’rﬁl%ﬁ
investments at fair value through other W2 EBHILE (BB
comprehensive income Wy =5 (12,869) 5,281
Dividends from equity investments 18 7 A E A U A FE R
held at fair value through other REERA :F@:Hrf\ﬁ‘rﬁliﬁ
comprehensive income recognised in K E 2 RAKRE ZRE
profit or loss in other income (Note 7) (FFE7) 1,087 1,231
(v) Financial assets pledged as security (v) EREERRzKEE
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, no financial assets at FVOC| is RZE_ZER_F-AF+=
pledged to any banking facilities. A=+—8H " #& ?ﬁ NEBEFTA
HthrHKRa 2 HBEEERT

ERRITRE o
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21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(vi)

Fair value, impairment and risk exposure

Information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining fair value is provided in Note 4.4(i).

Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
are considered to be low risk, and therefore the impairment
provision is determined as 12-months expected credit losses.
The Group has assessed that the expected credit losses for these
financial assets are not material under the 12-months expected
credit loss method. Thus no loss allowance provision was
recognised as at the balance sheet date. For details of the credit
risk management, please refer to Note 4.2(b)(v).

The carrying amounts of the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income are denominated in the following
currencies:

21 BRAVEFAHMERRZEZ
MBEE (&)

(i) AFE - BERRRE

EEEERAFEMALTERRE
Y& B EUR MY FE4.43) -

BRAFEFAHMCGEZE RS 2B
BEFWESERE - FiRE
BELDRRZEABRHEEESRE
E o EECREBR2EAEHREE
BETEFTHZEMBEELR
HEEBEEBTEAN - At - ©
REATEBRIBBERRRE
EFREERRERZFHIB  F2
B Bt 5 4.2(b)(v) ©

BAFEFAHEMEE RS 2 M
BEERMERATESE:

2020 2019

—E_TfF —T-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

us$ E7 513,064 613,781
HK$ BT 61,431 80,161
RMB AR 59,500 ==
633,995 693,942
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e M RRME

(continued) (#)

INVENTORIES 22 78
2020 2019
—EZEF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHB T T T
Raw materials JR ¥ 181,066 125,520
Work-in-progress R M 69,922 63,309
Finished goods and natural gas RN mRRAR 77,398 74,021
328,386 262,850
CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND BREE - € - EFRH
OTHER RECEIVABLES ﬁﬂh@u&m |
2020 2019
—E-EF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHB T FH& T
Trade receivables (Notes (b) and (c)) ‘féf SRR IE (M5 b) & () 630,005 487,627
Contract assets (Notes (b) and (e)) BHEE (b)) &) 145,661 106,821
Loan to an associate (Note (d)) f%f KT —EEE QA
(Bt 5E(d)) 944,233 767,649
Loans to third parties BERXTFE=ZH 17,572 22,400
1,737,471 1,384,497
Prepaid construction costs SEENEEL DN 169,717 177,767
Prepayment for acquisition of land use rights W B8+ Hb (5 FR 4 7B A k1B 36,086 =
Prepaid natural gas costs T8 R AR A 459,921 422,516
Prepaid material and equipment costs T8 - 1 Kt B 5% M AR AR 280,711 219,147
Interest receivables from an associate (Note (d)) J& Uy — RS Bt & A &) Fl| 2
(B #E(d ) 188,388 293,580
Amounts due from associates (Note (g)) FE U B & A~ R A (M RE(g)) 53,401 57,258
Consideration receivables fE W KB 38,066 65,038
Other interest receivables H b e W F) B 7,027 6,614
Other prepayments H fh 78 14 3k 18 135,487 113,583
Note receivables JE Ut 2= 9% 35,759 70,974
Other tax receivables H {th 77 W B §4 18 89,794 86,794
Other receivables H b fE W FIE 121,107 75,845
3,352,935 2,973,613
Less: Non-current portion B FERE D (1,201,201) (1,195,673)
Current portion B E o 2,151,734 1,777,940
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(%)

23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a

(b)

The Board considers that the carrying amounts of deposits, trade
and other receivables approximate their fair values as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables and contract assets. The Group has assessed that the
expected credit losses for these financial assets are not material. Thus no
loss allowance provision was recognised as at the statement of financial
position date. For details of the calculation of the allowance, please refer
to Note 4.2(b)(iv).

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 60 to 90
days to its trade customers and keeps monitoring its outstanding
trade receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior
management of the Group.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as
follows:

BREE -
ﬂtJ?Euﬂz

Wi

(a)

(b)

()

e  BEERHE

RIR (#)
HRTRYBATEA - EERAA
B BRI MR 2 R
BEATEEE

SEEAEAEMBRE ERNFESRDG
{EFEAAEEHEESE  AFMEE
SERREBRANVEEFRZHESD
BEAEE  SECTHEREMBEE
WIEHEEEE  @BIYTEKX -
L RBBERRERBBI ERERTW
’Téﬁﬁﬁéﬁ BRBETE 2B -
B2 B FE4.2(b)iv) ©

ERATHESRFZFEHEESN
F60EH M * WEBTEEITEHE K
KEEZESERNKE - £ERRE
BEETHEMNAMREZ &8 -

*Ef?é‘TE,HﬁEﬂE%ﬁEHQ??\IEZEE%
DWW

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Up to 3 months ZEAURA 549,472 440,707
3 to 6 months =REA=ENREA 27,799 26,583
Over 6 months NEA M E 52,734 20,337
Total ast 630,005 487,627
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P £ =
23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND BHNEE RE - BEKH
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) ﬂﬂJ?sEHﬁz,— B (&
Notes: (Continued) MsE © (#8)
(d)  Loan and interest receivables from an associate (d ER—EBEZAREREFE
2020 2019
ZEoEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loan to an associate KT — LR A 955,070 784,649
Interest receivables from an associate WEH&Z B & 2 BRI 191,748 296,940
1,146,818 1,081,589
Loss allowance ERRE (14,197) (20,360)
Total Rk 1,132,621 1,061,229
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a loan agreement with the R—_E—NE+_A=+—H8 " %
associate amounted to approximately RMB700,580,000 and the interest EL B & N A A K A R 700,580,000
rate of 8.5% per annum. On 16 September 2020 and 30 December T E ﬁ &% & F Fl & 58.5% o B
2020, the Group has entered into loan agreements with the associate —E-FEFAA+RNABRZ-ZZE=F
amounted to RMB57,000,000 and RMB45,000,000 with interest bearing F+-_A=Z+RH S£EHEKRLAQF
at 3% and 6% per annum respectively. As at 31 December 2020, 5] 3 A R 857,000,000 & A R ¥
the Group’s loan to Sino Director Limited amounted to approximately 45,000,000t M E K% - FMEXH
HK$955,070,000 (2019: HK$784,649,000). The outstanding interest Al 73% K%6% c RZE_TF+=A
amounted to approximately HK$191,748,000 (2019: HK$296,940,000). =+—H - & E@Sino Director Limited
The loan receivables of approximately HK$53,550,000 are repayable 2 B X #49955,070,000% T (= &
within 12 months and the remaining balances of approximately — JL4F : 784,649,000/ 7T) ° KiEF
HK$901,520,000 are not repayable within next 12 months. The interest B.#15191,748,0008 T (=& ﬂi
receivables are repayable on demand. 296,940,000/ L) ° #% SR E FK 4

53,550,000 7T 72 M 121@ A WE}% J
i & T 4 £ #9901,520,0005% JT £ & &
NREAATAEE - BRFHNEBRE

Management considered that the loan to the associate is low risk, and E BEHEERE  BERFHLEARTER
therefore the impairment provision is determined at 12 months expected % AEN2EAESHEESEEST
credit losses. Applying the expected credit risk model resulted in the BERE HEABHGERABREXSZ
recognition of a loss allowance of approximately HK$14,197,000 (2019: BRZZTEZTEF+ZA=1+—HBH®R
HK$20,360,000) as at 31 December 2020. & 1B BB 414,197,000 T (ZF — 1
4 : 20,360,000%7C) °

(e)  The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration () EAHEEXTEZEHEERARHFEAEE
for gas pipeline construction and connection services completed but TRRREBERZERERREERRA
not billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to BERZENKRFEER - N EERNZ
receivables when the rights become unconditional. BAKAEGREREREEKZE -
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23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

BREE -
ﬂﬁFE W

e - ()

BE - F
XIE (&)

(f)  The carrying amounts of the deposits, trade and other receivables are H ®Re BESLHMEKFREZEETE

denominated in the following currencies: RIATE®EE -

2020 2019

—EC-EF —T-hEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

RMB AR 1,949,280 1,791,537

CAD pilibgv 36,703 46,955

Others Hih 49,575 95,287

2,035,558 1,933,779

(9) The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

(9 ERBEAFRFEASEERR 28R

BRBRKER -

24 TIME DEPOSITS, BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24 TFEHEFEF - TG KRIAE

2020 2019
—EZEF —NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
Cash at banks and on hand RITEFHEBES 2,890,734 2,192,199
Short-term bank deposits MERITER 872,270 624,590
3,763,004 2,816,789

Less: Time deposits with maturity over three W EREBEB=@EAN
months E B 1F K (836,570) (295,590)
Cash and cash equivalents RekIReEEEHR 2,926,434 2,521,199

The interest rates for short-term bank deposits ranged from 1.7% to
4.2% (2019: 2.2% to 4.2%) per annum. The deposits have a maturity
of ranging from 90 to 183 days (2019: 90 to 183 days).
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24 TIME DEPOSITS, BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24 EHIER - RITEHRAS

(Continued) (4&)

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are amounts of R T EF f_ﬂ ﬁ B kAN
approximately HK$3,711,506,000 or RMB3,118,913,000 (2019: 3_,711,50610007%7552/\5%3,118,913,000
HK$2,734,660,000 or RMB2,441,660,000) denominated in RMB which 7T (=& — L% : 2,734,660,000/8 T K
are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion of these A R #2,441,660,0007C) ¥ bA A K # &t
RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance B THERFEA ‘i‘@ MERTT o ZFA
of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and regulations R¥% ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi?ﬁﬁﬁiﬂ\ B R AR B A
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC Government. B ) & & 78 8 5T R B BT AR 46 B 1 EE B

BREHNE -

The carrying amounts of the time deposits, bank balances and cash are EHEHR  ROBKRLERESZEKEEE
denominated in the following currencies: AT EEGE -

2020 2019
i —EF-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHE T FHET
RMB AR¥ 3,712,305 2,734,703
uss XL 34,013 39,426
HK$ BT 15,311 40,220
CAD il 950 2,017
Pound sterling g 425 423
3,763,004 2,816,789
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25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 EFZREMENFIE

2020 2019
— —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAET
Trade payables 2 5 e IE 448,525 492,869
Construction cost payables P&~ 2 3R B AR 425,173 358,023
Consideration payable FERRE 18,207 =
Interest payable FE AT B 95,016 141,453
Salaries payables EfEHE 47,055 34,140
Other tax payables H e B IR 23,301 17,127
Other payables and accruals Hith eI R FEEHE R 228,928 245,444
1,286,205 1,289,056

The Board considers that the carrying amounts of trade and other EXZRAR  BEHNLEMENRIEAZ

payables approximate their fair values. FHEEEATFERES

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as BEZZAHNEZENREZERE D

follows: MmT :
2020 2019
—EoEg —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Up to 3 months =& A AR 357,221 391,660
3 to 6 months =@A=ENMEA 37,632 39,850
Over 6 months B A A E 53,672 61,359
Total 4858 448,525 492,869
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25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 25 EZRHEMEBNRIER
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables (excluding other B 5 REMENFKIE (T 821F H i fE T
tax payables and salaries payables) are denominated in the following MALEMTS) NEEAEN T EE
currencies: ETE -
2020 2019
—EC-2F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
RMB AR ¥ 1,071,431 1,102,733
HK$ BT 89,390 46,491
CAD i 55,028 88,565
1,215,849 1,237,789
26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26 5HEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T & FET

Receipt in advance for sales of natural gas and $§& XA T K H M B E R

other related products 2 TE W IR 1,972,524 1,442,725

Receipt in advance for construction and RREERERERRBE 2
connection services of gas pipelines T8 g 7R 333,508 128,472
2,306,032 1,571,197
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26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

BHNEE (&)

(a)  The contract liabilities primarily relate to the payments received (@) EHEBEXFZHHERHEAKRA
in advance for sales and distribution of natural gas and other RO H M AE B E an A R R R
related products and construction and connection services of gas TEPZMRAEERERERR
pipelines not yet delivered to customers. Below is the movement BrzEWBUREEBEATRE
for the amount received from customers: WEPRIERNEE :

2020 2019
—EC-BF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
At 1 January ®—A—A 1,571,197 1,470,128
Currency realignment BEEAE 135,648 (15,047)
Payments received in advance B2 U TE U 5K T 9,457,386 8,139,620
Redemption during the year FREE (8,858,199) (8,023,504)
At 31 December ®n+=-—A=+—H 2,306,032 1,571,197

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (b) FHEEHNEBEZEEIRWNRE

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

TRIIRRAFEE %L A
BEERNCHERREEE

2020 2019
—EC-2F —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue recognised that was included REFEJGFAENBEZEGZ
in the contract liability balance B Rz
at the beginning of the year
Sales and distribution of natural gas and (& R# X XA R K
other related products H b 46 B &= 820,845 1,157,202
Gas pipeline construction and connection M@ EBEEN
services B R % 62,222 90,538

There is no revenue recognised during the current year related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year.
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26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26 SHNEE (&
() Unsatisfied contracts with customers () KREEHEFFEHN
The Group has applied the practical expedient of HKFRS 15 to SEEREHEEERMEE RE
its fixed-price construction and connection contracts, as well HEWUREERBAERARR
as sales and distribution of natural gas and other products HUWERENEREENBRS
contracts, such that the information about revenue that the HRIEISH 2 ERAIITRE 25T
Group will be entitled to when it satisfied the remaining wmEEBETERTZSRBEH
performance obligations under those contracts that had an BR-—FHEENGNEATZH
original expected duration of one year or less is not disclosed. HRENETRREBEEEHE K
ZER -
27 BORROWINGS 27 &8
2020 2019
—EC-BE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Bank borrowings, unsecured RITEE —EER 1,597,994 1,400,336
Other borrowings, unsecured H g E —fEE R 740,417 34,944
2,338,411 1,435,280
Less: amounts due within one year classified B OBRRRBAEGBR
under current liabilities —FRI Bz HRE (1,341,941) (1,408,814)
Non-current portion EME D 996,470 26,466
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27 BORROWINGS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies and carried at the following interest rates:

27 &8 (#&)

BENEREMENATIHERE LK
TR XTI B

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
RMB AR 1,857,435 1,055,970
CAD il 414,893 379,310
us$ ETT 66,083 —
2,338,411 1,435,280
At fixed rates E ) & 849,065 1,029,504
At floating rates V&) Rl 2 1,489,346 405,776
2,338,411 1,435,280

Weighted average effective interest rates MmEFHERFERE

(per annum):
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 4.1% 4.0%
— Other borrowings —HiEE 5.7% 5.9%
28 SENIOR NOTES 28 BARE

2020 2019
—E_EF ZET—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
US$ denominated senior notes INETFEZEBLERR 5,410,227 5,411,161

On 11 November 2014, the Company issued senior notes, with
an aggregate nominal value of US$300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,325,000,000) at par value (the “Senior Notes A"”), which bear
interest at 5.00% per annum and the interest is payable semiannually
in arrears. The net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance
costs, amounted to approximately US$296,900,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,300,975,000). The Senior Notes A will mature on 7 May 2020
and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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28 SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 11 April 2017, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$350,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,712,500,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes B”), which bear interest at 4.625%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$346,556,000 (equivalent to HK$2,685,809,000).
The Senior Note B will mature on 20 April 2022 and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange.

On 25 July 2019, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$320,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,498,867,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes C"), which bear interest at 5.5%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$315,932,000 (equivalent to HK$2,467,100,000).
The Senior Note C will mature on 25 January 2023 and are listed on
the Singapore Stock Exchange.

On 21 August 2019, the Company redeemed in full the outstanding
aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000 of Senior Notes A
before their maturity at a total redemption price of US$303,750,000
(equivalent to HK$2,370,532,000), representing 101.25% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, by using part of the
net proceeds from the offering of Senior Notes C.

On 4 November 2019, the Company issued senior notes, with
an aggregate nominal value of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$234,269,000) at par value, which bear interest at 5.5% per annum
and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears and consolidated
with the Senior Note C to form a single class.

As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of the senior notes amounted
to approximately HK$5,516,211,000 (2019: HK$5,439,105,000). The
effective interest is 5.46% (2019: 5.92%). The fair value of the senior
notes traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the date of the statement of financial position. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The senior notes are
within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

28 BERE (&

RZZE—+tFMA+—H RFEEA
& 3¢ 77 BR T 42 {& /4&350,000,000% 7T (48
£ 72,712,500,0007 7T) ) 1B & E &
([MBXRZEEB]) + REF4625%ET B
BABBHFIN - MBREETTE
R 18 2 FT 15 5% 18 % %8 & #9346,556,000 3%
7t (8 25 #2,685,809,00058 L) ° & 5t
ZEBBR T __FWMA -+ HIH
ERFMEELFR S LT

W_E—-AE+A-+aE  2AK
M {B # 17 Bk M #2 {8 A320,000,000% 7T
(185 72,498,867,000/8 7T) ME L EE
([BEEEC])  mEFS55%EH
MEFEFEXMN  HBEERTEHR
1% 2 FT1S I8 F 88 A 49315,932,000% 7T
(H8%12,467,100,0008 L) - B E &K
CBR-_ZE-_=F—A=-+HBIHEK
REBBRZAT LT o

W_ZE—-AENA-+—8 23R
AR SREANsBEEEZEC
FIiSsR B FHEABEELELEEAKRE
3 N4 48 $6300,000,000% 7T+ 4858 @B
303,750,000 7t (48 % $2,370,532,000
BIL) 0 BAEEMI101.25% 0 E R K&
KEFFE o

RZZE—AF+—AWEAB  AFEHA
{8 % 17 Bk M #8 {8 /30,000,000 7T (#
£ 18234,269,0008 T) MEELEE © 1%
BFES5%T EEFEBFEFEXN - B
BEZBRCEMHEXE R -

R-ZZE_ZTFE+-_A=+—0 " E%
ZEEZAFELA5516,211,0008 T (=
T — fL 4 : 5,439,105,000% 7T) ° B
Fl& AB546% (ZF—NF : 5.92%) °
RREERMBEECZEBLAZRE AT
EREBEMBRRAERB 2T BREAE -
REFERMIB IS S R EHER
SFT - ST KA TEEE
HERBUEERENESRE TS
MEBERESECSHETCEERATED
BRBZEBRLEE2HE - ZEBLEEE
WHABRFEE R -
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using the tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted by the statement of financial position date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related to the same
fiscal authority.

IESE PS8

RIE A7 1 B A B R B B R R
T 4R % B BSR4 o B A 2 B
HHE -

EBEAEARTEMNAKERRBREE
HEMHBAGRBRE  MELEHREH
BN E R - BT RE A
SREEHRBEEREY -

2020 2019

—E-FF —ET-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&x F#& T

Deferred tax assets BIEFTEREE (5,810) (8,968)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFMERARE 123,615 237,408
Deferred tax liabilities (net) BEEMEHEE CF58) 117,805 228,440

The net movements in the deferred income tax account are as follows:

BEMSHEPZEEFRAMNT ¢

2020 2019

—E-EF ZE-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET F& T

At 1 January wn—A—H 228,440 261,322

Currency realignment AR (1,364) 5,517
Credited to consolidated profit and loss REEBmAFA

(Note 13) (M 5E13) (109,271) (38,399)

At 31 December R+=—_A=+—H 117,805 228,440
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the
year are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets ELEFREHEE
Lease liabilities Asset retirement obligation Tax losses Total
HEER BERERS HEGE it
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEZ2E CZ-A% ZBCBE CT-fE CZBIBE CR-pE ZBIBE RNk
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TER TR TER TEn TER T TER
At 1 January R-A-H (14,340) (15,972) (34,002) (37,981) (87,542) (99,719) (135,884) (153,672)
Curreny alignment EEag (1,276) 115 (1,071) (873) (3,551) (1,899) (5,898) (2,657)
(Credited)/charged to RERERA
consolidated GIA) /1R
profit or loss (2,689) 1,517 (7.730) 4,852 (25,031) 14,076 (35,450) 20,445
At 31 December RTZAZT-A__(18305) (14300 (42803 (3400 _ (M6124) (754 _ (7232) (135884
Deferred income tax liabilities ELEFEBHERS
Accelerated tax depreciation
Right-of-use and depletion Others Total
ERE NEHERERBE i @t
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Z2-%f -“T-NE ZBIBE “E-NF 0 ZBCRE “E-NE 0 ZBIBE —2-fE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000
ThER AL ThER AL ThER AL ThEn AL
At 1 January R-A-H 13,164 14,921 321,543 372,569 23,617 27,504 364,324 414,994
Currency alignment G E] 954 (104) 1,022 8448 2,558 (170) 4,534 8174
Charged(credited) to REEERR
consolidated nk/ GiA)
profit or loss 2,834 (1,653) (115,198) (53,474) 38,543 (3,717) (73,821) (58,844)
At 31 December RZA=1+-A 16,952 13,164 213,367 327,543 64,718 23,617 295,037 364,324
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(continued) (#)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued)

During 2020, deferred income tax liabilities to the extent of
approximately HK$18,583,000 (2019: HK$26,655,000) have not
been recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries in the
PRC because the Board considers that the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Unremitted earnings totaled approximately HK$2,119,790,000 (2019:
HK$1,654,205,000) as at 31 December 2020 and HK$12,469,000
(2019: HK$10,273,000) has been recognised as deferred tax liability

for the withholding tax.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
had unrecognised deferred tax assets for its tax losses of approximately
HK$127,019,000 (2019: HK$117,209,000) to carry forward against
future taxable income. All the tax losses will be expired within the next

5 years.
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(continued) (#)

30 ASSETS RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 30 EEREEAILE
The movements in assets retirement obligation are as below: BEREBEAEZZHHT -
2020 2019
—EC-2F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FH& T
At 1 January n—A—H 147,844 140,678
Currency realignment BEAE 4,660 3,416
Accretion (Note 10) A (M EE10) 2,531 3,112
Site restoration expenditure i% IR 18 2 (923) (3,448)
Change in estimates and discount rate Hat RITR K& 29,728 (2,221)
Provision for the year F N R 2,263 6,307
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 186,103 147,844
Note: B RE
In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in Canada, the Group is BEMNMEXEBEARNKEER  SEEEER
obliged to accrue the cost for land reclamation and site closures for the Group's SEXRABMRRAREE (BERAALER
ownership interest in oil and natural gas assets including well sites and gathering )M HABRBARAGHIAKE - &
systems. The provision for assets retirement obligation has been determined by BEERBEEAENBECHESURERE
the directors based on their best estimates in accordance with the relevant rules HHARERBEBREMEMAAKEREE -

and regulations.
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE 31 RAKRBRE RE:E
AWARD SCHEMES

(@) Share capital (@) R=AE
Number
of shares Amount
ROEE &8
‘000 HK$'000
TR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BRO0IBITZ ERER
Authorised shares A TE IR 15
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, RZZ—hF—HAF—H -
1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 Z—E—AF+=ZA=+—
H ZZ2-F—-A—HBk
“ET-FEHF+-A=+—H__ 125,000,000 1,250,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
At 1 January 2019 RZE—hF—H—H 5,839,124 58,391
Share repurchases A% {7 i [ (72,080) (721)
At 31 December 2019 and 2020 RZE_TER_ZT-NF
+ZA=+—8” 5,767,044 57,670
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company BHE-_ET—hE+-_A=+—BI &
repurchased and cancelled 72,080,000 shares of HK$0.01 each B AT LS RR0.241 7T 20.300% T
in the capital of the Company at prices ranging from HK$0.241 B 42 W B 35 B B2 [@ % &F $472,080,0008%
to HK$0.300 per share on the Stock Exchange. NE B EE0.0IE TG o
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(b)

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed by the
shareholders on 23 November 2011.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion
offer options to any eligible participant who is an employee,
executive or officer of the Company or its subsidiaries (including
executive and non-executive directors of the Company or its
subsidiaries) and any suppliers, consultants or advisers who
will provide or have provided services to the Company or its
subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 10% of the issued
shares of the Company from time to time.

The maximum entitlement of each eligible participant in any 12
month-period shall not exceed 1% of the number of shares in
issue on the date of offer of an option.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21 days
after the date of the offer, with a consideration of HK$1 for the
grant thereof. Exercise period in respect of the options granted
shall be determined by the Board and in any event such period
of time shall not exceed a period of 10 years commencing on
the date upon which such option is deemed to be granted and
accepted.

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an eligible
participant under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined
by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any event shall
not be less than the highest of: (a) the official closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer of an option; (b) the average
of the official closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
guotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of an option; and (c) the
nominal value of a share.
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(continued) (#)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE

AWARD SCHEMES (Continued) (#&

31 RARERE REIE

(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) MBRHESTE (&)

The Share Option Scheme was valid for 10 years from 23
November 2011.

On 22 January 2016, in order to motivate and reward the
Company'’s staff, the Company had granted to certain eligible
participants of the Company share options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 100,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
in share capital of the Company. The share options shall be
exercisable in the following periods:

()

30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January —
2018 to 21 January 2026;

30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January —
2019 to 21 January 2026; and

the remaining share options are exercisable on 22 January —
2020 to 21 January 2026

BREFEK =T ——F+— A
“Tt=RRBERBRBTF o

RZE—-—R"F—AZ+=ZH " A&
HEEREBARETL 0 ARER
HETAERSBAERLURE
4 #£100,000,000/% ~ &) f% AN R &
R BB Tz BB ERK
oo BBARER RN NHEIEITE

30%WEBRER-_Z—/)\F
— A+ ZHBEZZE - RE
—AZ-+—BaFTF

30%H BRER —F—NF
—ABAZ+ZBEZZT-F
—AZ+—BAFIE &

ERERER-_ZT_FF—
AZ+-HE-ZEZ-_XRFE—
—+—HEFIE

The number and weighted average exercise prices of the () BREMEERINETFGTE
share options are as follows: EBur :
2020 2019
e 3 -NEF
Exercise Number Exercise Number
price of option price of option
TEE BREHE TEE BREHER
HK$ ‘000 HK$ '000
BT '000 BT '000
Outstanding at 1 Januaryand H—A—-ARk+=A
31 December ST-BHATE 0.46 86,560 0.46 86,560
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(b)

Share option scheme (Continued)

(ii)

The following table discloses details of the Company’s
share options held by employees as at 31 December 2020:

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

31 RAKRBERE EE:ETE
(#&)

(b) HBMRFERTE (#)

(i) TEXREEER-_F_ZF
T A=+ AR

Zni/ﬁ -
Exercise Outstanding at
price per 31 December
Date of grant share Exercise period 2020
R+=A
=t—-BHEX
RHAMH BRITEE THEHY THE-ZF_FF
HK$
BT
Employees 22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2018 to 21 January 2026 16,560
—A=+=H E AZ+— EI
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2019 to 21 January 2026 30,000
—E—RF —NEFE—-—RAZ+ZHEZZT=RN
—A=+=H E A-+—H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2020 to 21 January 2026 40,000
—E-RE “ECEE A+ -HE-_ZT-RX
—A=+=H F—H-+—H
Total 86,560
#at
The fair value of the options granted in 2016 FHR-_mEAHEFEEER - =
determined using the binomial option pricing model was —NEBYNEREEETA 1 15
approximately HK$0.127, HK$0.148 and HK$0.171 per P4 A & IR0.1277%E T~ 0.148% T &
share respectively. The significant inputs into the model 0I71AB T - BRAMERNEH ABIEAR

were share price of HK$0.455 as at the grant date,
exercise price as shown above, volatility of 40.99%,
40.97% and 42.56%, expected life of options of seven
and six years, and annual risk-free interest rate of 0.993%,
1.056% and 1.184% respectively. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of expected share price returns
is based on the historical volatility of the Company's share
price over a period of eight, seven and six years before the
date when the options were granted.

PEE A2 RB04558 T ~ LR
RITERE © 5 5l B40.99% « 40.97% &
4256% 2 KiE - BBRESNALFR
NEZEFFEHUE D B A0.993% -
1.056% &% 1.184% 2 R B F F & - &
TEHREERNIZEZFTEMNEIETE
ERDAIRERERERLBBHZAIN
FLERAFHREAZELER -
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(o]

Share award scheme

On 4 November 2011, the Board approved the adoption of a
share award scheme (the “Restricted Share Award Scheme")
with the objective to recognise the contributions by eligible
employees within the Group and to give incentives in order to
retain them for their continuing operation and development
and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Restricted Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of (i) shares
subscribed for or purchased by the Company and delivered to the
Trustee appointed by the Company (Note 37(c)) subsequently; or
(i) the Trustee out of cash arranged to be paid by the Company
out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee and be held on trust
for the relevant eligible grantees until such shares are vested
with the relevant eligible grantees in accordance with the
Scheme Rules (“Restricted Shares”). The Board implements the
Restricted Share Award Scheme in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme Rules including providing necessary funds to the
Trustee to purchase or subscribe for shares up to 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

Under the Restricted Share Award Scheme, the Restricted Shares
are granted to eligible employees of the Company or any one
of its subsidiaries for no consideration but subject to certain
conditions (including but not limited to, lock-up period) to be
decided by the Board at the time of grant of the Restricted
Shares under the Restricted Share Award Scheme. The Restricted
Share Award Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of adoption.
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(9]

Share award scheme (Continued)

The Restricted Share Award Scheme operates in parallel with
the Share Option Scheme. All options granted under the Share
Option Scheme continue to be valid and exercisable subject to
and in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
respectively.

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from time to
time, at their absolute discretion select the eligible grantees after
taking into account various factors as they deem appropriate for
participation in the Restricted Share Award Scheme as a grantee
and determines the number of Restricted Shares to be awarded.
The Board shall cause to pay the Trustee the purchase price
and the related expenses from the Company’s resources for the
shares to be purchased by the Trustee.

The Trustee shall hold such Restricted Shares on trust for the
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the relevant eligible
grantee has satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the
Board at the time of making the award and become entitled
to the Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the relevant
Restricted Shares to that grantee.

For awardees who cease employment with the Group before
vesting, the unvested shares are forfeited. The forfeited shares
are held by the trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme
who may award such shares to the awardees as instructed by
the Board.

No restricted shares were awarded to employees for the year
ended 31 December 2020. 1,180,000 Restricted Shares have
been awarded to employees without vesting condition for the
year ended 31 December 2019.
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(c) Share award scheme (Continued)

Details of the Awarded Shares awarded for the year ended 31

31 RARERE REIE

MRAD B8 (4F)

BE_F—NF+_H=1—HIF

December 2019: E fi‘/f/ﬁ’ BIER (reyE g -
Number
of shares Fair value
Date of award awarded per share Vesting period
BERR G
RHEBH RERGHE AFE FEH
HK$
& TT
Employees 1,180,000 0.41 Without vesting condition
BB SR R
3 May 2019

—E—-—hhERA=H

As at 31 December 2020, there was no outstanding share
awards granted to employees (2019: same).
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32 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS 32 WX
In July 2020, the Group has completed a business acquisition for 70% equity RZZEZZF+HA SEURSRE
interests in IR R L EMRABR AR, BEEBEREEMRERA #) A R #153,000,0007T (49171,360,000
7] and 9 5% L = ¥R R A BR /A &) consisting of the gas concession right BIL) TR TRILUBREERREBERA
business, natural gas pipeline network in Jishan, Wanrong and Ruicheng Al BRGBREZERRBERIAARENRN
counties in Shanxi Province, China from independent third parties at cash WEEEMRABRQFT0% R ENEK
consideration of RMB153,000,000 (approximately HK$171,360,000). The g ERpiEmBELE =T REWE
Group commenced to account for the business combination from the URARELAESTL - BENRNHE
acquisition date when the Group gained control over the business. As a HRRSTEEBRAARBTEMERB -
result of the acquisitions, the Group is expected to increase its presence in SEEWERAS (ASEESHELD
these markets. It also expects to reduce costs through economies of scale. THIER) MBS EBEMHAR - AR
ZEWE  EHEBEEELETISFH
EHEESEN HENEHRAERAREL
PR AR B A o
Details of net assets acquired and the calculation of goodwill are as FIBEEFHFBRNEFEDOT :
follows:
HK$'000
FAET
Total cash consideration BESNKE
Cash paid ENE® 153,153
Consideration payable FE R AE 18,207
171,360
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and TR BRI BE R AEREN
liabilities assumed R
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) Mm% - BERERE (HiE16) 443,879
Other intangible assets (Note 19) EMErEE ([:E19) 1,354
Right-of-use assets TREEE 15,669
Other non-current assets HitnERBEE 861
Inventories TE 10,324
Cash and cash equivalents RekFAeSHEEE 16,286
Deposits, trade and other receivables e  BZREMEKRE 267,172
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H b A RIE (426,363)
Short-term borrowings HAEEE (16,800)
Contract liabilities AHEaRE (56,462)
Long-term borrowings REEBEE (33,600)
Total identifiable net assets AHBFEERE 222,320
Non-controlling interests IR E R (66,696)
Goodwill (Note 19) & (KEE19) 15,736
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisitions WEMmEEX 2R RE F8
Cash consideration HeRE 153,153
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B EWEReMARSEED (16,286)
136,867
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32

33

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)

The goodwill of HK$15,736,000 arising from the acquisitions is
attributable to acquired customer base and economies of scale
expected from combining the operations of the Group and the above
acquired subsidiaries.

Acquisition related costs were not significant and have been
charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$346,483,000
and net profit of HK$10,060,167 since the date of acquisition to
31 December 2020, if the acquisition has occurred on 1 January
2020, consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the year
ended 31 December 2020 would have been HK$647,142,000 and
HK$11,438,000 respectively.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 15 November 2019 and 4 December 2019, the Group entered
into a sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the independent third party agreed to purchase,
and the Group agreed to sell, 51% of equity interests in 2 i F§ R
and 8} 7 at cash consideration of RMB45,431,000 (approximately
HK$51,690,000) and RMB20,706,000 (approximately HK$23,706,000),
respectively. The transactions were completed in December 2019
resulting in gain on disposal of approximately HK$9,690,000 and
HK$7,223,000, respectively.

On 30 July 2020, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which the
independent third party agreed to purchase, and the Group agreed to
sell, 51% of equity interests in 55 % || f % at cash consideration of
RMB39,985,000 (equivalents to HK$44,784,000). The transaction was
completed in July 2020 resulting in a loss on disposal of approximately
HK$1,552,000.

On 7 May 2020, )l #F Z= (B L) & B IR A 7], was deregistered
resulting in a gain on disposal of approximately HK$18,000.
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33 HEMWB QTR (&

R-ZZE-_ZTFRA+=-8 A&EEHA
BYE=-—REIUTEWE  BUBZ
FEZHFREA=ZMEKERIEA LA
R 20,816,000 (48 & 723,314,000/
JT) - AR RERIS1%

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

On 12 May 2020, the Group entered into a capital injection agreement
with an independent third party, pursuant to which the independent
third party agreed to contribute a total of RMB20,816,000 (equivalent
to HK$23,314,000) into = PJ I 82 JR for 51% of the equity interest.

TREREERBRREMRORE
EREERHMBENTERNEERE

The following table summarises the consideration received for the
disposal of subsidiaries and the amounts of the identifiable assets and

liabilities disposed of at the disposal date:

B2 :

2020 2019
—2C-FF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FE T
Cash consideration received BEWRERE 8,957 10,358
Consideration receivables JE U X (B 35,827 65,038
Fair value of equity interest as of the R EBBRMRERNTE
date of disposal 65,427 72,440
110,211 147,836
Less: Assets and liabilities disposed of: B EHBEEERAE
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - BERRE
(Note 16) (M sE16) 48,994 191,879
— Right-of-use assets — THEEE 11,792 13,367
— Inventories —FE 183 809
— Deposits, trade and other receivables — e B KEM
& W 5k TR 5,535 33,451
— Tax recoverable — A Y[ B 1 1,006 9,197
— Cash and cash equivalents —HekBLFEHEE 53,093 6,942
— Trade and other payables — B S RHMERNKIE (1,936) (115,162)
— Contract liabilities —EHEaE (281) (2,003)
— Tax payable — R IE — (3,364)
Net assets value BEFHE 118,386 135,116
Add: Release of exchange reserve upon disposal Al : & ff B A &) & # @
of subsidiaries b % 3,281 4,193
Add: Release of non-controlling interest in a m:EE R —EEB AR
subsidiary TR E R 3,360 =
(Losses)/gains on disposal of subsidiaries LEWRBRARD (BE)
(Note 8) Wz (P RE8) (1,534) 16,913
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33 HEMBEAT (&
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is EHALEMNBARZRERESTET ¢
as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cash consideration received BUWIRENRE 8,957 10,358
Less: Cash and cash equivalents included in the il : 5T AHEWB AR 2]
disposal of subsidiaries e hReEEEHR (53,093) (6,942)
Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash FARBEEDMEBRERE
equivalents included in the cash flows from MR RESSEEAER
investing activities A Cmi) F58 (44,136) 3,416
34 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 34 BEREBEBER
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net REHFHINESAREEBEEFBNDIT L
debt for each of the years presented. B SREHEE o
Net Debt BEEH 2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFHEEAE 2,926,434 2,521,199
Borrowings — repayable within one year BE—ER—FARNEE (1,341,941) (1,408,814)
Borrowings — repayable after one year BE—ER—FREE (996,470) (26,466)
Senior notes — repayable after one year BAEZBE—ER—FREER (5,410,227) (5,411,161)
Lease liabilities HEBR (76,560) (60,874)
Net debt EBFR (4,898.,764) (4,386,116)
Cash and cash equivalents HekBHEeEFEEA 2,926,434 2,521,199
Gross debt — fixed interest rates ESEE—EE X (6,335,852) (6,501,539)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BIEBE AR (1,489,346) (405,776)
Net debt & 7% % 5 (4,898,764) (4,386,116)
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34 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 3 WEREELBHR (&)

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
EfhEE REFHELNEERERAS
Senior
Cash Borrowings Borrowings notes
and cash due within due after due after
equivalents 1 year 1 year 1 year Leases Total
R-%#
ReRRe R-%FR® R-%# HEm
SEBE  HHMNEE  HENEE BERE HE &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER TAL THAT THAT ThER THER
Net debts as at 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-HZ
EHFE 2,508,223 (1,455,839) (63,642) (5,029,991) (67,756) (4,109,005)
Cash flows Reneg 37,871 44,343 36,863 (381,170) 14,637 (247 456)
Inception of lease contracts REAEENRRE - — - - (8,155) (8,155)
Foreign exchange adjustments NERE (24,895) 2,682 313 - 400 (21,500)
Net debts as at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+TZA
TR BHEE 2,521,199 (1,408,814) (26,466)  (5,411,161) (60,874)  (4,386,116)
Cash flows BeRg 251,997 143,288 (877,789) - 14,296 (468,208)
Inception of lease contracts REEANFRE — - - - (25,845) (25,845)
Foreign exchange adjustments HMEFE 153,238 (59,615) (58,615) - (4,137) 30,871
Acquisition of subsidiaries KEKBA - (16,800) (33,600) - = (50,400)
Other Bt - - - 934 - 934
Net debts as at 31 December 2020 RZBZZRE+ZA
St-RzERAE 2,926,434 (1,341,941) (996.470)  (5,410,227) (76,560)  (4,898,764)
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35

36

COMMITMENTS 35 HIE
The Group had the following capital commitments outstanding not EERMBRAKRBHBEUTREED
provided for at the date of statement of financial position: RBITEAREE :
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FAET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI B REE -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 119,038 94,396
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 BEALIRS

As at 31 December 2020, the Company was indirectly owned by
Sino Best International Group Limited (“Sino Best”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") which in turn was
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman and
executive director of the Company, as to approximately 25.9%. The
remaining 74.1% of the Company's shares were widely held. Mr. Xu
Tie-liang and other directors of the Company are considered to be
related as they are members of the key management personnel of the
Company.

Transactions with key management personnel

The directors of the Company are considered as key management
personnel of the Group. The remuneration of the key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends. Details of the
remuneration paid to them are set out in Note 12.
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(a)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

37 FEMBRARZEFERE

B 38

(a) EEMBLRAFBMOT :

Percentage of equity

Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HMEY/ Y ER BRTRAE NEEE
8 EEERER HE/ZRER REESL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
ER B#
Profaith Group Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
EREBRER NEEELE (Er RERR
All Praise Investment Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 100.0% —  Investment holding
EREBRER NEEELE (Er RERR
China Oil And Gas Group Limited ~ BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 100.0% —  Investment holding
MARREEFRAT EREBRES NEEELR (Er REERK
China Oil And Gas Management  Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited enterprise
PHRRERERDA Bk NEBELR 18T REERK
Alta Financial Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$1,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
BXeREEERAT EREBRES NEEELE 1,000% 7T REERK
Zhongda Industrial Group Inc BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$10,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
MAT#SEFRAA EREBRES NEBEELE 10,000% 1T REERK
China Oil And Gas Group (Asia) ~ Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited enterprise
RARREE (M) BRAE &E - NEBEME BT REERK
Hong Kong China Oil And Gas Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Group Limited enterprise
ERPAMASEARRE  BE HEBELR BT RERRK
Accelstar Pacific Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$50,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
EREBRES  NEBEELE 50,0005 T RERRK
Plentigreat Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$10,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
ABAMRER  NEEELR 10,000% 7T REZR
Vast China Group Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
EREBRES NEBELE 157 REERRK
Sino Invent Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
EREBREE  NEBELE 157 REHR
FERRARBESEBRARF PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise  RMB1,000,000,000 - 51.0%  Investment holding and trading

("CCNG")
(M%)

HE - NEBELE A K #1,000,000,0007

of natural gas
REBRERAAREER
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

37 FEMBRARZEFERE
BB ()
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(Continued)
(@) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued) (@) FEMBLRFHBEWNOT @ (&)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRAYL/RIBER BERARA NAELR
£ rEERER A/ EmELR REBAL TEER
Directly Indirectly
B &

AERRRREBECLAA PRC, limited liability company RMB65,874,000 - 40.8%"  Trading of natural gas, gas
pipeline construction and
operation of natural gas
stations

HE - EREMEAHA AR 65,874,000 AAREE AAREEE
BERRARKLE
ERENMREERRIRE PRC, limited liability company RMB44,000,000 = 40.8%0  Gas pipeline construction
BREMAT
TE - AREERH AR 144,000,000 ARREERE
BATHERERAREEERD PR, limited liability company RMB20,800,000 - 40.8%"  Trading of natural gas
]
TE - AREERH AR 120,800,007 AAREE

AEIMELERAA PRC, limited liability company RMB900,000 - 40.8%"  Trading of natural gas-related

equipment
hE - AREELH AR 900,007 ARREBRBEE

BEFHAABEREMLLE PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 = 30.6%0  Trading of natural gas and gas

pipeline construction
TE - AREELH AR 100,000,007 ARREERANREERE

BNP AR RAEREAAT PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 - 40.8%"  Trading of natural gas and gas

pipeline construction
TE - AREERH AR #50,000,00070 ARREERANREERE

ERTPEARBREAAT PRC, limited liability company RMB25,000,000 = 50.5%  Trading of natural gas and gas

pipeline construction
PE - BREEAT AR 125,000,000 ARREERANREERE

AP AR REREALT PRC, limited liability company RMB45,000,000 - 30.6%"  Natural gas transmission

through pipeline
TE - AREERH AR 45,000,000 EERARBH
FMFHBABRETLLE PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 = 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
PE - BREEAT AR 100,000,007 ARREERANREERE
HEGERARAERAA PRC, limited liability company RMB 12,000,000 = 40.8%!1  Trading of natural gas
HE - AREELA AR #12,000,0007 AAREE
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37 FEMBRARZEFERE
RB2wiE (&)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
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(Continued)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued) (a) FEMBLRFEBWT @ (&)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
EBRL/ RIBHR BRIBRA DEELR
£ rEERER HE/2MER REEAL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B &
R RMR (K8) BB AR PRC, limited liability company RMB75,000,000 = 100.0%  Transportation services
hE - BREEAT AR 75,000,000 EHR%
ERPAEERRERAT PRC, limited liability company RMB32,000,000 = 51.0%  Natural gas transmission
through pipeline
ME - BREEAT AR 32,000,000 EERARER
FMRAREARARBRAF  PRC, limited liability company RMB111,000,000 - 47.1%0  Gas pipeline design and
construction, natural gas
transmission through
pipeline
HE - AREMEATA AR 111,000,000 RAAREBRITRBE &
BTrHRRRERELAA PRC, limited liability company RMB20,000,000 - 35.7%0  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
ME - BREEAT AR 20,000,000 ARREERAAREERE
mhE R (RY) FeEER AR PRC, limited liability company RMB71,000,000 = 51.0%  Investment holding
HE - EREMLF AR #71,000,0007 REER
ik AR EREEAR PRC, limited liability company RMB67,910,000 - 35.7%"  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
ME - BREEAT AR 167,910,000 ARREERAAREERE
kw2 R ARERAA PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 - 35.7%"  Trading of natural gas
hE - BREEAT AR 2,000,007 AAREE
RERATARRBEREMLARA PRC, limited liability company RMB75,000,000 - 35.7%0  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
ME - BREEAT AR 75,000,000 ARREERAAREERE
FERHRREEMTERAE PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 = 40.8%0  Gas pipeline design and
construction
ME - BREEAT AR 50,000,000 AAREERS REE
BRAERTERDA PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise HK$187,500,000 = 100.0%  Investment holding,
construction of natural
gas stations and trading of
natural gas
hE NEBEELE 187,500,000% 7t REER  XARWEER
AAREE
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(continued) (#)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(Continued)

(a)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind

(a)

Percentage of equity

ITEMBLRFRFAOT ¢

37 FEMBRARZEFERE
BB ()

()

Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRAYL/RIBER BERARA NAELR
£ rEERER A/ EmELR REBAL TEER
Directly Indirectly
B &
ZHPARRERAT PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB18,000,000 - 80.4%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
mE PHRERELR AR 118,000,000 ARREBERANREERE
HMRIRESEARADE (A1 PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$75,000,000 = 100.0%  Investment holding
BRAME (ER)REBRA
a)
RENEEALE 75,000,000% Tt RAER
ERERBEREER AT PRC, limited liability company US$26,981,000 = 100.0%  Provision for finance
ME AREELT 26,981,000% T - 1000% RERE
MEERREREERAA PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB170,000,000 - 100.0%  Provision for finance
mE PHRERELR AR 170,000,007 REBE
BN ERREREE R PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB40,000,000 - 38.8%!  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
mE PHRERELR AR #40,000,0007C ARREERANREERE
EEDAHTIEERME  PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB26,000,000 - 60.4%  Trading of natural gas and gas
ARAR pipeline construction
mE PHRERELR AR 126,000,000 ARREBERANREERE
HATRRREREMAT PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB15,000,000 = 75.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
mE PHRERELR AR 15,000,007 ARREERANREERE
FHTRANT PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB284,400,000 - 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
mE PHRERELR AR 284,400,007 ARREERANREERE
BURERRBER R PRC, limited liability company RMB11,480,000 - 70%  Trading of natural gas
ME AREELRT AR 11,480,000 AAREE
ERTPHRABRAR PRC, limited liability company RMB35,920,000 = 70%  Trading of natural gas
ME AREERT AR 135,920,000 AAREE
AT RRRERAA PRC, limited liability company RMB63,900,000 = 70%  Trading of natural gas
mE AREERA AR 163,900,000 AAREE
Baccalieu Energy Inc. Canada CAD141,040,000 — 100.0%  Exploitation and distribution of
crude oil and natural gas
mnex 141,040,000 07 RERDERBRAAR
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
(Continued)

(a)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

The Group holds controlling interests in these subsidiaries through
a 51.0% owned subsidiary, CCNG. Therefore the Group has
control over these entities and they are considered as subsidiaries
of the Company.

The Group holds controlling interests in this subsidiary through
CCNG and a wholly owned subsidiary, Hong Kong China QOil and
Gas Group Limited (“HKCOGG"). Therefore the Group has control
over this entity and it is considered as subsidiary of the Company
since the Group owns more than half of the voting rights in this
subsidiary and the decision is made by simple majority.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

37 FEMBRARZEFERE
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
(Continued)

(b)  Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial
information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The
information below is the amount before inter-company

TEMBLARARZEFERE

BB ()

(b)

AT#EIRmhRERENE R A
(EHEEMEEBERZIFER
BE) RAVBERBE - T
ERRRARIHEEHAZE®HE

eliminations:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —_E-NF
HKS$°000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Total assets BEE 11,238,094 9,463,084
Total liabilities mAE (5,887,989) (4,924,828)
Net assets BEFE 5,350,105 4,538,256
Revenue EER 8,167,533 8,362,333
Profit for the year F WA 681,866 692,409
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hizmhzs (BE) 314,712 (44,336)
Total comprehensive income ETHWEBE 996,578 648,073
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 37 < i% & F JF #28 J& # 25 100,726 99,420
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(continued) (#)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37 FEMBRARIRSEFEEE
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES RS (&)
(Continued)
(b) Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial (b) UATHEHIFHPEREMBLT (%

information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non- BHEEMEBERZFERES)
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The REMBKEREE - THRERAD
information below is the amount before inter-company B A 228 - ()
eliminations: (Continued)

CCNG CCNG
Wl S AR S
2020 2019
—E_EH —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Net cash generated from operating KEXEBEEZHESFE
activities 1,231,030 1,208,961
Net cash used in investing activities REERHMAZESFE (440,931) (370,256)
Net cash generated from financing BMEERHEL RS FE
activities (335,259) (598,573)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR& NI & ZH(EHER
3 0¥ R 454,840 240,132
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BzR&ER
ReFEIEREEA 1,842,763 1,619,747
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ = & &) 57 £ 143,600 (17,116)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+—_A=+—8Z2
31 December RehBHLEEEA 2,441,203 1,842,763
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(continued) (#)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37 FENBRARIRSEFEEE

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES RB2FE (&)
(Continued)
() Details of the controlled structured entity are as follows: () ZEFILEERFROT

The Company controls a structured entity which operates in
Hong Kong, particulars of which are as follows:

AEEH -—HETRAEENER
HEE - HFRBWOT

Structured entities Principal activities
HEER FTEEK
Best Thinker Limited ([ Al) Purchases, administers and holds the Company’s shares for the Restricted

Share Award Scheme for the benefit of eligible employees of the Group

REBREREBEENMNERRIMEKRORBFIZIEA - EERBAERA

B {0

As the Trustee is set up solely for the purpose of purchasing,
administering and holding the Company’s shares for the
Restricted Share Award Scheme (Note 31(c)), the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of the Trustee and it can derive benefits from the services of
the employees who have been awarded the Restricted Shares
through their continued employment with the Group. The assets
and liabilities of the Trustee are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position from its adoption and the
Company’s shares held by the Trustee are presented as a
deduction in equity as “shares held for share award scheme”.
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
(Continued)

38

(d)

Transaction with non-controlling interests

In September 2020, i F FW IR KB BR 2 7, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired
100% issued shares of 1 i A1 Zx g2 R (Zk 8) B R 2 7
from AP FHRIEEEE B R Q A, a subsidiary which
the Company hold 51% of equity interest at a consideration of
RMB23,300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$26,096,000).

Immediately prior the purchase, the carrying amount of the
existing 49% non-controlling interest in & J# fF Z= 88 J8 (Zk
) A PR A 7] was approximately RMB11,815,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$13,233,000. The Group recognised a
decrease in non-controlling interests of HK$13,233,000 and an
increase in equity attributable to owners of HK$13,233,000.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2021.

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

37 FEMBRARZEFERE
RB2wiE (&)

(d)

HEEERRRER RS

RZEZZTFNA » AARMEE
2EMBRARFHRPRYTE (KE)
ERAAAFPHPREMBRILES
EBERAR (KRARIFESI%MEE
BB AR WERHEPRER (T
) AR AFIRI100% D BTG
KB A A R %23,300,0007¢ (18 &
7 #926,096,0007% 7T) °

ZEABEWER - RPEP Rk
R(KE) BR QA K E F49%
FEEREENEEMENAARE
11,815,000t (48 & 7 4713,233,000
BIL) c SEERIEEBRERR
4>13,233,0007%8 7t & B A FE 1 #E
%5 #84013,233,000/8 7T °
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

39 QA BEARRT

COMPANY
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FH& T
Non-current assets IEmBEE
Intangible assets mEEE 1,702 1,702
Interests in subsidiaries O ENEIE: 5,522,034 5,785,212
5,523,736 5,786,914
Current assets mBEE
Other receivables H fib B W 3 IE 35,040 56,846
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEEA 6,872 26,758
41,912 83,604
Current liabilities mEAaE
Other payables H b fE S I8 (100,285) (100,473)
Net current assets mMBEEFE (58,373) (16,869)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDEE 5,465,363 5,770,045
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE
Senior notes BEER (5,410,227) (5,411,161)
Net assets BEEFE 55,136 358,884
Equity T =
Equity attributable to owners of the NAEE ABIEER
Company
Share capital % 7 31 57,670 57,670
Reserves & 40 (2,534) 301,214
Total equity E % 4R F 55,136 358,884
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by N B AERER _E-—4F=A8

the Board of Directors on 23 March 2021 and was signed on its behalf.

Xu Tie-liang
Director

Guan Yijun
Director
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Capital Shares held

Share redemption for share
premium reserve  award scheme
ARO%R

RitERE  BAEERE  HEFSRG
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK§'000

TR TR ThT

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

40 NE)GEME

Share-ased Exchange (Note)
compensation fluctuation Contributed ~ Accumulated
reserve reserve surplus losses Total
HRHRER EXND (W)
WHeRE B #ABR 2RFE it
HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT ThR TER TR TR

At 1 January 2019 HZR-nE-A-A 333 998 (420,630) 9,440 (18,475) 1470810 (405,939) 668,481
Vesting of shares under RERAEDIHE
share award scheme FERA - = 184 (484) = = = =
Equitysettled share-based WEREENRA
payments BEEDHR - - - 2085 - - = 2085
Shares repurchases EORA (19,125) = = = = = = (19125)
Final diidend for the yearended ~~ BZ=F-/IF+2 7
31 December 2018 St-RLEEEZ
KERs - - - - - (233%) - (23356
Loss for the year FRER - - - - = = 37.0m) (327,071)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
t-h=1-8 13,208 998 (420,202) 11,241 (18,475) 1,447,454 (733,010) 301,214
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (303,748) (303,748)
At 31 December 2020 RoECEE
t2h=1-1 13,208 998 (420,202) 11,241 (18,475) 1,447,454 (1,036,758) (2,534)
Note: T

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the net assets
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation in
1993 over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
thereof. Under the Companies Act of Bermuda 1981 (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is distributable to the shareholders in
certain circumstances which the Company is able to satisfy.

RAZHBANBHRESEEAR-NAN=FREH
MU E AR & EFEB L QRS
MBETROZEBEZEE - RE-AN—F
BRERTE (BATAX) - RAZHARR
EETHEATHHEIRTERR - EBAIAF

BENAILERER -
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Five Year Financial Summary

IEMBRE

NTHNEBERNBELBERIBRFEZEER
BEHRABE  DRSKEACTNEZEERYB
BRYTAEHEESE -

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=t+-BLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
“E-FF —E-NF —T-N\F ZT—tF —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERx TET FET FHT FAT
Results E
Revenue BEE 10,432,777 10,260,654 9,410,131 7,651,280 6,446,452
Profit before taxation bR %54 A1 4 A 630,916 973,510 928,526 811,466 842,129
Taxation B (115,601) (194,391) (250,301) (188,527) (184,461)
Profit for the year F R 515,315 779,119 678,225 622,939 657,668
Attributable to: AT R -
Owners of the Company NSEZEUN 28,757 330,984 281,904 250,467 311,791
Non-controlling interests FEE R 486,558 448,135 396,321 372,472 345,877
515,315 779,119 678,225 622,939 657,668
As at 31 December
Rt+t=ZA=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-EF —E-NE —T-N\F —T—+tF ZE-REF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET FHT FHT FHT
Assets and liabilities BEERERE
Total assets BEE 19,270,335 16,832,484 16,027,643 15,546,601 13,603,839
Total liabilities BmEE (11,924,121)  (10,389,469)  (10,115,583) (9,340,946) (8,352,885)
Total equity e 7,346,214 6,443,015 5,912,060 6,205,655 5,250,954
Non-controlling interests R = (3,568,080) (2,984,731) (2,716,153) (2,861,109) (2,420,523)
Equity attributable to owners X & A A& (G fEzs
of the Company 3,778,134 3,458,284 3,195,907 3,344,546 2,830,431
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